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/FCOM WAS ESTABLISHED AS A CONVERGED REGULATOR� 
IN SIGNIlCANT PART TO HELP STEWARD THE TRANSITION BY 
"RITAIN�S ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS INDUSTRIES FROM 
ANALOGUE TO DIGITAL� BRINGING NEW SERVICES AND ENHANCING 
QUALITY AND CHOICE FOR CONSUMERS AND CITIZENS� 

)N THE FOUR YEARS SINCE ) WAS lRST APPOINTED AS #HAIRMAN 
OF  /FCOM� THAT TRANSITION HAS ACCELERATED RAPIDLY� AT THE 
BEGINNING OF  ���� NEARLY ONE IN THREE HOMES AND BUSINESSES 
WERE STILL NOT CONNECTED TO BROADBAND
ENABLED EXCHANGES� 
AND THE CONSENSUS WAS THAT ONE MEGABIT PER SECOND 
WAS LIKELY TO BE THE MAXIMUM SPEED ACHIEVABLE� 4ODAY 
BROADBAND AVAILABILITY IS CLOSE TO UNIVERSAL AND CONSUMERS 
CAN GET BROADBAND SPEEDS �� TIMES AS FAST AS THE ���� 
CONSENSUS� /VER THE SAME PERIOD� DIGITAL TELEVISION TAKE
UP 
HAS RISEN FROM �� PER CENT TO OVER �� PER CENT OF  HOMES� AND 
THERE IS NOW A CLEAR REGION
BY
REGION PROGRAMME OF  DIGITAL 
SWITCHOVER� WHICH WILL GIVE ALL HOUSEHOLDS A CHOICE OF  AT LEAST
TWO MEANS BY WHICH TO RECEIVE DIGITAL TELEVISION� )N RADIO�  
THE $!" MARKET HAS GROWN FROM A FEW THOUSAND SETS TO  
MORE THAN THREE MILLION TODAY� !ND� IN MOBILE� �' SERVICES 
 n WHICH HAD NOT THEN LAUNCHED n ARE NOW USED BY MORE  
THAN FOUR MILLION CUSTOMERS�

4HESE ARE ALL SIGNS OF  A HEALTHY� INNOVATIVE MARKET MEETING 
CONSUMER NEEDS� %FFECTIVE REGULATION HAS AN IMPORTANT PART 
TO PLAY IN UNDERPINNING THE DYNAMISM OF  THE SECTOR� AND 
/FCOM HAS SOUGHT TO ASSIST THE MARKET TO FUNCTION EFFECTIVELY 
BY PROMOTING COMPETITION AND PROTECTING CONSUMERS FROM 
DEMONSTRABLE ABUSES OF  THE MARKET� %QUALLY� HOWEVER� 
REGULATION THAT IS PAST ITS SELL
BY DATE CAN DISTORT THE MARKET
AND PREVENT INNOVATION� /FCOM HAS THEREFORE CONTINUED ITS 
PROGRAMME OF  TARGETED DEREGULATION� FOR EXAMPLE� TOWARDS 
THE END OF  ������ WE CONSULTED ON PROPOSALS TO REMOVE RETAIL 
PRICE CONTROLS IN THE lXED
LINE TELECOMMUNICATIONS MARKET�

#OMPETITION AND CHOICE ARE GENERALLY BETTER SAFEGUARDS OF
THE CONSUMER INTEREST THAN REGULATION� 4ODAY ALMOST NINE 
MILLION HOUSEHOLDS MAKE THEIR PHONE CALLS VIA PROVIDERS 
OTHER THAN THE INCUMBENT AND MORE THAN FOUR MILLION 
RESIDENTIAL USERS n AND ONE AND A HALF  MILLION SMALL 
BUSINESSES n ALSO RENT THEIR PHONE LINES FROM COMPETING 
OPERATORS� !T THE SAME TIME� /FCOM HAS TAKEN lRM ACTION 
AGAINST MIS
SELLING BY A SMALL MINORITY OF  OPERATORS TO  
ENSURE THAT CONSUMERS CAN HAVE CONlDENCE IN THE INTEGRITY 
OF  A COMPETITIVE MARKET�

$URING THE YEAR /FCOM COMPLETED ITS FOUR STRATEGIC REVIEWS 
OF  KEY COMPONENT PARTS OF  THE COMMUNICATIONS SECTOR n 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS� RADIO SPECTRUM� RADIO AND PUBLIC SERVICE 
BROADCAST TELEVISION n AND THE FOCUS HAS MOVED ON TO DELIVERY 
AGAINST THE MAIN CHALLENGES IDENTIlED IN THOSE REVIEWS� 
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4HE ""#� WITH ITS NEW #HARTER AND SIGNIlCANT CHANGES TO 
GOVERNANCE AND REGULATION� WILL REMAIN CENTRAL TO PROVIDING 
AUDIENCES WITH HIGH QUALITY� DISTINCTIVE CONTENT IN THIS NEW 
WORLD� )N THE COMING YEAR /FCOM LOOKS FORWARD TO BUILDING AN 
EFFECTIVE CO
REGULATORY RELATIONSHIP WITH THE NEW ""# 4RUST� 
4HIS WILL INCLUDE THE NEW ROLE GIVEN TO /FCOM BY 'OVERNMENT 
OF  CONDUCTING RIGOROUS AND INDEPENDENT -ARKET )MPACT 
!SSESSMENTS OF  ""# NEW SERVICE PROPOSALS AS PART OF  THE  
""# 4RUST�S 0UBLIC 6ALUE 4EST�

! THEME CONSISTENT TO ALL OF  OUR STRATEGIC REVIEWS IS THE ARRIVAL  
OF  TRUE CONVERGENCE IN THE COMMUNICATIONS SECTOR n  
AT THE CORPORATE LEVEL WITH MERGERS AND ACQUISITIONS BETWEEN 
FORMERLY DIFFERENT PARTS OF  THE SECTOR AND IN THE CONVERGENCE  
OF  PLATFORMS� OF  DEVICES AND OF  CONTENT AND SERVICES�

4HAT CONVERGENCE IS RIGHTLY ACKNOWLEDGED BY THE %UROPEAN 
#OMMISSION IN ITS DRAFT !UDIOVISUAL -EDIA 3ERVICES $IRECTIVE�
WHICH CONTAINS MANY SENSIBLE AND FORWARD
LOOKING PROPOSALS 
TO LIBERALISE ASPECTS OF  BROADCASTING REGULATION� THAT REmECT THE 
CHANGING NATURE OF  TELEVISION� (OWEVER� THE #OMMISSION ALSO 
PROPOSES TO EXTEND STATE REGULATION BEYOND BROADCASTING INTO 
A WHOLE RANGE OF  NEW MEDIA SERVICES� /FCOM HAS� AND WILL 
CONTINUE TO ARGUE� ALONGSIDE THE 5+ 'OVERNMENT AND MANY  
IN THE SECTOR� THAT IN THIS AREA %UROPEAN 5NION
WIDE REGULATION
IS UNDESIRABLE IN ITS DAMAGING EFFECT ON INNOVATION� 7E ALSO 
BELIEVE THAT THESE PROPOSALS ARE ALMOST CERTAINLY UNWORKABLE  
IN EXTENDING REGULATION BEYOND A MANAGEABLE AND LIMITED 
NUMBER OF  BROADCASTERS TO THOUSANDS OF  SERVICES� AND INDEED 
INDIVIDUALS� CREATING CONTENT ON NEW MEDIA PLATFORMS� 7E 
HAVE MADE CLEAR OUR VIEW THAT THE APPLICATION OF  CRIMINAL LAW 
IN RESPONSE TO KEY PUBLIC CONCERNS� SUCH AS THE PROTECTION OF
CHILDREN� BACKED BY EFFECTIVE SELF
REGULATION AND CO
REGULATION�  
IS A MUCH BETTER WAY FORWARD� 4HE 5+ HAS A STRONG TRADITION  
IN THIS REGARD WITH BODIES SUCH AS THE )NTERNET 7ATCH &OUNDATION 
AND THE !DVERTISING 3TANDARDS !UTHORITY� THE CO
REGULATORY  
BODY FOR BROADCAST ADVERTISING� WHOSE "ROADCAST #OMMITTEE  
OF  !DVERTISING 0RACTICE HAS� FOR EXAMPLE� PROPOSED NEW 
RESTRICTIONS ON THE CONTENT OF  TELEVISION ADVERTISEMENTS FOR  
FOOD AND DRINK PRODUCTS IN RESPONSE TO IMPORTANT PUBLIC 
CONCERNS ABOUT DIETARY IMBALANCE IN CHILDREN�

!S FORESHADOWED IN OUR LAST ANNUAL REPORT� INTERNATIONAL 
EVENTS HAVE TAKEN GREATER PROMINENCE THIS YEAR� )N ADDITION 
TO THE !UDIOVISUAL -EDIA 3ERVICES $IRECTIVE� THE %UROPEAN 
#OMMISSION HAS EMBARKED ON A REVIEW OF  THE %5 &RAMEWORK 
FOR %LECTRONIC #OMMUNICATIONS� WITH SIGNIlCANT INPUT FROM 
THE %UROPEAN 2EGULATORS 'ROUP �%2'	� CHAIRED THIS YEAR BY 
MY EXECUTIVE "OARD COLLEAGUE� +IP -EEK� 4HE %2' HAS ALSO 
BEEN WORKING WITH THE #OMMISSION TO lND A PRACTICAL SOLUTION 
TO EXCESSIVE WHOLESALE AND RETAIL PRICES FOR INTERNATIONAL MOBILE 
ROAMING ACROSS %UROPE� /N THE WIDER INTERNATIONAL STAGE� 
/FCOM IS REPRESENTING THE 5+�S INTERESTS AT THE )NTERNATIONAL 

4ELECOMMUNICATION 5NION�S 2EGIONAL 2ADIO #ONFERENCE 
n THE LARGEST AND MOST SIGNIlCANT INTERNATIONAL NEGOTIATION 
ABOUT THE ALLOCATION OF  RADIO SPECTRUM IN MORE THAN  
�� YEARS�

)N UNDERTAKING ITS WORK THE /FCOM "OARD IS ASSISTED BY A 
NUMBER OF  COMMITTEES AND ADVISORY BODIES� 0HILIP 'RAF �S
MESSAGE� LATER IN THIS !NNUAL 2EPORT� GIVES AN OVERVIEW OF  THE 
VALUABLE WORK WHICH THE #ONTENT "OARD �ITSELF  A COMMITTEE OF
THE MAIN "OARD WITH DELEGATED POWERS	 HAS UNDERTAKEN THIS YEAR�

4HE INDEPENDENT /FCOM #ONSUMER 0ANEL CONTINUES TO 
PROVIDE THOUGHTFUL AND CONSTRUCTIVE ADVICE ON ISSUES OF
IMPORTANCE TO THE RESIDENTIAL AND SMALL BUSINESS CONSUMER� 
7E WELCOME THE 'OVERNMENT�S RECOGNITION OF  THE #ONSUMER 
0ANEL�S DISTINCTIVE AND STRATEGIC ROLE IN THE 'OVERNMENT�S 
WIDER PROPOSALS ON CONSUMER REPRESENTATION� 4HE !DVISORY 
#OMMITTEE FOR /LDER AND $ISABLED 0EOPLE� THE !DVISORY 
#OMMITTEES FOR THE .ATIONS AND 2EGIONS AND THE /FCOM 
3PECTRUM !DVISORY "OARD HAVE ALL PROVIDED GOOD COUNSEL 
AND MADE SIGNIlCANT INPUT TO /FCOM�S POLICY
MAKING�  
) WOULD LIKE TO EXPRESS THE /FCOM "OARD�S APPRECIATION TO THE 
#HAIRS AND -EMBERS OF  THESE BODIES FOR THEIR TIME AND ADVICE�

7HILE /FCOM IS STATUTORILY AN INDEPENDENT REGULATOR� WE ARE 
ALSO ACCOUNTABLE TO 0ARLIAMENT� )N ADDITION TO THE SERIES OF
BRIElNGS TO -0S AND APPEARANCES BEFORE 3ELECT #OMMITTEES� 
SET OUT ON PAGES ���
���� WE WARMLY WELCOME THE INITIATIVE 
TAKEN BY THE #HAIRMEN OF  THE #ULTURE� -EDIA AND 3PORT 
AND 4RADE AND )NDUSTRY 3ELECT #OMMITTEES TO HOLD A JOINT 
HEARING INTO /FCOM�S WORK� #ONVERGENT ACCOUNTABILITY FOR  
A CONVERGED REGULATOR SEEMS TO US BOTH SENSIBLE AND FORWARD

LOOKING� 4HE lRST SUCH JOINT HEARING TOOK PLACE JUST AFTER 
THE END OF  THE ������ lNANCIAL YEAR� 7E LOOK FORWARD TO 
APPEARING AT SUCH JOINT HEARINGS IN THE YEARS TO COME�

!S ) ENTER INTO MY lFTH YEAR AS /FCOM #HAIRMAN AND THE 
ORGANISATION CONTINUES TO MATURE� WE ARE SEEING A HEALTHY 
AND APPROPRIATE DEGREE OF  CHANGE AROUND THE "OARD TABLE� 
,AST YEAR OUR lRST $EPUTY #HAIRMAN 2ICHARD (OOPER STOOD 
DOWN� 2ICHARD WAS A CRITICAL MEMBER OF  THE /FCOM "OARD 
AND WE GREATLY APPRECIATED HIS WEALTH OF  EXPERIENCE AND 
WISDOM� )N *ANUARY ���� 0HILIP 'RAF  JOINED AS THE NEW 
$EPUTY #HAIRMAN AND #HAIRMAN OF  THE #ONTENT "OARD� 
7E ALSO WELCOMED 3TEPHANIE ,ISTON AS A .ON
%XECUTIVE 
-EMBER IN 3EPTEMBER ���� AND 3EAN 7ILLIAMS AS AN 
%XECUTIVE -EMBER IN *ANUARY ���� AND THE TERMS OF
.ON
%XECUTIVE -EMBERS )AN (ARGREAVES AND 3ARA .ATHAN 
WERE ALSO EXTENDED� &INALLY� AS 3TEPHEN MENTIONS LATER IN  
THIS 2EPORT� HE INTENDS TO STAND DOWN AS /FCOM #HIEF
%XECUTIVE THIS AUTUMN� /N BEHALF  OF  THE "OARD ) WOULD  
LIKE TO EXPRESS OUR THANKS TO 3TEPHEN FOR ALL HIS HARD WORK 
AND ACHIEVEMENTS�

$AVID #URRIE� #HAIRMAN



/UR AIM FOR THE lNANCIAL YEAR ������ WAS TO DRIVE 
DELIVERY� EXTERNALLY� OF  POSITIVE CHANGES FOR THE 
SECTOR� AND INTERNALLY� OF  NEW WAYS OF  WORKING  
WHICH CAPITALISED ON THE POST
MERGER EFlCIENCIES 
GAINED IN PREVIOUS YEARS�

$URING THE YEAR� OUR MAIN FOCUS LAY IN FOUR AREAS�

s IMPLEMENTATION OF  THE OUTCOMES OF  THE STRATEGIC SECTORAL 
REVIEWS� IN TELECOMMUNICATIONS� IN TELEVISION PUBLIC SERVICE 
BROADCASTING� IN RADIO AND IN SPECTRUM� PARTICULARLY 
TRADING AND AUCTION PREPARATION�

s THE ESTABLISHMENT OF  NEW APPROACHES TO TWO  
INCREASINGLY CRITICAL CHALLENGES� CONSUMER POLICY  
AND INTERNATIONAL ENGAGEMENT�

s REMOVAL OF  UNNECESSARY REGULATORY OBLIGATIONS UPON 
INDUSTRY� AND THE CONTINUED IMPOSITION OF  A HIGH HURDLE  
TO CHALLENGE CALLS FOR THE ADDITION OF  NEW REGULATIONS� AND 

s INTERNAL SIMPLIlCATION� GREATER OPERATIONAL EFlCIENCY AND 
COST REDUCTION� FOR THE THIRD YEAR RUNNING� /FCOM OPERATED 
UNDER AN 20) MINUS BUDGET� YIELDING LOWER REGULATORY FEES 
TO INDUSTRY�

Qeb pb`qlo ^ka Lc`lj
4HE CONCLUSION OF  THE 3TRATEGIC 2EVIEW OF  4ELECOMMUNICATIONS 
IN 3EPTEMBER ���� MARKED THE BEGINNING OF  A PERIOD OF
SIGNIlCANT CHANGE IN THE TRADITIONAL lXED
LINE INDUSTRY AND� 
OVER TIME� POTENTIALLY ACROSS THE WIDER COMMUNICATIONS 
SECTOR AS A WHOLE�

4HE PROSPECT� FOR THE lRST TIME� OF  ACCESS TO "4�S LOCAL ACCESS
INFRASTRUCTURE ON TERMS IDENTICAL TO THOSE PREVIOUSLY ONLY 
OFFERED TO "4�S OWN RETAIL ACTIVITIES HAS STIMULATED BROAD 
INTEREST IN THE POTENTIAL FOR NEW SERVICES OVER THE LOCAL LOOP�
)N PARALLEL� OUR WORK TO STIMULATE AND SUPPORT WHOLESALE 
COMPETITION IN lXED
LINE TELECOMS MARKETS HAS BROUGHT 
ABOUT REAL BENElTS TO CONSUMERS AND BUSINESSES� AVERAGE 
CALL COSTS HAVE FALLEN BY �� PER CENT SINCE ����� AND AVERAGE 
BROADBAND COSTS HAVE FALLEN BY OVER �� PER CENT WHILE 
TYPICAL CONNECTION SPEEDS HAVE QUADRUPLED� "Y THE END OF
THE REPORTING PERIOD� MORE THAN �� MILLION HOUSEHOLDS AND 
SMALL BUSINESSES HAD BROADBAND CONNECTIONS �COMPARED 
TO ��� MILLION AT THE START OF  ����	� WITH MORE THAN ������ 
HOUSEHOLDS A WEEK SIGNING UP TO BROADBAND FOR THE lRST TIME�

/FCOM�S 3PECTRUM &RAMEWORK 2EVIEW n AND ITS ASSOCIATED 
RELEASE TO THE MARKET OF  ��� -(Z OF  PRIME SPECTRUM OVER 
THE NEXT FEW YEARS n HAS BEGUN TO OPEN UP THE POTENTIAL FOR 
INNOVATIVE NEW BROADCASTING AND WIRELESS COMMUNICATIONS 
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SERVICES� -ANY OF  THESE SERVICES WILL DEPEND ON THE RE
USE 
OF  SPECTRUM RELEASED WHEN ANALOGUE TELEVISION BROADCASTING 
CEASES AS A RESULT OF  DIGITAL SWITCHOVER BETWEEN ���� 
AND ����� )N ������ WE STARTED THE PREPARATORY WORK 
FOR /FCOM�S $IGITAL $IVIDEND 2EVIEW� WHICH WILL ASSESS 
HOW THIS lNITE AND VALUABLE NATIONAL RESOURCE SHOULD BE 
MADE AVAILABLE� $URING THE YEAR� WIRELESS COMMUNICATIONS 
PROVIDERS BEGAN TO EXPERIENCE THE BENElTS OF  /FCOM�S 
DEREGULATION� TRADING AND LIBERALISATION POLICY IN 
SPECTRUM MANAGEMENT� WITH THE REMOVAL OF  UNNECESSARY 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCESSES AND RESTRICTIONS IN MARITIME� 
AMATEUR AND CITIZENS� BAND RADIO�

)N ������ /FCOM AUTHORISED THE TRANSFER OF  RIGHTS TO USE 
�� 7IRELESS 4ELEGRAPHY !CT LICENCES� ALLOWING MARKET FORCES 
RATHER THAN THE REGULATOR TO DICTATE THE OPTIMAL USE OF  THIS 
VALUABLE RESOURCE� )N !PRIL ����� SHORTLY AFTER THE PERIOD 
UNDER REVIEW� /FCOM HELD ITS lRST AUCTION OF  SPECTRUM IN 
WHICH� FOR THE lRST TIME� WINNING BIDDERS WERE FREE TO DECIDE 
HOW BEST TO USE THE SPECTRUM MADE AVAILABLE TO THEM�

$URING THE YEAR� TELEVISION BROADCASTERS BEGAN TO RESPOND 
MORE RAPIDLY TO THE EMERGING CHANGES IN 5+ VIEWING 
HABITS� ERODING HISTORICAL ASSUMPTIONS ABOUT THE SCOPE AND 
ROLE OF  TELEVISION PUBLIC SERVICE BROADCASTING �03"	� !S OF
!PRIL ����� MORE THAN �� PER CENT OF  ALL 5+ TELEVISION 
HOUSEHOLDERS WERE WATCHING DIGITAL TELEVISION� AND THE 5+ 
NOW HAS THE HIGHEST DIGITAL TELEVISION PENETRATION OF  ANY 
COUNTRY IN THE WORLD�

!S IDENTIlED IN /FCOM�S 03" 2EVIEW� DIGITAL SWITCHOVER WILL 
NOT BE THE ONLY CHALLENGE TO THE REGULATORY AGREEMENT WHICH 
FOR HALF  A CENTURY HAS MANDATED THAT PROGRAMMES SHOULD 
BE MADE FOR THE PUBLIC GOOD IN RETURN FOR ACCESS TO SCARCE 
SPECTRUM AND LARGE �AND THEREFORE LUCRATIVE	 AUDIENCES� 
*UST AS ANALOGUE IS GIVING WAY TO DIGITAL MULTICHANNEL� FOR  
A NEW GENERATION OF  VIEWERS� TRADITIONAL LINEAR BROADCASTING 
IS BEING SUCCEEDED BY MOBILE� INTERNET AND ON
DEMAND 
CONTENT� IN THE PROCESS RAISING NEW CHALLENGES OVER RIGHTS 
OWNERSHIP� QUESTIONS WHICH LAY AT THE HEART OF  OUR REVIEW  
OF  THE TELEVISION PRODUCTION SECTOR�

4HE ""# n UNDERPINNED BY A NEW #HARTER n WILL BE IN 
A UNIQUELY POWERFUL POSITION TO MEET THESE NEW AUDIENCE 
NEEDS� $URING THE YEAR� 0ARLIAMENT DECIDED THERE NEEDED TO 
BE AN OBJECTIVE COUNTERBALANCE TO ASSESS THE POINT AT WHICH 
PUBLIC VALUE ENDS AND MARKET FORECLOSURE BEGINS� )N FUTURE�
/FCOM WILL UNDERTAKE -ARKET )MPACT !SSESSMENTS TO ASSESS 
WHETHER THE ""#�S PROPOSED NEW SERVICES n OR CHANGES  
TO EXISTING SERVICES n WOULD FUNCTION TO THE DETRIMENT OF
OTHERS IN THE MARKET WHO PROVIDE THE WELCOME STIMULUS  
OF  COMPETITION�

)N RADIO� WHERE �� PER CENT OF  ADULTS HAVE LISTENED THROUGH 
THEIR DIGITAL TELEVISION SETS� �� PER CENT OVER THE INTERNET 
AND A LARGE PROPORTION OF  MAJOR RADIO NETWORKS NOW OFFER 
PODCASTS AS STANDARD� /FCOM COMPLETED ITS REVIEW OF  THE 
SECTOR WITH A COMMITMENT TO GROW THE MEDIUM FURTHER BY 
EXPANDING THE RANGE OF  SERVICES AVAILABLE OVER $!" DIGITAL 
NETWORKS� #UMULATIVE SALES OF  $!" RADIO SETS HAS NOW 
PASSED THE THREE MILLION MARK AND THE NUMBER OF  PEOPLE 
LISTENING TO DIGITAL RADIO HAS NEARLY DOUBLED IN �� MONTHS�

!S A RESULT OF  THE EXPANSION IN $!" SERVICES SET OUT IN 
/FCOM�S 2ADIO 2EVIEW� OVER THE NEXT FEW YEARS LOCAL $!" 
MULTIPLEXES WILL BE ADVERTISED TO BRING THE BENElTS OF  LOCAL 
DIGITAL RADIO TO THOSE AREAS CURRENTLY UNABLE TO RECEIVE 
THESE SERVICES� AND NEW NATIONAL SERVICES WILL BE AVAILABLE 
ON A SECOND NATIONAL COMMERCIAL MULTIPLEX� SIGNIlCANTLY 
EXPANDING LISTENER CHOICE AND CONSOLIDATING $!"�S ROLE 
AS THE HOME PLATFORM OF  DIGITAL RADIO IN THE 5+� 5NLIKE 
TELEVISION� ANALOGUE REMAINS A SIGNIlCANT AND RELEVANT 
PLATFORM IN RADIO� WITH AN ESTIMATED ��� MILLION &-�!- 
RADIOS STILL IN USE IN THE 5+ ALONE� $EMAND FOR ANALOGUE 
LICENCES REMAINS HIGH� DURING THE lNANCIAL YEAR /FCOM 
AWARDED �� LOCAL COMMERCIAL RADIO LICENCES� �� COMMUNITY 
RADIO LICENCES� FOUR LONG
TERM RESTRICTED SERVICE LICENCES 
AND ��� SHORT
TERM RESTRICTED SERVICE LICENCES�

/VER THE COMING YEARS� CONSUMERS WILL BENElT FROM AN 
EVEN GREATER CHOICE OF  HIGHER
SPEED BROADBAND� INTERNET 
VOICE� TELEVISION AND VIDEO
ON
DEMAND SERVICES� NEW DIGITAL 
TELEVISION CHANNELS� DIGITAL RADIO STATIONS AND DEVICES WHICH 
MOVE SEAMLESSLY FROM HOME TO MOBILE NETWORKS WHILE 
OFFERING TELEVISION� RADIO� DIGITAL DOWNLOADS AND MORE�

&OR PROVIDERS� AS FOR CONSUMERS� TRADITIONAL BOUNDARIES 
BETWEEN COMMUNICATIONS INDUSTRIES ARE BECOMING 
INCREASINGLY BLURRED� #ARPHONE 7AREHOUSE�S ENTRY INTO THE 
BROADBAND MARKET� "3KY"�S ACQUISITION OF  %ASYNET� )46�S 
ACQUISITION OF  &RIENDS 2EUNITED AND VARIOUS TRIALS OF  MOBILE 
TELEVISION SERVICES BY "4� 6IRGIN -OBILE� /� AND !RQIVA ARE 
JUST SOME OF  THE EXAMPLES OF  COLLABORATION AND CONSOLIDATION 
WHICH BRING TOGETHER BROADBAND� BROADCASTING� MOBILE  
AND lXED
LINE SERVICES TO SHAPE NEW KINDS OF  BUSINESSES�

#ONVERGENCE n OF  COMPANIES� OF  INDUSTRIES� OF  CONTENT�  
OF  PLATFORMS AND OF  DEVICES n HAS BEEN MUCH
HERALDED BUT 
OFTEN� AT BEST� INCOMPLETELY DELIVERED OVER THE LAST �� YEARS�
(OWEVER� IN FUTURE� ������ MAY COME TO BE SEEN AS THE YEAR 
WHEN THE TERM BEGAN THE lNAL PHASE OF  ITS PASSAGE FROM 
�����S THINK
TANK CONCEPT� THROUGH MILLENNIAL LEGISLATIVE 
FORESIGHT IN THE #OMMUNICATIONS !CT TO TODAY�S INDUSTRIAL 
REALITY� WITH DIGITAL NETWORKS AND DIGITAL MEDIA APPROACHING 
UBIQUITY IN MILLIONS OF  5+ HOMES AND WORKPLACES�
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/FCOM ALSO BEGAN WORK TO CONTRIBUTE TO THE %UROPEAN 
#OMMISSION�S REVIEW OF  THE %5 &RAMEWORK FOR %LECTRONIC 
#OMMUNICATIONS� WHICH SETS OUT A HARMONISED APPROACH 
TO TELECOMMUNICATIONS REGULATION ACROSS THE %5� AND 
TO THE 2EGIONAL 2ADIO #ONFERENCE OF  THE )NTERNATIONAL 
4ELECOMMUNICATION 5NION� HELD IN -AY�*UNE ���� TO 
CO
ORDINATE INTERNATIONAL DECISIONS ON RADIO SPECTRUM 
MANAGEMENT WHICH WILL HAVE AN IMPORTANT BEARING ON  
DIGITAL SWITCHOVER AND THE DIGITAL DIVIDEND�

Abobdri^qflk
!S A COMPARATIVELY NEW INSTITUTION� /FCOM IS� ) THINK� 
UNUSUAL AMONG 5+ REGULATORS IN THAT THE CONTEMPORARY 
PRINCIPLES OF  BETTER REGULATION ARE INCORPORATED INTO OUR 
STATUTORY RULE
BOOK� THE #OMMUNICATIONS !CT �����

! COMMITMENT TO REDUCING THE REGULATORY BURDEN UPON 
INDUSTRY UNDERPINS ALL OF  OUR WORK� BOTH IN SEEKING TO 
REMOVE EXISTING RULES WHICH HAVE BEEN OVERTAKEN BY MARKET 
DEVELOPMENTS AND ARE PAST THE POINT OF  USEFULNESS� AND BY 
RESISTING� THROUGH VIGOROUS INTERNAL CHALLENGE AT %XECUTIVE 
AND "OARD LEVEL� ALL ATTEMPTS TO ESTABLISH NEW REGULATION 
WHERE THE CASE FOR SUCH AN IMPOSITION IS ANYTHING LESS THAN 
CRYSTAL CLEAR AND UNAMBIGUOUS�

$URING THE YEAR WE TOOK SUBSTANTIAL STEPS TO REMOVE� REDUCE 
OR SIMPLIFY REGULATION� SEE &IGURE � FOR SOME EXAMPLES� 

4HE 'OVERNMENT�S RESPONSE TO THE "ETTER 2EGULATION 4ASK 
&ORCE �"24&	 REPORT� ,ESS IS -ORE� COMMITTED ALL 'OVERNMENT 
DEPARTMENTS TO PUBLISHING ROLLING PROGRAMMES OF
SIMPLIlCATION� 4HESE SHOULD IDENTIFY REGULATIONS THAT CAN BE 
SIMPLIlED� REPEALED� REFORMED OR CONSOLIDATED� AND SHOULD 
BRING FORWARD PROPOSALS TO REDUCE ADMINISTRATIVE BURDENS�

7HILE /FCOM IS AN INDEPENDENT STATUTORY CORPORATION RATHER 
THAN A 'OVERNMENT DEPARTMENT OR NON
DEPARTMENTAL PUBLIC 
BODY� WE FULLY SUPPORT BOTH THE PRINCIPLE AND PRACTICE OF  THE 
"24& PROPOSALS� TOGETHER WITH 0HILIP (AMPTON�S REPORT� 
2EDUCING !DMINISTRATIVE "URDENS� %FFECTIVE )NSPECTION AND %NFORCEMENT�

$URING THE REPORTING PERIOD� /FCOM PUBLISHED ITS OWN 
3IMPLIlCATION 0LAN� 4HIS DESCRIBES OUR APPROACH TO 
REGULATION� HIGHLIGHTS OUR PLANNED DEREGULATORY ACTIVITIES� 
PROVIDES FURTHER INFORMATION ABOUT THE ADMINISTRATIVE 
BURDENS WE BELIEVE WE PLACE ON OUR STAKEHOLDERS� AND 
EXPLAINS HOW WE INTEND TO REDUCE THOSE BURDENS�

@lkprjbo mlif`v
7ITH THOSE NEW OPPORTUNITIES COMES GREATER COMPLEXITY� FOR 
INDUSTRY� IN MANAGING THE TRANSITION FROM ANALOGUE TO DIGITAL 
AND FROM SWITCHED TO NEXT
GENERATION NETWORKS� AND FOR 
CONSUMERS� FOR WHOM INFORMED CHOICE MAY REQUIRE GREATER 
UNDERSTANDING� AND WHO WILL CONTINUE TO BE THE TARGET OF
SCAMS DESIGNED TO EXPLOIT THAT COMPLEXITY�

4HE DEVELOPMENT OF  /FCOM�S CONSUMER POLICY n WITH THE 
APPOINTMENT OF  A NEW $IRECTOR AND ESTABLISHMENT OF  A 
DEDICATED TEAM n WAS AN IMPORTANT DEVELOPMENT IN THE YEAR� 
/FCOM�S #ONSUMER 0OLICY REVIEW ADDRESSED TWO MAIN AREAS� 
THE NEED TO ENSURE CONSUMERS ARE PROPERLY INFORMED� AND SO 
ARE ABLE TO PLAY A PART IN A WELL
FUNCTIONING MARKET� AND THE 
NEED TO TAKE ACTION AGAINST EMERGING CONSUMER DETRIMENT 
FROM UNFAIR OR INEFFECTIVE MARKET STRUCTURES AND CORPORATE 
MALPRACTICE OR FRAUD�

Fkqbok^qflk^i
!S IN MUCH OF  5+ PUBLIC POLICY� DEVELOPMENTS WITHIN 
THE %UROPEAN #OMMISSION AND ACROSS THE %5 HAVE AN 
INCREASINGLY SIGNIlCANT BEARING ON /FCOM�S WORK� 4HERE 
ARE ALSO IMPORTANT LESSONS TO BE LEARNED FROM OTHER MARKETS 
BEYOND THE %5 WHICH CAN HAVE A DIRECT INmUENCE OVER  
THE DEVELOPMENT OF  THE SECTOR IN THE 5+� FOR EXAMPLE  
IN THE lELD OF  INTERNATIONAL TECHNICAL STANDARDS OR IN 
SPECTRUM MANAGEMENT�

)NTERNATIONAL ENGAGEMENT WAS A KEY PRIORITY FOR /FCOM 
THROUGHOUT THE YEAR AND WILL CONTINUE TO BE SO IN THE FUTURE�
7E HAVE BENElTED IN THIS WORK FROM THE INSIGHTS GAINED 
BY MY %XECUTIVE "OARD COLLEAGUE +IP -EEK IN HIS ROLE AS 
#HAIRMAN OF  THE %UROPEAN 2EGULATORS 'ROUP� A ROLE HE  
TOOK UP IN *ANUARY �����

$URING THE YEAR /FCOM WORKED WITH THE $EPARTMENT FOR 
#ULTURE� -EDIA AND 3PORT TO RAISE ITS CONCERNS ABOUT CHANGES 
TO THE 4ELEVISION 7ITHOUT &RONTIERS $IRECTIVE PROPOSED BY THE 
%UROPEAN #OMMISSION� 4HESE INCLUDE A PROPOSAL TO EXTEND 
THE SCOPE OF  STATUTORY REGULATION TO INCLUDE AUDIO
VISUAL 
CONTENT ON THE INTERNET� A MOVE WHICH BOTH /FCOM AND  
THE 5+ 'OVERNMENT CONSIDER TO BE INAPPROPRIATE�

@efbc Bub`rqfsbÑp Obmloq
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Qbib`ljp

Obq^fi mof`b `lkqolip 
Molmlp^ip ql ^iilt obq^fi mof`b `lkqolip  
lk ?Q ifkb obkq^i ^ka `^ii `e^odbp ql  
i^mpb cliiltfkd Lc`ljÑp Pqo^qbdf`  
Obsfbt lc Qbib`ljjrkf`^qflkp+

I^odb _rpfkbpp mof`fkd 
Molmlp^ip ql abobdri^qb oribp dlsbokfkd 
qeb ^jlrkq ?Q `e^odbp i^odb _rpfkbppbp 
clo qbib`ljp pbosf`bp+

Fkqbok^qflk^i slf`b j^ohbqp 
Objls^i lc obdri^qflkp lk fkqbok^qflk^i 
afob`q af^i slf`b `^iip j^ohbq+

Telibp^ib k^oolt_^ka j^ohbqp 
Obi^uba obdri^qflkp lk qeb t^v
`^iip ^ob `lksbvba fk qtl telibp^ib 
qbib`ljp j^ohbqp+

Pmb`qorj

Qo^afkd
Fkqolar`ba pmb`qorj if`bk`b qo^afkd 
_bqtbbk `ljm^kfbp+

Pmb`qorj obib^pb
Obib^pba pmb`qorj ql qeb j^ohbq) 
^iiltfkd kbt if`bk`b eliabop ql  
ab`fab elt _bpq ql rpb qeb pmb`qorj+

>j^qbro o^afl
Fkqolar`ba ifcbqfjb ^j^qbro o^afl 
if`bk`bp) objlsfkd qeb obnrfobjbkq  
clo obdri^o obkbt^i+

PefmpÑ o^afl
Objlsba ^kkr^i if`bkpfkd mol`bpp  
clo j^ofqfjb rpbop8 obmi^`ba tfqe  
^ pfjmibo) `eb^mbo mol`bpp+

O^afl Cobnrbk`v FabkqfÚ`^qflk %OCFA&
>iiltba OCFA qb`eklildv ql _b rpba 
tfqelrq qeb kbba clo ^ if`bk`b+

Fkqbocbobk`b
Jlsba colj olrqfkb fkqbocbobk`b 
fkpmb`qflkp ql lkbp cl`rpfkd lk `^pbp 
tebob qebob fp qeb dob^qbpq ofph lc  
pboflrp fkqbocbobk`b+

?ol^a`^pqfkd

?ol^a`^pqfkd @lab
Mr_ifpeba ^ peloqbo) pfjmibo @lab tef`e 
obar`bp obpqof`qflkp lk `lkqbkq pl ilkd  
^p fq fp molmboiv i^_biiba+

@olpp*moljlqflk 
Molmlp^ip ql obi^u qeb oribp dlsbokfkd qeb 
`olpp*moljlqflk lc qbibsfpflk `e^kkbip+

Molar`q mi^`bjbkq
Molmlp^ip ql obi^u qeb oribp lk molar`q 
mi^`bjbkq lk qbibsfpflk+

Qbibsfpflk pmlkplopefm
Molmlp^ip ql buqbka qeb pmlkplopefm lc 
`ljjbo`f^i qbibsfpflk ^ka o^afl `e^kkbip+

O^afl Obsfbt
Objlsba obdri^qflk lk fkmrqp) fkpqb^a 
cl`rpfkd lk lrqmrqp) ^iiltfkd o^afl pq^qflkp 
dob^qbo Ûbuf_fifqv fk pqrafl il`^qflk+

Brolmb^k bkd^dbjbkq
Efdeifdeqba qeb `lpqp lc buqbkafkd qeb 
bufpqfkd Brolmb^k Qbibsfpflk Tfqelrq 
Colkqfbop Afob`qfsb ql fk`irab sfabl `lkqbkq 
lsbo qeb fkqbokbq+

Cfdrob S Lc`lj abobdri^qflk
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$URING THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW� WE ALSO BEGAN A MAJOR 
OVERHAUL OF  ALL INFORMATION SERVICES �)3	 SYSTEMS� 7HEN 
/FCOM WAS ESTABLISHED� WE INHERITED SOME �� DIFFERENT )3 
SYSTEMS FROM THE lVE LEGACY ORGANISATIONS WHO PRECEDED 
US� $URING THE lRST TWO YEARS OF  OPERATIONS IT WOULD HAVE 
BEEN UNWISE TO HAVE MADE DECISIONS ABOUT THE ORGANISATION�S 
LONG
TERM )3 NEEDS� AMID ALL OF  OUR EARLY WORK TO BUILD THE 
ORGANISATION�S CAPABILITIES AND ASSESS PRIORITIES FOR ACTION� 
THOSE NEEDS WERE UNLIKELY TO BE CLEARLY IDENTIlED� 4HE LEGACY 
SYSTEMS WERE THEREFORE INCORPORATED AS A STOP
GAP PENDING  
A THOROUGH REVIEW�

4HAT REVIEW WAS UNDERTAKEN DURING THE YEAR� AND THE 
OUTCOME n A SIGNIlCANT MULTI
YEAR PROGRAMME CALLED 
0ROJECT 5NIFY TO ENHANCE CAPABILITIES IN AREAS AS VARIED AS 
LICENSING� lELD OPERATIONS� lNANCE� HUMAN RESOURCES� PROJECT 
MANAGEMENT� THE /FCOM #ONTACT #ENTRE AND MORE n WAS 
PUT INTO MOTION IN &EBRUARY ����� TOGETHER WITH /FCOM�S 
NEW )3 PARTNER� #APGEMINI�

7E HAVE ALSO CONTINUED TO RATIONALISE OUR PORTFOLIO OF
PROPERTIES WHICH� AS A SMALLER ORGANISATION� ARE SURPLUS TO 
OUR REQUIREMENTS� 7HEN /FCOM WAS CREATED IT INHERITED  
�� PROPERTIES FROM THE lVE PREVIOUS REGULATORS� �� PROPERTIES 
HAVE NOW BEEN DISPOSED OF  OR SURRENDERED TO THE LANDLORD� 
)N ������ THIS INCLUDED THE DISPOSAL OF  OUR OFlCE IN 
7HYTELEAFE� 3URREY� WHICH RAISED a���M� )N ADDITION� THREE 
mOORS OF  /FCOM�S ,ONDON HEADQUARTERS AT 2IVERSIDE (OUSE 
WERE LET TO NEW TENANTS AND A FOURTH mOOR IS ON THE MARKET� 

$URING THE YEAR WE ALSO IMPLEMENTED AN ORGANISATIONAL 
RESTRUCTURE TO INCREASE OUR INTERNAL OPERATING EFFECTIVENESS� 
4HIS INVOLVED A NUMBER OF  CHANGES IN EXECUTIVE 
RESPONSIBILITIES n INCLUDING THE APPOINTMENT OF  3ENIOR 
0ARTNER %D 2ICHARDS AS #HIEF  /PERATING /FlCER n TO  
TARGET SKILLS AND RESOURCE AT /FCOM�S MAIN AREAS OF  FOCUS�

/FCOM HAS DEVELOPED A DETAILED PROCESS TO EVALUATE ITS OWN 
PERFORMANCE� BOTH FOR THE PURPOSE OF  INTERNAL ADMINISTRATIVE 
SIMPLICITY AND TO ENSURE APPROPRIATE EXTERNAL ACCOUNTABILITY� 
/UR EVALUATION FRAMEWORK MEASURES OUTPUTS ACHIEVED 
AGAINST A BROAD RANGE OF  SPECIlC CRITERIA� )N THIS REPORT�  
FOR THE lRST TIME� AN ANALYSIS OF  OUR PERFORMANCE IS SET OUT  
IN FULL WITHIN THE /PERATING AND &INANCIAL 2EVIEW� DETAILS 
CAN BE FOUND ON PAGE ���

Obar`fkd ̀ lpqp ̂ ka fjmolsfkd bcÚ`fbk`v
/FCOM IS PREDOMINANTLY FUNDED BY INDUSTRY� /UR OPERATING 
BUDGET IS A NET COST TO THE BOTTOM LINE OF  COMPANIES WHO 
ARE AT THE HEART OF  A SECTOR OF  GROWING NATIONAL IMPORTANCE� 
4HE KNOWLEDGE OF  THAT FACT INFORMS OUR CONSTANT DESIRE TO 
MINIMISE OPERATING COSTS AND INCREASE INTERNAL EFlCIENCY�

4HREE YEARS AGO WE COMMITTED THE ORGANISATION TO A YEAR

ON
YEAR OPERATING BUDGET REDUCTION� IN THE BEST REGULATORY 
lNANCE TRADITION� OF  20) MINUS X� IN OTHER WORDS� A REAL

WORLD REDUCTION IN OUR SPENDING THAT WOULD DELIVER� OVER 
TIME� A DEMONSTRABLE REDUCTION IN THE COST OF  REGULATION  
TO OUR STAKEHOLDERS�

7E HAVE DELIVERED ON THAT COMMITMENT EACH YEAR SINCE� OUR 
OPERATING BUDGET FOR ������ WAS � PER CENT LOWER THAN THAT 
FOR ������ IN REAL TERMS� 7E ALSO STRIVE TO ACHIEVE GREATER 
SAVINGS DURING THE COURSE OF  THE lNANCIAL YEAR� AT THE END 
OF  THE REPORTING PERIOD� WE DELIVERED OUR WORK FOR THE YEAR 
a � M UNDER BUDGET� AND REMITTED THIS SUM BACK TO INDUSTRY 
IN THE FORM OF  LOWER AVERAGE REGULATORY FEES� 4HE 20) MINUS 
X COMMITMENT CONTINUES GOING FORWARD� THE OPERATING 
BUDGET FOR ������ IS � PER CENT LOWER THAN THE PREVIOUS  
YEAR AND ���� PER CENT LOWER THAN THE OPERATING BUDGET  
FOR �������

/FCOM�S HEADCOUNT AS OF  �� -ARCH ���� WAS ���� FOR 
CONTEXT� THE lVE ORGANISATIONS WE REPLACED HAD A COMBINED 
HEADCOUNT OF  ������

/FCOM�S APPROACH TO PENSION PROVISION CONTINUES TO YIELD A 
LONG
TERM BENElT TO OUR lNANCIAL LIABILITIES� #OLLEAGUES WHO 
JOIN /FCOM DIRECTLY �AS OPPOSED TO THOSE WHO JOINED FROM THE 
LEGACY ORGANISATIONS	 ARE OFFERED A PENSION ALLOWANCE� WHICH 
MAY BE CONTRIBUTED TO A DElNED CONTRIBUTION STAKEHOLDER 
SCHEME� RATHER THAN MEMBERSHIP OF  A DElNED BENElT �OR 
lNAL SALARY	 PENSION SCHEME� WHICH REMAINS THE PUBLIC SECTOR 
NORM� 5NLIKE DElNED CONTRIBUTION PENSION SCHEMES n WHERE 
FUND GROWTH IS DERIVED FROM THE CAPITAL MARKETS n DElNED 
BENElT PENSION SCHEMES EXPOSE THE PROVIDER TO SIGNIlCANT 
lNANCIAL RISK IN LATER YEARS� !S OF  �� -ARCH ����� �� PER 
CENT OF  /FCOM COLLEAGUES WERE EMPLOYED ON TERMS WITH A 
PENSIONS ALLOWANCE� UP FROM �� PER CENT AS OF  -ARCH �����

@efbc Bub`rqfsbÑp Obmloq
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Illhfkd ^eb^a 
4HE YEAR AHEAD HOLDS THE PROSPECT OF  A NUMBER OF
SIGNIlCANT DEVELOPMENTS IN THE SECTOR� WHICH /FCOM  
WILL SEEK TO REmECT IN ITS WORK�

)N TELECOMS WE WILL SEEK TO PROMOTE COMPETITION AND 
INNOVATION IN VOICE AND BROADBAND SERVICES BY ENSURING 
EFFECTIVE IMPLEMENTATION OF  "4 'ROUP PLC�S %NTERPRISE 
!CT 5NDERTAKINGS� 7E WILL ALSO DEVELOP OUR UNDERSTANDING 
OF  THE EVOLUTION OF  NEXT
GENERATION NETWORKS AND SERVICES 
AND WILL CONSIDER THE IMPLICATIONS OF  THESE FOR THE FUTURE 
OF  REGULATION� PARTICULARLY AS NEW lBRE OPTIC
BASED ACCESS 
NETWORKS BEGIN TO MOVE FROM CONCEPT TO CONSTRUCTION�

7E WILL CONTINUE OUR PROGRAMME TO RELEASE NEW RADIO 
SPECTRUM TO THE MARKET n WITH A FURTHER SIX AWARDS TO 
TAKE PLACE IN ������ n WHILE DEREGULATING AND LIBERALISING 
WHEREVER POSSIBLE TO MAXIMISE INNOVATION IN THE USE OF
THIS VITAL NATIONAL ASSET� 7E WILL ALSO PUBLISH PROPOSALS  
ON HOW WE INTEND TO REAP THE GREATEST BENElTS FOR  
CONSUMERS AND AUDIENCES FROM THE DIGITAL DIVIDEND  
RELEASED BY DIGITAL SWITCHOVER�

)N TELEVISION WE WILL UNDERTAKE FURTHER WORK TO UNDERPIN 
THE FUTURE OF  PUBLIC SERVICE BROADCASTING IN AN ERA WHEN 
DIGITAL TELEVISION AND BROADBAND
ENABLED HOMES DOMINATE 
AND HOUSEHOLDS WATCHING ANALOGUE TELEVISION ONLY REPRESENT 
A RAPIDLY DWINDLING MINORITY� 4HIS WILL INCLUDE A lNANCIAL 
REVIEW OF  #HANNEL � TO HELP ENSURE THE BROADCASTER IS 
EFFECTIVELY PLACED TO DELIVER ITS 03" OBLIGATIONS IN FUTURE� THE 
CONCLUSION OF  WORK TO RESOLVE THE RIGHTS OWNERSHIP QUESTIONS 
WHICH ARE CENTRAL TO THE TELEVISION PRODUCTION SECTOR� FURTHER 
DEVELOPMENT OF  THE 0UBLIC 3ERVICE 0UBLISHER CONCEPT TO 
EXTEND PUBLIC SERVICE CONTENT BEYOND ITS TRADITIONAL ANALOGUE 
HEARTLAND� AND FURTHER RESEARCH ON LOCAL TELEVISION�

$URING ������ WE WILL INCREASE THE CHOICE AND RANGE OF
DIGITAL RADIO SERVICES WITH THE AWARD OF  NEW MULTIPLEXES�
-ORE BROADLY� WE WILL CONSIDER THE LONG
TERM DIRECTION OF
THE RADIO INDUSTRY� INCLUDING AN ANALYSIS OF  THE FUTURE OF  THE 
!- AND &- BANDS AND OF  EMERGING DIGITAL RADIO TECHNICAL 
STANDARDS WHICH MAY OFFER THE PROSPECT OF  ENHANCED SERVICES�

7ITH EFFECT FROM �� /CTOBER� ) WILL BE STANDING DOWN AS 
/FCOM #HIEF  %XECUTIVE� !S ) SAID WHEN MY DECISION WAS 
ANNOUNCED BY THE "OARD IN -AY� THERE IS NEVER A GOOD TIME 
TO LEAVE A GREAT JOB� BUT WITH /FCOM NOW lRMLY ESTABLISHED 
AND THE COMMUNICATIONS INDUSTRIES DELIVERING REAL RESULTS� 
IT IS NOW TIME FOR SOMEONE ELSE TO LEAD THE ORGANISATION 
THROUGH ITS NEXT PHASE OF  DEVELOPMENT�

) WOULD LIKE TO THANK MY COLLEAGUES FOR THEIR HARD WORK� 
AND ) WOULD LIKE TO THANK OUR MANY STAKEHOLDERS FOR THEIR 
RIGOROUS SCRUTINY� CONSTRUCTIVE CHALLENGE AND POSITIVE 
ENGAGEMENT THROUGHOUT THE YEAR� 4HEIR CONTRIBUTIONS HAVE
LED TO WHAT ARE� ) HOPE� BETTER
INFORMED DECISIONS ABOUT 
THE RIGHT APPROACH TO THIS MOST DYNAMIC AND FASCINATING  
OF  SECTORS�

3TEPHEN !� #ARTER� #HIEF  %XECUTIVE



4HE GUIDING PRINCIPLE OF  THE #ONTENT "OARD IS 
TO IDENTIFY WHERE THE JUSTIlED INTERESTS OF  5+ 
CITIZENS LIE n IN RELATION TO BROADCAST CONTENT n  
AND TO INTERVENE TO THE MINIMUM EXTENT NECESSARY 
IN THE FREEDOM OF  OPERATION AND OF  EXPRESSION  
BY THE BROADCASTERS�

4HE MOST SIGNIlCANT EVENT IN THE #ONTENT "OARD�S YEAR  
WAS THE PUBLICATION OF  /FCOM�S lRST "ROADCASTING #ODE n  
A MAJOR PROJECT� WHICH DREW UPON BUT SIGNIlCANTLY RESHAPED 
THE PREVIOUS PROGRAMME CONTENT CODES OF  THE "ROADCASTING 
3TANDARDS #OMMISSION� )NDEPENDENT 4ELEVISION #OMMISSION 
AND THE 2ADIO !UTHORITY� 4HE #ONTENT "OARD�S OVERALL AIM 
WAS TO ENSURE THAT FREEDOM OF  EXPRESSION COULD mOURISH 
WHILE MAINTAINING THE IMPORTANCE OF  PROTECTING CHILDREN� 
4HE #ONTENT "OARD�S CHALLENGE WAS TO DO THIS AGAINST A 
BACKDROP OF  AN EVER
CHANGING MEDIA ENVIRONMENT� WHERE 
THE AVAILABILITY OF  AUDIO
VISUAL MATERIAL IS INCREASING�

)N ITS lRST EIGHT MONTHS OF  OPERATION THE NEW #ODE HAS  
HAD AN ENCOURAGING START� )T OFFERS SIMPLER AND CLEARER RULES� 
SUPPORTED BY CRISP GUIDANCE ON HOW TO AVOID CONTRAVENTION 
AND /FCOM LOOKS FORWARD TO CONTINUING TO WORK WITH 
BROADCASTERS IN IMPLEMENTING THE #ODE�

4WO JUDGEMENTS MADE BY THE #ONTENT "OARD UNDERSCORED 
THE APPROACH TO BROADCAST STANDARDS THAT THE NEW 
#ODE ESTABLISHES� &IRST� THE #ONTENT "OARD� UNDER THE 
CHAIRMANSHIP OF  MY PREDECESSOR 2ICHARD (OOPER� NOTED  
THAT THE ""#�S BROADCAST OF *ERRY 3PRINGER n THE /PERA
HAD GENERATED AN UNPRECEDENTED NUMBER OF  COMPLAINTS 
TO /FCOM� 4HE #ONTENT "OARD ACKNOWLEDGED THAT 
COMPLAINANTS CLEARLY FELT THAT THE SHOW DENIGRATED THE 
#HRISTIAN RELIGION AND THE REPRESENTATION OF  RELIGIOUS  
lGURES WAS OFFENSIVE TO SOME� (OWEVER� IN REACHING ITS 
CONCLUSION THAT THE PROGRAMME DID NOT CONTRAVENE THE 
#ODE� THE #ONTENT "OARD TOOK INTO ACCOUNT THE IMPORTANCE 
ATTACHED TO FREEDOM OF  EXPRESSION� PARTICULARLY IN THE  
CONTEXT OF  ARTISTIC WORKS� BELIEFS� PHILOSOPHY AND ARGUMENT� 
*ERRY 3PRINGER n THE /PERA WAS ALSO SEEN AS AN IMPORTANT WORK 
AND COMMENTARY ON MODERN TELEVISION AND n CRUCIALLY n  
THE ""# HAD GONE TO CONSIDERABLE LENGTHS TO PROVIDE 
POTENTIAL VIEWERS WITH INFORMATION TO ENABLE THEM TO  
MAKE AN INFORMED JUDGEMENT ON WHETHER TO WATCH�  

4HE SECOND SIGNIlCANT DECISION THE #ONTENT "OARD 
CONSIDERED WAS WHETHER TO ALLOW THE MORE EXPLICIT FORM  

>kkr^i Obmloq lc 
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OF  @ADULT� CONTENT� KNOWN BY THE ""&# CLASSIlCATION AS 2��� 
ON CABLE AND SATELLITE TELEVISION� 4HIS DECISION CENTRED ON 
WHETHER PROTECTION MECHANISMS n 0). NUMBERS AND SO FORTH 
n PROVIDED ADEQUATE SECURITY TO PREVENT ACCESS BY CHILDREN� 
4HE "OARD CONCLUDED THAT� CURRENTLY� FOR THE STRONGEST SEXUAL 
MATERIAL THEY DO NOT� AND THEREFORE RECOMMENDED TO THE 
MAIN /FCOM "OARD THAT THE RESTRICTION SHOULD REMAIN�  
!S TECHNOLOGY DEVELOPS� THE JUDGEMENT MAY CHANGE�

!LSO IN THE STANDARDS AREA� /FCOM HAD ALREADY CONTRACTED 
OUT BROADCAST ADVERTISING TO A CO
REGULATORY BODY� THE 
!DVERTISING 3TANDARDS !UTHORITY� 4HE #ONTENT "OARD 
RECEIVED REPORTS ON THE OPERATION OF  THE NEW SYSTEM WHICH 
APPEARED� IN ITS lRST FULL YEAR OF  OPERATION� TO HAVE LED TO NO
REDUCTION IN ADVERTISING BROADCAST STANDARDS� 4HE #ONTENT 
"OARD ALSO CONTRIBUTED TO THE POLICY OPTIONS AND IN PARTICULAR 
TO THE DESIGN OF  THE RESEARCH FOR THE CONSULTATION ON NEW 
RESTRICTIONS ON THE ADVERTISING TO CHILDREN OF  FOOD AND DRINK 
PRODUCTS WHICH ARE HIGH IN FAT� SALT AND SUGAR CONTENT�

! VITAL� STATUTORY� ROLE FOR THE #ONTENT "OARD IS TO REmECT TO 
/FCOM THE INTERESTS OF  THE NATIONS AND REGIONS OF  THE 5+� 
IN RELATION TO DECISIONS ABOUT CONTENT� 4HE #ONTENT "OARD 
GAVE A STRONG STEER TO THE /FCOM TELEVISION PRODUCTION SECTOR 
REVIEW� CONCERNING PRODUCTION OUTSIDE ,ONDON� 4HE #ONTENT 
"OARD ALSO EMPHASISED THE IMPORTANCE� IN THE FUTURE� OF  NEW 
TELEVISION DISTRIBUTION MECHANISMS AS PART OF  /FCOM�S REPORT 
ON DIGITAL LOCAL CONTENT�  

/FCOM PUBLISHED ITS STRATEGIC REVIEW OF  THE RADIO SECTOR 
AND� DRAWING ON ADVICE FROM THE #ONTENT "OARD� ADVOCATED 
THE LONG
TERM WITHDRAWAL FROM INTRUSIVE @INPUT� REGULATION� 
FOCUSING INSTEAD ON THE FORMATS AND ACTUAL CONTENT� !T THE 
SAME TIME� THE #ONTENT "OARD REAFlRMED THE IMPORTANCE  
OF  LOCAL CONTENT IN LOCAL RADIO� AND CONlRMED THE GUIDANCE 
FOR STATIONS IN HOW TO ACHIEVE THE NECESSARY ENGAGEMENT  
WITH THEIR COMMUNITIES�

) HAVE BEEN FORTUNATE IN INHERITING THE #ONTENT "OARD THAT 
2ICHARD (OOPER AND  3ARA .ATHAN RECRUITED AND SHAPED� 
4HE #ONTENT "OARD HAS ALREADY ESTABLISHED A STRONG 
AND CONSISTENT APPROACH TO OUR REGULATION OF  CONTENT� 
-AINTAINING THIS WILL BE ESSENTIAL AS WE MOVE SWIFTLY INTO  
A NEW REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT� AS THE COMMUNICATIONS 
SECTOR RAPIDLY EVOLVES AND AS CONSUMER ATTITUDES AND 
PREFERENCES CHANGE� )N THE FUTURE IT IS LIKELY THAT THERE  
WILL BE LESS EMPHASIS ON EXTERNAL REGULATION OF  CONTENT  

AND MORE EMPHASIS ON ENABLING AUDIENCES TO MAKE INFORMED 
CHOICES� THROUGH CLEAR LABELLING AND IMPROVED MEANS OF
NAVIGATION AMONG NEW AND NEWLY CONVERGED FORMS OF  MEDIA� 
!BOVE ALL� AS THE CONTENT INDUSTRIES CONTINUE TO EVOLVE� THE 
PRIMARY JUSTIlCATION FOR RESTRICTION OF  FREEDOM OF  EXPRESSION 
BY BROADCASTERS WILL RELATE TO THE PROTECTION OF  CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE�

#LOSELY LINKED TO THIS IS THE #ONTENT "OARD�S ROLE IN 
SUPERVISING /FCOM�S CONTINUING -EDIA ,ITERACY PROJECT� 
$URING THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW� THIS LED TO THE PUBLICATION  
OF  IMPORTANT RESEARCH INTO CURRENT LEVELS OF  ACCESS TO THE  
FULL RANGE OF  MEDIA� AND DIFFERING ABILITIES TO UNDERSTAND  
AND TO CREATE CONTENT�

4HE #ONTENT "OARD ALSO GIVES ADVICE TO BOTH THE %XECUTIVE 
AND THE MAIN /FCOM "OARD ON PROJECTS THAT ARE SHAPING 
FUTURE CONTENT PROVISION� 4HIS WILL INCLUDE FURTHER 
DEVELOPMENT OF  THE 0UBLIC 3ERVICE 0UBLISHER CONCEPT AS A 
WAY OF  SUSTAINING PUBLIC SERVICE BROADCASTING� WORK TO ENSURE 
THAT /FCOM MAXIMISES THE DIGITAL DIVIDEND THAT WILL RESULT 
FROM DIGITAL TELEVISION SWITCHOVER� AND THE CONVERGENT MEDIA 
PROJECT TO DEVELOP A REGULATORY MODEL THAT IS APPROPRIATE  
FOR FUTURE MEDIA CONTENT�

) LOOK FORWARD TO LEADING THE #ONTENT "OARD IN ADDRESSING 
THESE CHALLENGES�

&OR DETAILS OF  THE WORK OF  THE &AIRNESS AND #ONTENT 
3ANCTIONS COMMITTEES� SEE PAGES �� TO �� OF  3ECTION #�

0HILIP 'RAF  #"%� #HAIRMAN� #ONTENT "OARD
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ÐQfbo SÑ Ì pq^ka^oap ^ka  
lqebo fkarpqov `labp

¡ >mmolsba qeb Úk^i ao^cq lc Lc`ljÑp 
?ol^a`^pqfkd @lab) mr_ifpeba fk J^v TRRW

¡ >dobba `e^kdbp ql qeb >asboqfpfkd @lab 
fk obi^qflk ql ^i`leli ^ka eb^iqe `i^fjp

¡ @lkpfaboba `e^kdbp ql qeb mol`bpp 
clo e^kaifkd `ljmi^fkqp ^_lrq rkc^fo 
qob^qjbkq ^ka fkcofkdbjbkqp lc mofs^`v 
fk o^afl ^ka QS moldo^jjbp

¡ >agraf`^qba lk qeb Z�ZXR `ljmi^fkqp 
^_lrq ??@ QtlÑp Gboov Pmofkdbo Ì qeb 
Lmbo^) `lk`irafkd qe^q qeb obibs^kq 
_ol^a`^pqfkd `lab e^a klq _bbk 
`lkqo^sbkba

¡ Qrokba altk ^k ^mmb^i colj qeb 
??@ ^d^fkpq qeb Bub`rqfsbÑp ab`fpflk 
ql ob`loa ^ `lkqo^sbkqflk lc qeb 
pq^ka^oap obnrfobjbkqp lc qeb obibs^kq 
_ol^a`^pqfkd `lab clo qo^kpjfqqfkd  
Mrim Cf`qflk qll b^oiv fk qeb bsbkfkd 

¡ >mmolsba molmlpba obcloj lc oribp 
dlsbokfkd `olpp*moljlqflk _bqtbbk 
_ol^a`^pqfkd pbosf`bp

¡ >mmolsba kbt Lc`lj drfa^k`b lk 
^``bmq^_ib pq^ka^oap fk ifsb kbtp 
moldo^jjfkd ^ka fk _ol^a`^pq qo^fibop

Qeb @lkqbkq ?l^oa j^ab qeb cliiltfkd 
ab`fpflkp ^ka ob`ljjbka^qflkp  
ql qeb j^fk Lc`lj ?l^oa lo O^afl 
If`bkpfkd @ljjfqqbb7

ÐQfbop T ^ka UÑ Ì  
mr_if` pbosf`b qbibsfpflk

¡ >mmolsba molmlp^ip clo obpb^o`e ^ka   
Ðpq^hbeliabo pbjfk^opÑ ql ^ppbpp qeb 
bccb`qfsbkbpp lc abifsbov lc Mr_if` 
Pbosf`b ?ol^a`^pqfkd8 qeb qlmf` lc qeb 
Úopq pr`e pbjfk^o t^p `roobkq ^cc^fop 
moldo^jjfkd 

¡ @lkpfaboba ^kkr^i pq^qbjbkqp lc mlif`v 
^ka obsfbtp _v `ljjbo`f^i Mr_if` 
Pbosf`b ?ol^a`^pqbop) ^ka ^dobba qe^q 
qebpb `lkclojba ql qeb Lc`lj Klqb  
lc Drfa^k`b 

¡ >mmolsba Lc`ljÑp obsfpflk lc nrlq^p 
clo klk*kbtp moldo^jjbp lk FQS. fk 
P`lqi^ka) T^ibp ^ka Kloqebok Fobi^ka

¡ >dobba ql afp`lkqfkrb qeb rmt^oa   
Ðo^q`ebqÑ lc  CfsbÑp lofdfk^i molar`qflk 
nrlq^) _rq Úuba fq ^q ^ efdebo ibsbi Ì  
WW mbo `bkq Ì qe^k qeb _ol^a`^pqbo  
e^a obnrbpqba

Cfdrob T

>kkr^i Obmloq lc  
qeb @lkqbkq ?l^oa
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O^afl cloj^qp

¡ >dobba ql ^pmb`qp lc cloj^q `e^kdbp 
molmlpba _v @i^ppf` Dlia >J ^ka Pq^o 
O^afl) _rq ab`ifkba lqebop

¡ Ab`ifkba ql ^dobb ql ^ `e^kdb fk cloj^q 
clo qeb Hfu [X o^afl pq^qflk fk @lsbkqov

Jbaf^ ifqbo^`v

¡ >dobba mi^kp clo ^k ^rafq lc jbaf^ 
ifqbo^`v fk qeb RH ^ka pbq Lc`ljÑp mlif`v 
fk obi^qflk ql jbaf^ ifqbo^`v clo qeb 
`ljfkd vb^o

¡ >dobba qe^q Lc`lj pelria prmmloq  
qeb fkarpqov Jbaf^ Ifqbo^`v Q̂ ph Clo`b) 
_rq pelria klq _b`ljb ^ pfdk^qlov  
ql fqp @e^oqbo

J^glo obsfbtp

¡ >mmolsba qeb mlif`v molmlp^ip ^ka qbuq 
lc qeb Lc`lj O^afl Obsfbt

¡ Prmbosfpba qeb abpfdk lc qeb Qbibsfpflk 
Molar`qflk Pb`qlo Obsfbt) ^ka ^dobba 
mlif`v lmqflkp ^ka qbuq lc qeb obmloq

¡ Molsfaba fkmrq ql mlif`v lmqflkp ^ka 
qbuq clo Lc`ljÑp `lkpriq^qflk) Qbibsfpflk 
>asboqfpfkd lc Clla ^ka Aofkh Molar`qp 
ql @efiaobk 

¡ Prmbosfpba abpfdk lc qeb molgb`q  
lk obdri^qflk lc @lksbodbkq Jbaf^

¡ Bpq^_ifpeba qeb ^mmol^`e cliiltba fk ^ 
mr_ifpeba obmloq lk qeb crqrob lc Afdfq^i 
Il`^i @lkqbkq) ^ka ^mmolsba qeb qbuq lc 
qeb obmloq
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Qeb @ljjrkf`^qflkp >`q TRRU pbqp 
altk TXU pq^qrqlov arqfbp tef`e 
Lc`lj jrpq criÚi fk fqp tloh ^`olpp 
qeb qbib`ljjrkf`^qflkp) qbibsfpflk) 
o^afl ^ka tfobibpp `ljjrkf`^qflkp 
pb`qlop+ Lc`lj ^ipl e^p ^ _ol^a 
o^kdb lc arqfbp ^ka mltbop rkabo 
qeb klk*`lkplifa^qba m^oqp lc 
qeb ?ol^a`^pqfkd >`qp ^ka lqebo 
_ol^a`^pqfkd ibdfpi^qflk ^ka 
rkabo qeb Tfobibpp Qbibdo^mev 
>`qp %TQ >`qp& ^ka lqebo tfobibpp 
`ljjrkf`^qflkp ibdfpi^qflk+  
Qeb @ljjrkf`^qflkp >`q TRRU
^ipl obnrfobp Lc`lj ql ^`q ^p  
qeb `ljmbqfqflk ^rqelofqv clo  
qeb `ljjrkf`^qflkp pb`qlo+
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Qbib`ljjrkf`^qflkp SZ
Pmb`qorj UR
?ol^a`^pqfkd7 `olpp*pb`qlo UZ
?ol^a`^pqfkd7 qbibsfpflk VV
?ol^a`^pqfkd7 o^afl WT
Fkqbok^qflk^i WX
Fksbpqfd^qflkp moldo^jjb WZ
Prmmloqfkd pq^hbeliabop XR
Prmmloq pbosf`bp XT

@lob >ob^p lc >`qfsfqv  y  Pb`qflk ?





Qbib`ljjrkf`^qflkp



Eb^afkd Qbib`ljjrkf`^qflkp

Pqo^qbdf` Obsfbt lc 
Qbib`ljjrkf`^qflkp
$URING ������� /FCOM CONCLUDED ITS WIDE
RANGING 3TRATEGIC 
2EVIEW OF  4ELECOMMUNICATIONS� SOME �� YEARS AFTER THE 
5+ TELECOMS MARKET WAS lRST OPENED UP TO COMPETITION� 
)N CONCLUDING ITS 2EVIEW� /FCOM SET OUT A NEW REGULATORY 
APPROACH FOR lXED
LINE TELECOMMUNICATIONS DESIGNED TO 
BENElT BOTH CONSUMERS AND THE COMMUNICATIONS SECTOR  
AS A WHOLE� 

'ENUINE COMPETITION IN THE lXED
LINE TELECOMS MARKETS� AT 
THE DEEPEST LEVELS OF  INFRASTRUCTURE� CREATES A VIRTUOUS CIRCLE
OF  NEW INVESTMENT IN EMERGING TECHNOLOGIES AND INNOVATION 
IN SERVICES AND PRICE COMPETITION� 4HIS BENElTS CONSUMERS 
AND HELPS TO MAINTAIN THE COMPETITIVENESS OF  THE 5+ 
ECONOMY AS A WHOLE�

!T THE HEART OF  /FCOM�S REVIEW IS A DESIRE TO BRING ABOUT 
REAL EQUALITY OF  ACCESS TO THOSE PARTS OF  THE TELECOMS NETWORK 
THAT "4 'ROUP PLC�S COMPETITORS CANNOT VIABLY REPLICATE� AND 
SO PROMOTE COMPETITION BETWEEN NETWORKS� )N *UNE ����� 
/FCOM IDENTIlED SIX OBJECTIVES UNDERLYING ITS NEW APPROACH� 

s TO DRIVE DOWN THE PRICE OF  CALLS� CONNECTIONS AND SERVICES 
FOR CONSUMERS AND BUSINESSES�

s TO SUPPORT MORE INNOVATION n SUCH AS FASTER BROADBAND� 
VIDEO
ON
DEMAND AND VOICE OVER THE INTERNET�

s TO PROVIDE REGULATORY CERTAINTY FOR PROVIDERS AND INVESTORS�

s TO REFOCUS REGULATION WHERE IT IS NEEDED� WITH SWIFTER 
REMEDIES AND A STRUCTURED TIMETABLE DESIGNED TO DELIVER 
EQUIVALENCE THROUGH INCENTIVES AND PENALTIES�

s TO REMOVE REGULATION WHERE COMPETITION IS EFFECTIVE� AND

s TO ENSURE THE NECESSARY LEVEL OF  CONSUMER PROTECTION 
THROUGH A COMBINATION OF  CODES� SANCTIONS AND EFFECTIVE 
INFORMATION�

)N *UNE ����� THE BOARD OF  "4 'ROUP PLC AGREED IN PRINCIPLE 
TO OFFER THE /FCOM "OARD LEGALLY BINDING 5NDERTAKINGS� 
4HESE WERE SUBJECT TO FURTHER CONSULTATION DURING THE 
SUMMER AND WERE ACCEPTED BY /FCOM IN 3EPTEMBER�

s %NFORCEABILITY� "4 'ROUP PLC AGREED TO OFFER 
5NDERTAKINGS IN LIEU OF  A REFERENCE TO THE #OMPETITION 
#OMMISSION UNDER 3ECTION �����	 OF  THE %NTERPRISE 
!CT ����� 4HESE LEGALLY
BINDING 5NDERTAKINGS MEAN 
THAT� IN THE EVENT OF  A BREACH� /FCOM COULD COMMENCE 

SZ yLc`lj >kkr^i Obmloq TRRW�X ttt+lc`lj+lod+rh 
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PROCEEDINGS IN THE (IGH #OURT TO ENFORCE THEM�  
!NY AFFECTED THIRD
PARTIES COULD ALSO SEEK DAMAGES  
IN THE SAME WAY TO RECOVER LOSSES THEY INCURRED�  
4HE 5NDERTAKINGS SIT ALONGSIDE /FCOM�S EXISTING 
COMPETITION AND REGULATORY POWERS� 

s "RANDING AND IDENTITY� "4 'ROUP PLC AGREED TO SET 
UP A NEW AND OPERATIONALLY SEPARATE BUSINESS UNIT� WITH 
A DISTINCT BRAND IDENTITY� RESPONSIBLE FOR THE LOCAL ACCESS 
AND BACKHAUL NETWORK� 4HE NEW UNIT� WHICH "4 'ROUP 
PLC LATER UNVEILED AS @/PENREACH�� HAS ITS OWN EMPLOYEES� 
SEPARATE BONUS SCHEMES� SEPARATE OPERATING AND TRADING 
SYSTEMS� AND NEW BRANDING ON UNIFORMS AND VEHICLES�

s 0RODUCT EQUIVALENCE� 4HE NEW BUSINESS UNIT WILL 
SUPPORT ALL COMMUNICATION PROVIDERS� ACTIVITIES� INCLUDING 
THOSE OF  "4� ON AN EXACTLY EQUIVALENT BASIS �TERMED BY 
/FCOM AS @EQUIVALENCE OF  INPUT�	� 4HIS MEANS THAT ALL 
COMPANIES WILL BENElT EQUALLY FROM THE SAME PRODUCTS� 
PRICES AND PROCESSES WHEN THEY ORDER� INSTALL� MAINTAIN AND 
MIGRATE CONNECTIONS FOR THEIR CUSTOMERS�

s 0RODUCTS AND SERVICES� 4HE NEW UNIT WILL OFFER 
UNIVERSALLY AVAILABLE PRODUCT AND SERVICES� 4HIS INCLUDES 
USE OF  "4 'ROUP PLC�S ACCESS NETWORK� THE ABILITY TO OFFER 
LINE RENTAL ON AN UNBRANDED BASIS �WHOLESALE LINE RENTAL 
AND UNBUNDLED LOCAL LOOPS	 AND THE USE OF  TRANSMISSION 
CAPACITY FROM "4 'ROUP PLC�S EXCHANGES TO COMPETITORS� 
OWN NETWORKS �BACKHAUL	� %QUIVALENCE OF  )NPUT WILL ALSO 
APPLY TO "4 'ROUP PLC�S WHOLESALE INTERNET SERVICE� 

s .EXT 'ENERATION .ETWORKS� "4 'ROUP PLC WILL FOLLOW 
A CLEAR SET OF  PRINCIPLES IN DEVELOPING ITS NEXT
GENERATION 
��ST #ENTURY .ETWORK� ENSURING THAT OTHER PROVIDERS DO 
NOT SUFFER ANY COMPETITIVE DISADVANTAGE� 

s "OARD AND GOVERNANCE� #OMPLIANCE� BY BOTH "4 
'ROUP PLC AND /PENREACH� IS MONITORED BY A NEW  
%QUALITY OF  !CCESS "OARD�

/FCOM BELIEVES THE 5NDERTAKINGS WILL DELIVER REAL EQUALITY 
OF  ACCESS TO ALL PROVIDERS� ENCOURAGING INVESTMENT AND 
INNOVATION� REDUCING PRICES AND EXPANDING CHOICE FOR  
CONSUMERS AND BUSINESSES� WHILE UNDERPINNING THE 5+�S 
INDUSTRIAL AND ECONOMIC COMPETITIVENESS�

/FCOM COMMITTED TO THE PUBLICATION OF  A QUARTERLY 
)MPLEMENTATION 2EPORT INTENDED TO TRACK "4 'ROUP  

PLC�S PROGRESS IN COMPLYING WITH THE 5NDERTAKINGS�  
/FCOM ALSO COMMITTED TO MONITOR THE IMPACT OF  THE 
5NDERTAKINGS� INCLUDING�

s THE EXTENT TO WHICH "4 'ROUP PLC IS MEETING BOTH THE 
LETTER AND THE SPIRIT OF  ITS 5NDERTAKINGS� 

s RESULTS AS THEY AFFECT WHOLESALE CUSTOMERS� INCLUDING LOCAL 
LOOP UNBUNDLING AND WHOLESALE LINE RENTAL INVESTMENT�  
AND PRODUCT TAKE
UP� AND

s RESULTS AFFECTING RETAIL CUSTOMERS n BOTH CONSUMER AND 
BUSINESS n IN TERMS OF  RETAIL PRICES� SERVICE QUALITY AND 
PRODUCT RANGES�

/PENREACH WAS LAUNCHED ON �� *ANUARY WITH ITS OWN SENIOR 
MANAGEMENT TEAM� ITS OWN HEADQUARTERS IN -AYFAIR AND A 
lELD
FORCE OF  AROUND ������ PEOPLE ASSIGNED TO WORK FOR IT� 

Lmbkob^`e 

4HE 5NDERTAKINGS REQUIRED "4 'ROUP PLC TO SET UP A 
NEW AND OPERATIONALLY SEPARATE BUSINESS UNIT� WHICH 
IT BRANDED /PENREACH� TO BE RESPONSIBLE FOR "4�S 
LOCAL ACCESS AND BACKHAUL NETWORK� 

4HE ROLE OF  /PENREACH IS TO SUPPORT ALL 
COMMUNICATION PROVIDERS� RETAIL ACTIVITIES �INCLUDING 
THOSE OF  "4 7HOLESALE AND "4 2ETAIL	 ON AN EXACTLY 
EQUIVALENT BASIS� KNOWN AS %QUIVALENCE OF  )NPUT�

/PENREACH WAS LAUNCHED WITH A DISTINCT BRAND AND 
IDENTITY� AND STAFFED BY AROUND ������ EMPLOYEES 
RESPONSIBLE FOR THE OPERATION AND DEVELOPMENT OF  "4 
'ROUP PLC�S LOCAL ACCESS NETWORKS� /PENREACH HAS� 

s SEPARATE BONUS AND INCENTIVE SCHEMES�

s SEPARATE OPERATING AND TRADING SYSTEMS� 

s BEGUN TO INTRODUCE ITS OWN BRANDING ON UNIFORMS� 
)$ CARDS AND VEHICLES� AND

s ESTABLISHED @#HINESE WALLS� TO RESTRICT INFORMATION

SHARING BETWEEN /PENREACH AND "4 'ROUP PLC�
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Bnrfs^ibk`b lc Fkmrq  

%QUIVALENCE OF  )NPUT IS THE MODEL WHERE ALL 
COMMUNICATION PROVIDERS n INCLUDING "4 'ROUP PLC 
ITSELF  n PURCHASE EXACTLY THE SAME WHOLESALE PRODUCTS 
THROUGH EXACTLY THE SAME SYSTEMS� %QUIVALENCE OF
)NPUT APPLIES TO�

s ACCESS TO UNBUNDLED LOCAL LOOPS� INCLUDING FULLY 
UNBUNDLED LOOPS �WHERE A PROVIDER TAKES FULL 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ALL OF  THE CUSTOMER�S VOICE AND 
BROADBAND SERVICES	 AND SHARED LOOPS �WHERE "4 
7HOLESALE CONTINUES TO PROVIDE VOICE SERVICES WHILE 
ANOTHER PROVIDER IS RESPONSIBLE FOR BROADBAND	�

s WHOLESALE LINE RENTAL� WHERE A PROVIDER TAKES 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR LINE RENTAL AND TYPICALLY PROVIDES 
A SINGLE BILL FOR BOTH LINE RENTAL AND CALLS�

s BACKHAUL PRODUCTS� WHICH ARE USED TO CONNECT 
THE LOCAL ACCESS NETWORK TO THE CORE NETWORK� 
3OME PROVIDERS HAVE BUILT OUT THEIR OWN BACKHAUL 
NETWORKS� BUT MANY OTHERS ARE DEPENDENT ON "4 
'ROUP PLC FOR WHOLESALE BACKHAUL SERVICES� AND

s "4 'ROUP PLC�S WHOLESALE BROADBAND ACCESS 
SERVICES� USED BY MANY INTERNET SERVICE PROVIDERS TO 
OFFER BROADBAND CONNECTIONS FOR THEIR CUSTOMERS�

4HE 5NDERTAKINGS ALSO SET OUT A NUMBER OF  PRINCIPLES 
WHICH "4 'ROUP PLC MUST FOLLOW IN THE DESIGN� 
PROCUREMENT AND BUILD OF  ITS ��ST #ENTURY .ETWORK 
TO ENSURE THAT OTHER PROVIDERS WHO WILL DEPEND ON 
INTERCONNECTION WITH THIS NETWORK DO NOT SUFFER 
COMPETITIVE DISADVANTAGE� 

Bnr^ifqv lc >``bpp ?l^oa   

#OMPLIANCE WITH THE 5NDERTAKINGS BY /PENREACH 
AND OTHER "4 'ROUP PLC BUSINESS UNITS IS MONITORED 
BY THE %QUALITY OF  !CCESS "OARD �%!"	� 4HE 
5NDERTAKINGS REQUIRE "4 'ROUP PLC TO ACT SWIFTLY ON 
THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF  THE %!"�

+EY CHARACTERISTICS OF  THE %!"�

s IT IS A COMPLIANCE BOARD� NOT AN OPERATING 
MANAGEMENT BOARD�

s IT IS CHAIRED BY A NON
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR ON THE 
"OARD OF  "4 'ROUP PLC AND IS COMPRISED OF  FOUR 
OTHER MEMBERS� OF  WHOM THREE ARE INDEPENDENT�

s ALL BOARD MEMBERS HAVE BEEN APPOINTED IN 
CONSULTATION WITH /FCOM�

s IT PRODUCES AND PUBLISHES A REGULAR SUMMARY 
REPORT OF  ITS ACTIVITIES� 

s IT HAS EXTENSIVE POWERS TO SEEK ACCESS TO 
INFORMATION FROM WHEREVER IN "4 'ROUP PLC IT 
DEEMS NECESSARY TO DO ITS WORK� AND 

s IT IS OBLIGED TO REPORT ALL BREACHES OF  THE 
5NDERTAKINGS� MATERIAL OR NOT� TO /FCOM�
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Il`^i Illm Rk_rkaifkd 
,OCAL ,OOP 5NBUNDLING �,,5	 ENABLES PROVIDERS OTHER THAN 
"4 'ROUP PLC TO TAKE FULL CONTROL OF  THE LOOP CONNECTING 
HOMES AND BUSINESSES TO THE LOCAL EXCHANGE� AND PROVIDE A 
RANGE OF  COMPETITIVE SERVICES OVER THAT CONNECTION�

/FCOM BELIEVES THAT A WELL
FUNCTIONING ,,5 MARKET IS AN 
IMPORTANT COMPONENT OF  A COMPETITIVE lXED
LINE TELECOMS 
MARKET� #OMPETITION IN ,,5 MEANS THAT ALTERNATIVE 
BROADBAND PROVIDERS CAN CONTROL THEIR OWN NETWORKS AND 
TAILOR PRICE AND SERVICE OFFERINGS MORE CLOSELY TO CUSTOMERS� 
NEEDS� OFFERING THE POTENTIAL FOR LOWER PRICES AND FASTER 
BROADBAND SPEEDS�

)N ORDER TO PROMOTE COMPETITION IN THE BROADBAND MARKET� 
/FCOM SET A CEILING IN 3EPTEMBER ���� ON THE PRICE THAT 
"4 'ROUP PLC COULD CHARGE ITS COMPETITORS TO RENT A FULLY 
UNBUNDLED LOCAL LOOP� 4HE AIM WAS TO ENSURE THAT "4  
'ROUP PLC�S CHARGE IS FAIR� REASONABLE AND COST
ORIENTATED�

/FCOM SET THE MAXIMUM PRICE AT a������ THIS WAS 
INTRODUCED AT THE END OF  /CTOBER AFTER ONE MONTH OF
CONSULTATION� 4HE MOVE FOLLOWED "4 'ROUP PLC�S VOLUNTARY 
PRICE REDUCTION IN !UGUST FROM a������ TO a��� (OWEVER� 
/FCOM ALSO BELIEVED THAT ESTABLISHING A PRICE CEILING WAS 
IMPORTANT� TO ENSURE CHARGING TRANSPARENCY AND TO AVOID  
THE POSSIBILITY OF  INCREASED CHARGES IN THE FUTURE�

"Y -ARCH ����� THERE WERE MORE THAN ������� UNBUNDLED 
LINES IN THE 5+�

Obq^fi Mof`b @lkqolip
! COMBINATION OF  NEW TECHNOLOGY AND GREATER COMPETITION 
BETWEEN PROVIDERS BASED ON APPROPRIATE REGULATED PRODUCTS 
MEANS THAT CONSUMERS TODAY HAVE WIDER CHOICE AND LOWER 
PRICES THAN BEFORE� /FCOM PUBLISHED PROPOSALS IN -ARCH
���� TO DEREGULATE THE RETAIL PRICE CONTROLS ON "4 LINE RENTAL 
AND CALLS WHICH HAVE GOVERNED THE 5+ TELECOMS MARKET 
SINCE IT WAS LIBERALISED� 4HE PROPOSALS REmECT THE INCREASING 
COMPETITION IN THE MARKET�

3UBJECT TO A PUBLIC CONSULTATION� THE PROPOSALS ARE INTENDED 
TO COME INTO EFFECT ON � !UGUST ����� WHEN THE EXISTING 
CHARGE CONTROL IS DUE TO LAPSE� &OR THE lRST TIME ALL PHONE 
COMPANIES n INCLUDING "4 'ROUP PLC n WOULD BE FREE TO SET 

THEIR OWN PRICES AND COMPETE FOR CUSTOMERS IN THE FUTURE�
WITH CLEAR PROTECTIONS IN PLACE TO PROTECT VULNERABLE GROUPS�

)N THE 5+� AVERAGE CALL PRICES HAVE COME DOWN BY 
AROUND �� PER CENT SINCE ����� 4HE KEY DRIVERS BEHIND  
THIS CHANGE INCLUDE� 

s GREATER COMPETITION� -ORE THAN �� MILLION HOUSEHOLDS� 
INCLUDING MORE THAN FOUR MILLION CABLE CUSTOMERS� NOW 
USE PROVIDERS OTHER THAN "4 'ROUP PLC FOR THEIR lXED

LINE TELEPHONE CALLS� USING REGULATED WHOLESALE PRODUCTS 
�7HOLESALE ,INE 2ENTAL AND #ARRIER 0RE
3ELECT	�

s REDUCTIONS IN WHOLESALE CHARGES� /FCOM HAS EFFECTED 
SIGNIlCANT REDUCTIONS IN THE UNDERLYING CHARGES FOR THE  
USE OF  "4�S NETWORK�

s NEW TECHNOLOGY� 7ITH MORE THAN �� MILLION HOMES  
NOW CONNECTED TO BROADBAND� THERE IS SIGNIlCANT ROOM  
FOR GROWTH IN THE ESTIMATED �������  ACTIVE USERS OF
6OICE OVER )NTERNET 0ROTOCOL �6O)0	 SERVICES� AND 

s COMPETITIVE LOCAL ACCESS INVESTMENT� "Y &EBRUARY 
����� MORE THAN ������� LINES HAD BEEN UNBUNDLED TO 
ENABLE A RANGE OF  PROVIDERS TO OFFER VOICE� BROADBAND  
AND VIDEO SERVICES OVER EXISTING PHONE LINES� 

/FCOM ALSO PROPOSED TO LAUNCH A PUBLIC INFORMATION 
CAMPAIGN TO MAKE CONSUMERS AWARE OF  THE NEW DEREGULATION� 

Kbuq Dbkbo^qflk Kbqtlohp
4HE 5+�S lXED
LINE TELECOMMUNICATION NETWORKS WILL BE 
TRANSFORMED OVER THE NEXT THREE TO lVE YEARS BY A MAJOR 
UPGRADE� WHICH WILL SIGNIlCANTLY CHANGE THE WAY THEY 
OPERATE� 4ERMED @.EXT 'ENERATION .ETWORKS� �.'.S	� THEY 
WILL MAKE USE OF  DIGITAL TECHNOLOGY TO CONNECT TELEPHONE CALLS 
AND OTHER NETWORK TRAFlC MORE EFlCIENTLY THAN TRADITIONAL 
NETWORKS� )NTERNET 0ROTOCOL �)0	 SERVICES WILL BE DEVELOPED 
MORE QUICKLY AND AT A LOWER COST TO COMMUNICATIONS 
PROVIDERS� /VER TIME� .'.S WILL OFFER CONSUMERS A WIDER 
CHOICE OF  NEW PRODUCTS AND MORE VALUE FOR MONEY�

(OWEVER� THE ESTABLISHMENT OF  .'.S REPRESENTS A SIGNIlCANT 
TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE AND DEMANDS SUBSTANTIAL INVESTMENT 
AND PLANNING� !S WITH MANY EMERGING TECHNOLOGIES� THE 
PROVIDERS NEED TO AGREE THE TECHNICAL AND COMMERCIAL 
ARRANGEMENTS FOR CONNECTING TO EACH OTHER�S NETWORKS�  
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4O ENCOURAGE PROGRESS AND PROVIDE A CLEAR POINT OF  FOCUS� 
/FCOM ESTABLISHED A NEW INDUSTRY BODY� .'. 5+� UNDER 
%XECUTIVE #HAIRMAN� 0ETER "LACK� 4HE PURPOSE OF  THIS 
BODY IS TO FACILITATE DECISION
MAKING FOR THE WHOLE OF  THE 
5+ TELECOMS INDUSTRY ON THE COMMERCIAL AND TECHNICAL 
ARRANGEMENTS FOR .'.S� !T ITS LAUNCH IN -ARCH ����� EIGHT 
COMPANIES HAD ALREADY COMMITTED TO .'. 5+� "4� #ABLE 
� 7IRELESS� %ASYNET� +INGSTON #OMMUNICATIONS� .4,� 
4HUS� 6ODAFONE AND 7ANADOO 5+�

/FCOM WILL MONITOR THE NEW BODY�S WORK CLOSELY TO MAKE 
SURE THAT THE INDUSTRY�S COMMERCIAL PRIORITIES INFORM  
FUTURE REGULATION� 

Telibp^ib ^ka i^odb  
_rpfkbpp j^ohbqp

Kbqtloh `e^odb `lkqolip

!FTER CONSULTATIONS EARLIER IN THE YEAR� /FCOM ANNOUNCED 
DETAILS IN !UGUST ���� OF  NETWORK CHARGE CONTROLS FOR "4 
NARROWBAND PRODUCTS� FOR THE FOUR YEARS FROM � /CTOBER ����� 

4HE NEW CONTROLS WILL LIMIT "4 'ROUP PLC�S PRICES FOR A 
SPECIlC SET OF  WHOLESALE TELECOMS CHARGES� 7HEN COMBINED 
WITH EFFECTIVE RETAIL COMPETITION� THE MOVE COULD MEAN 
A SAVING FOR 5+ BUSINESS AND CONSUMER USERS TOTALLING 
a���
���M OVER THE FOUR
YEAR PERIOD� !T THE SAME TIME� 
REGULATIONS WERE RELAXED INTO TWO WHOLESALE MARKETS WHERE 
COMPETITION IS EMERGING�

/FCOM ALSO STATED THAT� ALTHOUGH THE SAME BROAD APPROACH 
TO REGULATING "4 'ROUP PLC�S NARROWBAND SERVICES HAD 
APPLIED SINCE ����� CHANGES MAY BE NEEDED IN THE FUTURE AS 
.EXT 'ENERATION .ETWORKS� INCLUDING "4 'ROUP PLC�S ��ST 
#ENTURY .ETWORK� ARE DEVELOPED�   

Telibp^ib Ifkb Obkq^i %TIO&

7,2 ALLOWS CONSUMERS TO CHOOSE FROM A RANGE OF
COMPETING PROVIDERS FOR BOTH THEIR VOICE CALLS AND LINE 
RENTAL� ALL PAID VIA A SINGLE BILL� 4HERE ARE NOW NEARLY THREE 
MILLION 7,2 LINES IN THE MARKET� INCREASING AT A RATE OF  OVER 
������� EVERY MONTH�

)N .OVEMBER� /FCOM PROPOSED A REDUCTION IN THE ANNUAL 
RENTAL CHARGES THAT TELECOMS COMPANIES PAY FOR 7,2� 4HIS 
MEANT THAT MONTHLY RENTAL CHARGES WOULD FALL BY � PER CENT 
�OR �� PENCE A MONTH	 TO A PROPOSED CEILING OF  a���� A 
MONTH� "USINESS 7,2 WOULD FALL BY � PER CENT ��� PENCE	  
TO A PROPOSED CEILING OF  a���� A MONTH� !FTER A CONSULTATION� 
THESE CHARGES WERE CONlRMED IN *ANUARY AND INTRODUCED  
ON � -ARCH�

4HE CALENDAR YEAR CLOSED WITH /FCOM CONlRMING THAT� AFTER 
TWO YEARS OF  DEVELOPMENT� THE 7,2 PRODUCT MET A SERIES 
OF  AGREED CRITERIA �SUBJECT TO SPECIlC CONDITIONS	� 4HESE 
REQUIREMENTS� lRST AGREED IN ����� COVERED SERVICE STANDARDS� 
FUNCTIONALITY AND MARKET IMPACT� /FCOM�S ASSESSMENT MEANT 
THAT THE EXISTING RETAIL PRICE CONTROLS ON "4 'ROUP PLC WERE 
RELAXED TO A SAFEGUARD CAP �20)
ZERO	 ON � *ANUARY �����  

I^odb _rpfkbpp mof`fkd

)N 3EPTEMBER� /FCOM ANNOUNCED PROPOSALS TO REMOVE
CERTAIN RULES GOVERNING THE AMOUNT "4 'ROUP PLC CHARGES 
LARGE BUSINESSES FOR TELECOMS SERVICES� #URRENTLY� "4 'ROUP 
PLC MUST OFFER ALL LARGE ORGANISATIONS THE SAME PUBLISHED CALL 
AND LINE PRICES� 5NDER NEW PROPOSALS� WHICH WERE SUBJECT 
TO CONSULTATION� "4 'ROUP PLC WOULD BE ABLE TO AGREE 
INDIVIDUAL TERMS WITH CUSTOMERS THAT SPEND MORE THAN  
a�M A YEAR ON TELECOMS� WITHOUT HAVING TO PUBLISH ITS PRICES� 
/FCOM BELIEVES THAT THIS WILL STIMULATE MORE COMPETITION IN 
THE lXED
LINE MARKET� AND OPEN UP THE POSSIBILITY OF  LOWER 
PRICES FOR LARGE ORGANISATIONS�  

4HE CHANGES ARE CONTINGENT ON THE AVAILABILITY AND 
REPLICABILITY OF  WHOLESALE SERVICES THAT ENABLE COMPETITORS  
TO REPLICATE "4 'ROUP PLC�S SERVICES ON AN EQUAL FOOTING�  
! STATEMENT ON LARGE BUSINESS PRICING WAS PUBLISHED AFTER  
THE REPORTING PERIOD�

@lkprjbo mlif`v

@e^iibkdfkd jfp*pbiifkd) pi^jjfkd ^ka mllo 
`ljmi^fkqp e^kaifkd

4HE NUMBER AND RANGE OF  lXED
LINE TELECOMS PROVIDERS IS 
GREATER TODAY THAT EVER BEFORE� WITH INCREASED COMPETITION 
DRIVING DOWN PRICES AND ENCOURAGING THE INTRODUCTION 
OF  NEW SERVICES� (OWEVER� WITH INCREASED CHOICE AND 

Qbib`ljjrkf`^qflkp
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COMPETITION THERE IS A GREATER POTENTIAL FOR SERVICE FAILURE OR� 
IN THE WORST CASES� DELIBERATE CORPORATE MALPRACTICE� !BUSES 
INCLUDE @SLAMMING�� WHERE CUSTOMERS ARE SWITCHED FROM ONE 
SUPPLIER TO ANOTHER WITHOUT THEIR KNOWLEDGE AND CONSENT� 
AND MIS
SELLING� WHERE THE SERVICE OFFERED TO THE CONSUMER 
DOES NOT MATCH THE SERVICE DESCRIBED AT THE POINT OF  SALE�

)N !PRIL ����� /FCOM INTRODUCED AN OBLIGATION ON 
COMPANIES SELLING SERVICES IN THE lXED
LINE TELECOMS MARKET 
TO ESTABLISH AND COMPLY WITH #ODES OF  0RACTICE ON SALES AND 
MARKETING PRACTICE� IN ACCORDANCE WITH PUBLISHED GUIDELINES� 
4HIS OBLIGATION CAME INTO EFFECT IN -AY� AND WILL REMAIN 
IN PLACE FOR TWO YEARS� AT WHICH POINT SALES AND MARKETING 
STANDARDS AND ABUSES WILL AGAIN BE REVIEWED� -EANWHILE� 
/FCOM SAID IT WOULD INVESTIGATE ALLEGATIONS OF  NON

COMPLIANCE ON A CASE
BY
CASE BASIS� WITH POWERS TO IMPOSE 
lNES OF  UP TO �� PER CENT OF  RELEVANT TURNOVER IF  SUFlCIENT 
STEPS TO REMEDY THE BEHAVIOUR WERE NOT TAKEN� 

/FCOM ALSO PUBLISHED BEST
PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS 
FOR PROVIDERS ON HOW THEIR #OMPLAINTS #ODES OF  0RACTICE 
MUST ADDRESS THE HANDLING OF  COMPLAINTS AND RESOLUTION  
OF  DISPUTES�

4HERE ARE TWO APPROVED ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
�!$2	 SCHEMES� THE /FlCE OF  THE 4ELECOMMUNICATIONS 
/MBUDSMAN �/4%,/	 AND THE #OMMUNICATIONS AND 
)NTERNET 3ERVICES !DJUDICATION 3CHEME �#)3!3	� )N *ULY 
����� /FCOM PUBLISHED A CONSULTATION REVIEWING THE  
!$2 SCHEMES AND FOUND THAT THE MAJORITY OF  THE MAJOR 
PROVIDERS WERE MEMBERS� #)3!3� MEMBERSHIP HAD GROWN  
FROM �� TO ���� AND /4%,/�S FROM SEVEN TO ���� 2ESEARCH
ALSO SHOWED THAT�

s MORE THAN TWO
THIRDS OF  COMPLAINANTS WERE DISSATISlED 
WITH THE WAY THEIR PROVIDERS HANDLED THEIR COMPLAINTS�

s AWARENESS OF  THE !$2 PROCESS WAS LOW� WITH ONLY ����� OF
SOME ONE MILLION COMPLAINTS BEING REFERRED TO !$2� AND

s AROUND �� PER CENT OF  COMPLAINANTS ACCEPTED THE DECISION 
OF  !$2 SCHEMES�

)N $ECEMBER ����� /FCOM lNALISED ITS RECOMMENDATIONS TO 
ENSURE THAT PROVIDERS DEAL WITH CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS MORE 
EFFECTIVELY� !S WELL AS CONlRMING ITS APPROVAL FOR /4%,/ 
AND #)3!3� /FCOM IDENTIlED THREE KEY PRIORITIES� THAT BOTH 
!$2 SCHEMES SHOULD PUBLISH KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS ON 
HOW QUICKLY COMPLAINTS ARE DEALT WITH� WHETHER CUSTOMERS 

ARE SATISlED� AND THAT /FCOM SHOULD BE NOTIlED PROMPTLY OF
ANY SERIOUS BREACH OF  SCHEME RULES BY A MEMBER COMPANY�  

)N !UGUST� /FCOM ALSO APPROVED AN AMENDMENT TO THE 
#ODE OF  0RACTICE OF  THE PREMIUM RATE REGULATOR )#34)3� 
4HE REVISION MEANT THAT NETWORK COMPANIES THAT CONNECT 
PREMIUM RATE CALLS WILL BE PREVENTED FROM SHARING CALL 
REVENUES WITH PROVIDERS WHO OFFER PREMIUM RATE SERVICES 
FOR AT LEAST �� CALENDAR DAYS� 4HIS GIVES )#34)3 IMPORTANT 
ADDITIONAL TIME TO ASSESS COMPLAINTS AND DETECT MISLEADING  
OR FRAUDULENT ACTIVITY� AND REVENUES MAY BE FROZEN IN THE 
EVENT OF  INVESTIGATIONS BEING NECESSARY�

)N &EBRUARY ����� /FCOM LAUNCHED A CONSULTATION ON 
PROPOSALS ADDRESSING FOUR KEY AREAS�

s CONSUMER PROTECTION� AND BETTER EARLY
WARNING SYSTEMS 
AGAINST SCAMS AND MIS
SELLING�

s ENFORCEMENT� WITH QUICKER AND MORE TARGETED ACTION  
WHERE IT�S NEEDED�

s COMPLAINT
HANDLING� AND HOW SYSTEMS FOR COMPLAINTS 
ABOUT COMMUNICATIONS PROVIDERS CAN BE IMPROVED� AND

s CONSUMER INFORMATION AND ENSURING THAT CONSUMERS  
CAN MAKE WELL
INFORMED DECISIONS BASED ON RELIABLE  
AND USEFUL DATA�

! STATEMENT ON CONSUMER ISSUES WAS PUBLISHED AFTER  
THE REPORTING PERIOD�

&URTHER DETAILS OF  COMPLAINTS RECEIVED BY THE  
/FCOM #ONTACT #ENTRE CAN BE FOUND ON PAGE ���

Rkfsbop^i Pbosf`b L_ifd^qflkp

4HE #OMMUNICATIONS !CT ���� REQUIRES /FCOM TO ENSURE 
THAT ALL CONSUMERS ARE ABLE TO BENElT FROM BASIC lXED
LINE 
TELECOMS SERVICES� 4HE OBLIGATIONS UPON "4 'ROUP PLC �AND� 
IN (ULL� +INGSTON #OMMUNICATIONS	 TO MEET THIS DEMAND ARE 
DESCRIBED AS 5NIVERSAL 3ERVICE /BLIGATIONS �53/	� )N *UNE 
����� /FCOM LAUNCHED A CONSULTATION ON ITS APPROACH TO 
THIS IMPORTANT AREA OF  CONSUMER PROTECTION� )N -ARCH ����� 
/FCOM PUBLISHED A STATEMENT ON lVE PRINCIPAL PROPOSALS�

�� ,OW
COST SCHEMES� "4 'ROUP PLC AND +INGSTON 
#OMMUNICATIONS WILL OFFER A NEW LOW
USER SCHEME WHICH  
WILL TARGET PEOPLE WHO RECEIVE )NCOME 3UPPORT� INCOME

BASED *OB 3EEKER�S !LLOWANCE AND 0ENSION #REDIT�
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�� 0HONE BOXES� !LTHOUGH PHONE BOXES CAN REPRESENT 
A LIFELINE TO CERTAIN CUSTOMERS� SOME ARE EXPENSIVE TO RUN 
AND VERY RARELY USED� 7HERE "4 'ROUP PLC OR +INGSTON 
#OMMUNICATIONS SEEK TO REMOVE A PHONE BOX� LOCAL 
COMMUNITIES HAVE A @LOCAL VETO� WHICH WILL BE AVAILABLE TO 
UNITARY� METROPOLITAN� DISTRICT AND EQUIVALENT COUNCILS� 4HIS 
WILL APPLY TO THE LAST PHONE BOX WITHIN A ���
METRE AREA� 
AND THE CONSULTATION PERIOD FOR PROPOSALS WILL BE EXTENDED 
FROM �� DAYS TO �� DAYS� 4HERE WILL ALSO BE MORE FREEDOM 
TO USE CASHLESS PHONE BOXES WHERE VANDALISM IS A PERSISTENT 
PROBLEM� OR WHERE PHONE BOXES ARE NEEDED MAINLY FOR 
EMERGENCY CALLS�

�� #USTOMERS WITH DISABILITIES� /FCOM ANNOUNCED THE 
ESTABLISHMENT OF  A 3TAKEHOLDER !DVISORY 0ANEL TO MONITOR 
THE DELIVERY AND PERFORMANCE OF  TEXT AND VOICE SERVICES� 
4HESE INCLUDE TEXT RELAY� A SERVICE WHICH TRANSLATES VOICE CALLS 
INTO TEXT AND IS A VITAL COMMUNICATIONS AID FOR MANY PEOPLE 
WITH DISABILITIES�

�� 0HONE LINES FOR ALL� &ROM � -ARCH ����� "4 'ROUP 
PLC AND +INGSTON #OMMUNICATIONS WERE REQUIRED TO INSTALL 
NEW PHONE LINES AT A STANDARD COST OF  a������ REGARDLESS OF
THE LOCATION� (OWEVER� IF  THE ACTUAL COST TO THOSE COMPANIES 
IS MORE THAN a����� THE CUSTOMER MAY BE CHARGED FOR THE 
DIFFERENCE ABOVE THIS THRESHOLD�

�� &UNDING 53/� 4HIS IS MET BY "4 'ROUP PLC AND 
+INGSTON #OMMUNICATIONS� AND /FCOM DID NOT PROPOSE  
TO CHANGE THIS ARRANGEMENT�

>`qflk ^d^fkpq pfibkq `^iip

3ILENT CALLS ARE GENERATED BY CALL CENTRES IN INDUSTRIES 
INCLUDING TELEMARKETING� MARKET RESEARCH AND DEBT COLLECTION� 
-ANY CALL CENTRES SET UP OUTBOUND PHONE CALLS TO CONSUMERS� 
HOWEVER� IF  THOSE SYSTEMS ESTABLISH MORE OUTBOUND CALLS  
THAN THERE ARE AGENTS AVAILABLE THE RESULT IS SILENCE ON  
THE LINE WHEN A PERSON BEING CALLED PICKS UP THE PHONE�  
4HESE ABANDONED CALLS CAN CAUSE SIGNIlCANT ANXIETY  
AND ANNOYANCE� 

)N /CTOBER� /FCOM CONSULTED ON A REVISED POLICY� AND  
IN -ARCH ANNOUNCED A NEW APPROACH TO DEAL WITH  
THE PERSISTENT MISUSE OF  ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS  
NETWORKS OR SERVICES� UNDER SECTIONS ���
��� OF  THE 
#OMMUNICATIONS !CT� 

4HE NEW GUIDELINES INCLUDE THREE KEY REQUIREMENTS�

s ABANDONED CALL RATES MUST BE BELOW THREE PER CENT  
OF  ALL CALLS MADE IN ANY ��
HOUR PERIOD�

s ALL ABANDONED CALLS MUST CARRY A SHORT RECORDED MESSAGE� 
IDENTIFYING THE SOURCE OF  THE CALL� AND

s A CALLER LINE IDENTIlCATION �#,)	 MUST BE PRESENTED ON 
ALL OUTBOUND CALLS THAT ARE GENERATED AUTOMATICALLY� #,) 
ALLOWS PEOPLE TO DIAL ���� AND lND OUT WHO CALLED THEM�

3EPARATELY� THE 'OVERNMENT CONlRMED IT HAD INCREASED AT 
/FCOM�S REQUEST THE MAXIMUM lNE /FCOM MAY IMPOSE ON 
OFFENDERS� FROM a����� TO a������� 

>`qflk ^d^fkpq oldrb fkqbokbq af^iibop

$URING THE PREVIOUS YEAR /FCOM RECEIVED AN INCREASED 
NUMBER OF  COMPLAINTS ABOUT ROGUE DIALLERS� MALIGN SOFTWARE 
WHICH CAN BECOME INSTALLED ON A COMPUTER WITHIN A DIAL
UP 
CONNECTION WHEN A USER OPENS SPAM EMAIL OR VISITS CERTAIN 
WEBSITES� 7ITHOUT THE USER�S KNOWLEDGE� THE DIALLERS TRANSFER 
EXISTING DIAL
UP CONNECTIONS FROM FREEPHONE OR LOW
COST 
NUMBERS TO MORE EXPENSIVE NUMBERS�

)N .OVEMBER� /FCOM PROPOSED TO EXTEND THE REACH OF
0REMIUM 2ATE 3ERVICES REQUIREMENTS� WHICH CURRENTLY 
GOVERN �� PREMIUM OR INTERNATIONAL NUMBERS� TO ENABLE THE 
PREMIUM RATE REGULATOR )#34)3 TO TAKE ACTION AGAINST THOSE 
LINKED TO ROGUE DIALLER USE n REGARDLESS OF  THE NUMBER USED 
OR THE CALL CHARGES INVOLVED� 

! STATEMENT WAS PUBLISHED AFTER THIS REPORTING PERIOD�

Slf`b lsbo Fkqbokbq Molql`li pbosf`bp

!T THE CLOSE OF  THIS REPORTING YEAR IT WAS ESTIMATED THAT THERE
WERE MORE THAN ������� ACTIVE RESIDENTIAL USERS OF  6OICE 
OVER )NTERNET 0ROTOCOL �6O)0	 SERVICES IN THE 5+� 4HESE 
SERVICES OFFER CUSTOMERS THE PROSPECT OF  LOWER
PRICED CALLS 
n PARTICULARLY CALLS FROM ONE 6O)0 SERVICE TO ANOTHER n AS  
WELL AS SERVICES SUCH AS CALL HANDLING AND UNIlED MESSAGING� 

)N &EBRUARY ����� /FCOM PROPOSED A CODE FOR 6O)0 
SERVICE PROVIDERS TO ENSURE THAT KEY INFORMATION ABOUT THE 
CAPABILITIES OF  THEIR SERVICES IS MADE AVAILABLE TO CONSUMERS�
/FCOM ALSO PROPOSED OTHER STEPS TO ENCOURAGE PROVIDERS  
TO OFFER ��� EMERGENCY CALLS� AND TO HELP THEM COMPLY  
WITH REGULATIONS ASSOCIATED WITH 0UBLICLY !VAILABLE 
4ELEPHONE 3ERVICES�

Qbib`ljjrkf`^qflkp
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!S A RESULT OF  COMPLAINTS FROM CONSUMERS CONCERNING 
THE COST OF  CALLING HOSPITAL PATIENTS� IN *ULY ���� /FCOM 
LAUNCHED AN INVESTIGATION INTO TWO PROVIDERS� 0ATIENTLINE 
AND 0REMIER� /FCOM FOUND THAT HIGH CALL PRICES �UP TO �� 
PENCE PER MINUTE PEAK AND �� PENCE PER MINUTE OFF
PEAK	 
WERE THE RESULT OF  A COMPLEX WEB OF  'OVERNMENT POLICY AND 
AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE PROVIDERS� THE .(3 AND INDIVIDUAL 
.(3 4RUSTS� 4HE INVESTIGATION ALSO FOCUSED ON A RECORDED 
MESSAGE AT THE START OF  THESE CALLS� AND THE EXCLUSIVITY AND 
LENGTH OF  AGREEMENTS BETWEEN .(3 4RUSTS� 0ATIENTLINE  
AND 0REMIER� 

)N LINE WITH THE /FlCE OF  &AIR 4RADING�S GUIDELINES� /FCOM 
SET OUT ITS CONCERNS AND RECOMMENDATIONS IN *ANUARY TO THE 
3ECRETARY OF  3TATE FOR (EALTH� )T ALSO RECOMMENDED THAT THE 
$EPARTMENT OF  (EALTH SHOULD REVIEW ALL ASPECTS OF  BEDSIDE 
TELEPHONE SERVICES �AND ENTERTAINMENT SYSTEMS	 IN HOSPITALS� 
THE COST OF  WHICH SEEMED TO BE BORNE DISPROPORTIONATELY  
BY FRIENDS AND FAMILY CALLING PATIENTS� 

&URTHER DETAILS OF  /FCOM�S INVESTIGATIONS PROGRAMME CAN  
BE FOUND ON PAGES �� TO ���

Krj_bofkd

Krj_bofkd obsfbt

4ELEPHONE NUMBERS ARE A VITAL n AND lNITE n NATIONAL 
RESOURCE� 4HEY UNDERPIN ALL TELECOMS SERVICES AND PLAY 
A KEY ROLE IN HOW 5+ HOUSEHOLDS AND BUSINESSES ACCESS 
AND PAY FOR a��BN
WORTH OF  SERVICES EVERY YEAR� 5NDER 
THE #OMMUNICATIONS !CT ����� /FCOM IS RESPONSIBLE FOR 
MANAGING THE 5+ .ATIONAL 4ELEPHONE .UMBERING 0LAN� 
AND PUBLISHED A REVIEW OF  THE 0LAN IN &EBRUARY�

/FCOM IDENTIlED SIX KEY PROPOSALS� DESIGNED TO ENCOURAGE 
GREATER INNOVATION� SUPPORT THE CREATION OF  NEW SERVICES� 
INCREASE CONSUMER AWARENESS AND STRENGTHEN CONSUMER 
PROTECTION� 4HEY WERE�

s A NEW COUNTRYWIDE NUMBER RANGE� ��� 4HIS WOULD BE 
CHARGED TO THE CONSUMER AT THE SAME RATE AS A GEOGRAPHIC 
NUMBER AND WOULD MEAN ORGANISATIONS WITH A NATIONAL 
PRESENCE COULD BE REACHED WITHOUT CHARGING CONSUMERS A 
PREMIUM� #ALLS TO �� NUMBERS COULD ALSO BE INCLUDED IN 

INCLUSIVE OR LOW
COST CALL PACKAGES OFFERED BY LANDLINE  
OR MOBILE PHONE COMPANIES�

s A NEW CONSUMER PROTECTION TEST� DENYING NUMBERS  
TO PROVIDERS WHO HAVE PREVIOUSLY ABUSED CONSUMER TRUST�

s A NEW �� NUMBER RANGE FOR PERSONALISED NUMBER 
SERVICES� REMOVING THE CONFUSION n AND POTENTIAL FOR SCAMS 
n BETWEEN THE CURRENT PERSONALISED NUMBER RANGE ���  
AND �� FOR MOBILES�

s A SIMPLIlED STRUCTURE OF  THE �� RANGE� BANDING NEW 
NUMBERS BY PRICE� &OR EXAMPLE� AN ��� NUMBER WOULD  
COST LESS TO CALL THAN AN ��� ONE�

s A SIMPLIlED STRUCTURE FOR �� PREMIUM RATE 
NUMBERS� AND

s A NEW ALLOCATION SYSTEM TO AVOID CHANGES TO 
GEOGRAPHIC NUMBERS IN THE FUTURE�

3EPARATELY� /FCOM LAUNCHED A PUBLIC AWARENESS CAMPAIGN  
TO HIGHLIGHT ,ONDON�S NEW ����	 � NUMBER RANGE� 4HE  
lRST OF  THESE NEW NUMBERS WERE RELEASED TO PROVIDERS  
IN SUMMER ����� 

&OR INFORMATION ON THE NUMBER OF  NUMBERING APPLICATIONS 
PROCESSED BY /FCOM� SEE PAGE �� OF  3ECTION #�

RZYR�S ^ka RZVV�W krj_bop

)NTRODUCED IN ����� ������ AND ������ NUMBERS �.UMBER 
4RANSLATION 3ERVICES OR .43	 ENABLE ACCESS TO A RANGE OF
SERVICES� FROM PAY
AS
YOU
GO INTERNET ACCESS AND TRAVEL 
ENQUIRIES TO TELE
VOTING AND PHONE BANKING� (OWEVER� THE 
GROWTH OF  THESE NON
GEOGRAPHIC CALLS HAS LED TO HIGH LEVELS  
OF  CONCERN AMONG CONSUMERS THAT SERVICES BASED ON .43 
ARE NOT CLEARLY PRICED AND MARKETED� 

/FCOM�S INITIAL PROPOSALS FOR .43 IN /CTOBER ���� LED TO A 
RANGE OF  RESPONSES FROM CONSUMERS AND PROVIDERS� AND SOME 
MARKED DISAGREEMENTS� )N 3EPTEMBER� /FCOM CONSULTED ON 
REVISED PROPOSALS INCLUDING�

s ����� AN END TO REVENUE
SHARING� /FCOM PROPOSED THAT 
CALLS TO ���� NUMBERS SHOULD BE PRICED THE SAME AS 
NATIONAL
RATE GEOGRAPHIC NUMBERS� EFFECTIVELY ENDING 
REVENUE
SHARING�

s ����� RECLASSIlED AS PREMIUM RATE� )#34)3 TO REGULATE 
���� NUMBERS� WITH COMPANIES USING THEM SUBJECT  
TO THE SAME REQUIREMENTS THAT APPLY TO �� NUMBERS�
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s ����� NO CHANGES FOR TWO YEARS� PROTECTING THE DIAL
UP� 
PAY
AS
YOU
GO INTERNET SERVICES USED BY MORE THAN lVE 
MILLION 5+ CUSTOMERS�

s ����� MORE TRANSPARENCY� WITH PROVIDERS REQUIRED TO 
PUBLISH DETAILED PRICING INFORMATION� /FCOM ALSO TO 
MONITOR CLOSELY SERVICES WHICH ARE BETTER SUITED TO  
OTHER NUMBER RANGES�

s IMPROVED INFORMATION� WITH PROVIDERS GIVING 
CONSUMERS BETTER INFORMATION ON THE COST OF  CALLING 
������� NUMBERS�

s /FCOM CONTINUING TO PROVIDE SUPPORT TO THE 
!DVERTISING 3TANDARDS !UTHORITY�#OMMITTEE OF
!DVERTISING 0RACTICE WITH THEIR GUIDANCE REQUIRING  
PRICING INFORMATION�

s ALL ADULT SERVICES TO BE CONlNED TO �� NUMBERS� AND 
SUBJECT TO REGULATION BY )#34)3� AND

s /FCOM REITERATED ITS RECOMMENDATION THAT PUBLIC 
BODIES SHOULD NOT USE THESE NUMBERS FOR PEOPLE ON LOW 
INCOMES OR OTHER VULNERABLE GROUPS� WITHOUT GIVING  
EQUAL PROMINENCE TO A GEOGRAPHIC ALTERNATIVE�

! STATEMENT ON .43 NUMBERS WAS PUBLISHED AFTER THE 
REPORTING PERIOD�

> klk*bjbodbk`v ÐSRSÑ krj_bo

)N RESPONSE TO A REQUEST FROM THE (OME /FlCE� /FCOM 
CONSULTED IN /CTOBER ON PROPOSALS TO MAKE THE PHONE 
NUMBER @���� AVAILABLE AS A SINGLE NON
EMERGENCY NUMBER 
IN THE 5+� !S PART OF  THE (OME /FlCE�S WIDER POLICE REFORM 
PROPOSALS� ��� WOULD GIVE THE PUBLIC A NUMBER THEY COULD 
USE TO REPORT CRIMINAL OR ANTISOCIAL BEHAVIOUR THAT WAS NOT 
CONSIDERED AN EMERGENCY� /FCOM CONlRMED THE ��� NUMBER 
IN A STATEMENT PUBLISHED IN -ARCH�

/FCOM DID NOT OFFER ANY VIEW ON A CALL CHARGE FOR THE SERVICE� 
4HE (OME /FlCE CONlRMED ITS PLANS TO CHARGE THE SERVICE  
AT A COMMON RATE OF  �� PENCE PER CALL ACROSS ALL NETWORKS� 
4HIS WAS SUBJECT TO DISCUSSIONS WITH NETWORK PROVIDERS�

Jl_fib qbib`ljp
4HE 5+ MOBILE SECTOR IS HIGHLY COMPETITIVE� WITH lVE 
NETWORK OPERATORS AND A NUMBER OF  VIRTUAL NETWORK 
OPERATORS IN THE MARKET� )N LINE WITH A REVIEW CARRIED OUT 
BY /FCOM�S PREDECESSOR /FTEL� WHICH FOUND THAT NO ONE 
COMPANY HAD SIGNIlCANT MARKET POWER� /FCOM�S INTERVENTION 
IN THE MARKET IS LIMITED AND FOCUSED ON SPECIlC CONSUMER 
PROTECTION OR MARKET GROWTH ISSUES�

Fkqbok^qflk^i ol^jfkd

)NTERNATIONAL ROAMING IS A SERVICE OFFERED BY MOBILE 
OPERATORS THAT ALLOWS CONSUMERS TO USE THEIR MOBILE PHONE 
ABROAD� 4O PROVIDE THIS SERVICE� 5+ MOBILE OPERATORS NEED 
TO MAKE USE OF  FOREIGN MOBILE NETWORKS FOR WHICH THEY INCUR 
A WHOLESALE CHARGE� 3IMILARLY� 5+ MOBILE OPERATORS PROVIDE 
WHOLESALE SERVICES TO FOREIGN OPERATORS TO ENABLE VISITORS TO 
USE THEIR MOBILE PHONE WHEN IN THE 5+�

$URING THE YEAR /FCOM UNDERTOOK PRELIMINARY WORK TO ASSESS 
THE WHOLESALE INTERNATIONAL ROAMING MARKET IN THE 5+� 
4HIS INCLUDED A SIGNIlCANT CONTRIBUTION TO THE WORK OF  THE 
%UROPEAN 2EGULATORS 'ROUP ON INTERNATIONAL ROAMING ISSUES 
AND� IN PARTICULAR� IN RESPONSE TO THE %UROPEAN #OMMISSION�S
PROPOSALS FOR REGULATION ANNOUNCED IN &EBRUARY ����� 

3EPARATELY� IN *ANUARY ����� /FCOM PUBLISHED A GUIDE TO 
HELP TRAVELLERS AND HOLIDAYMAKERS REDUCE THEIR COSTS WHEN 
USING A MOBILE ABROAD� 4HE GUIDE ALSO LISTED THE MOST 
COMMONLY AVAILABLE ROAMING TARIFFS FROM EACH OF  THE 5+�S 
lVE MOBILE NETWORK OPERATORS�

&URTHER DETAILS OF  /FCOM�S INTERNATIONAL WORK CAN BE FOUND 
ON PAGE ���

Jl_fib `^ii qbojfk^qflk `e^odb `lkqolip buqbkaba

#ONSUMERS HAVE NO CONTROL OVER THE AMOUNT MOBILE 
NETWORK OPERATORS CHARGE OTHER OPERATORS TO CONNECT A CALL 
TO A MOBILE PHONE� 4O PROTECT CONSUMERS� IN *UNE ����� 
/FCOM IMPOSED DIRECT CHARGE CONTROLS UPON THE �' MOBILE 
OPERATORS� 6ODAFONE� /RANGE� 4
-OBILE AND /�� )N *UNE 
����� /FCOM PROPOSED TO EXTEND THESE CONTROLS� DUE TO 
EXPIRE IN -ARCH ����� FOR A FURTHER �� MONTHS� 4HE CHARGE 
CONTROLS� WHICH REmECT THE DIFFERENCES IN SPECTRUM USED FOR 
�' SERVICES� WERE PROPOSED TO REMAIN AS FOLLOWS�

Qbib`ljjrkf`^qflkp
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s FOR 6ODAFONE AND /�� WHICH USE BOTH THE ��� -(Z AND 
���� -(Z BANDS� ���� PENCE PER MINUTE� AND

s FOR 4
-OBILE AND /RANGE� USING BANDS AT ���� -(Z�  
���� PENCE PER MINUTE�

4HE PROPOSALS WERE IMPLEMENTED IN $ECEMBER�

)N -ARCH ����� /FCOM PUBLISHED A SECOND CONSULTATION 
DOCUMENT PROPOSING TO CONTROL WHOLESALE MOBILE CALL 
TERMINATION CHARGES n WHERE THERE IS EVIDENCE OF  MARKET 
DOMINANCE n WHEN THE CURRENT REGULATION EXPIRES IN  
-ARCH ����� 

/FCOM ALSO PROPOSED THAT PRICE CONTROLS SHOULD BE IMPOSED 
ON DOMINANT OPERATORS CONNECTING CALLS TO �' NETWORKS  
�AS WELL AS �'	 BECAUSE OF  THE INCREASING VOLUME OF  CALLS�

Kbt pmb`qorj clo jl_fib pbosf`bp

)N ������ /FCOM MADE THE PREPARATIONS FOR ITS lRST 
SPECTRUM AUCTION� WHICH TOOK PLACE IN !PRIL� /FCOM 
AWARDED �� 7IRELESS 4ELEGRAPHY !CT LICENCES FOR THE 
SPECTRUM BAND ������
���� -(Z� PAIRED WITH ������
���� 
-(Z� 4HE LICENCES WERE AWARDED ON A TECHNOLOGY AND 
APPLICATION
NEUTRAL BASIS� ! NUMBER OF  LICENSEES EXPRESSED 
AN INTEREST IN OFFERING PRIVATE '3- NETWORKS IN OFlCE 
BUILDINGS AND CAMPUSES USING THE SPECTRUM�

&OR DETAILS OF  /FCOM�S SPECTRUM AWARDS PROGRAMME SEE 
PAGE ���
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)N .OVEMBER ����� /FCOM PUBLISHED ITS 3PECTRUM 
&RAMEWORK 2EVIEW� 4HIS SET OUT /FCOM�S INTENTION TO 
ENABLE MARKET FORCES TO PLAY A GREATER ROLE IN DETERMINING 
HOW SPECTRUM IS USED� MAXIMISING THE USE OF  THIS VALUABLE 
RESOURCE BY ENSURING A GREATER DEGREE OF  mEXIBILITY� 2ADIO 
SPECTRUM IS AN IMPORTANT n AND lNITE n NATIONAL ASSET� UPON 
WHICH NUMEROUS SERVICES� SUCH AS AVIATION� EMERGENCY 
SERVICES� MOBILE PHONES� TELEVISION AND RADIO� DEFENCE AND 
UTILITIES� DEPEND�

)N *ANUARY ����� /FCOM PUBLISHED ITS )MPLEMENTATION 0LAN 
FOR THE 3PECTRUM &RAMEWORK 2EVIEW� 4HIS FOCUSED ON� 

s SPECTRUM RELEASE� SETTING OUT A PROGRAMME THAT WILL MAKE 
AVAILABLE ��� -(Z OF  PRIME SPECTRUM IN THE NEXT FEW 
YEARS� AND

s TRADING AND LIBERALISATION� MAKING IT POSSIBLE FOR 
ORGANISATIONS TO BUY AND SELL SPECTRUM IN THE MARKET�  
WHILE REDUCING OR REMOVING THE RESTRICTIONS THAT LIMIT  
THE USE OF  SPECTRUM FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE OR TECHNOLOGY�

)N ������� /FCOM MADE SIGNIlCANT PROGRESS IN REALISING 
BOTH PARTS OF  THE )MPLEMENTATION 0LAN�

Pmb`qorj obib^pb
)N *ULY ����� /FCOM PUBLISHED PROPOSALS TO AWARD A NUMBER 
OF  LOW
POWER 7IRELESS 4ELEGRAPHY !CT LICENCES� BY MEANS  
OF  ITS lRST
EVER SPECTRUM AUCTION� 4HE SPECTRUM BAND 
������
���� -(Z� PAIRED WITH ������
���� -(Z� WOULD  
BE AWARDED ON A TECHNOLOGY AND APPLICATION
NEUTRAL BASIS  
IN ������� 

! NUMBER OF  ORGANISATIONS EXPRESSED INTEREST IN THESE BANDS� 
FOR USES SUCH AS PRIVATE '3- NETWORKS IN OFlCE BUILDINGS 
OR CAMPUSES� )N .OVEMBER� /FCOM PUBLISHED A POLICY 
STATEMENT� )NFORMATION -EMORANDUM AND DRAFT REGULATIONS 
REQUIRED TO HOLD THE AUCTION� )N &EBRUARY� IT CONlRMED THE 
REGULATIONS AND THESE CAME INTO FORCE IN -ARCH� 4HE AUCTION 
BEGAN LATER IN THE SAME MONTH WHEN �� COMPANIES MADE 
APPLICATIONS FOR THE SEVEN TO �� LICENCES ON OFFER� 4HE  
AUCTION WAS COMPLETED AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD AND  
�� LICENCES WERE AWARDED�

UR yLc`lj >kkr^i Obmloq TRRW�X ttt+lc`lj+lod+rh 
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)N /CTOBER� A SECOND AUCTION WAS ANNOUNCED� THE  
���
��� -(Z BAND� PAIRED WITH ���
��� -(Z� 4HE 
WIDE RANGE OF  POTENTIAL USES IDENTIlED FOR THIS BAND 
INCLUDED PRIVATE MOBILE RADIO� PUBLIC ACCESS MOBILE RADIO� 
PROGRAMME
MAKING AND SPECIAL EVENTS� /FCOM PUBLISHED 
A POLICY STATEMENT� )NFORMATION -EMORANDUM AND DRAFT 
REGULATIONS IN !PRIL ���� AND THE CONSULTATION ON THE 
PROPOSED REGULATIONS ENDED IN -AY �����

)N $ECEMBER ����� /FCOM ANNOUNCED A THIRD SPECTRUM 
AUCTION IN .ORTHERN )RELAND WITH THE #OMMISSION FOR 
#OMMUNICATION 2EGULATION IN THE 2EPUBLIC OF  )RELAND 
�#OM2EG	� 4HE TWO REGULATORS PROPOSED THAT LICENCES  
WOULD BE OFFERED BY AUCTION FOR FREQUENCIES IN THE  
����
���� -(Z BAND� WITH ITS POTENTIAL FOR INNOVATIVE 
SERVICES SUCH AS BROADBAND WIRELESS ACCESS� DIGITAL VIDEO 
LINKS� ##46� MOBILE TECHNOLOGIES AND WIRELESS MICROPHONES 
THROUGHOUT )RELAND� !FTER THE REPORTING PERIOD� /FCOM AND 
#OM2EG PUBLISHED AN )NFORMATION -EMORANDUM WITH 
DETAILS OF  THE AWARD PROCEDURE� RULES AND LICENCE CONDITIONS�

)N -ARCH ����� /FCOM ANNOUNCED A FOURTH AUCTION OF
LICENCES� FOR FREQUENCIES BETWEEN ����
���� -(Z ��� -(Z	� 
ON A TECHNOLOGY AND APPLICATION
NEUTRAL BASIS WITH A TARGET 
OF  MAKING AWARDS BY -ARCH ����� ! NUMBER OF  POSSIBLE 
USES FOR THE SPECTRUM WERE SUGGESTED INCLUDING MOBILE 
TELEVISION� BROADBAND WIRELESS ACCESS� SATELLITE DIGITAL RADIO�
PROGRAMME
MAKING AND SPECIAL EVENTS� 4HE DEADLINE FOR 
RESPONSES TO THESE PROPOSALS WAS SET FOR *UNE ����� AHEAD  
OF  A POSSIBLE AUCTION IN EARLY ����� 

$URING THE YEAR� /FCOM ALSO PREPARED DETAILED PROPOSALS  
FOR CONSULTATION ON AN AWARD OF  THE FREQUENCIES  
���
��� -(Z PAIRED WITH ���
��� -(Z� IN LINE WITH 
INITIAL PROPOSALS MADE IN THE 3PECTRUM &RAMEWORK 2EVIEW 
)MPLEMENTATION 0LAN� 4HE CONSULTATION DOCUMENT WAS 
PUBLISHED AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD�

/FCOM WAS ALSO INVOLVED IN DISCUSSIONS AT A %UROPEAN LEVEL 
ON SPECTRUM IDENTIlED FOR AWARD� WITH A PARTICULAR FOCUS 
BY THE 2ADIO 3PECTRUM #OMMITTEE ON THE ��� '(Z BAND�  
4HESE DISCUSSIONS ARE ONGOING� /FCOM IS AIMING TO MAKE AN 
AWARD IN ���� AND /FCOM APPOINTED EXTERNAL CONSULTANTS 
IN -ARCH ���� TO ASSIST WITH ANALYSING THE TECHNICAL AND 
ECONOMIC ISSUES RELATING TO THIS SPECTRUM�

Moldobpp lk pmb`qorj obib^pb TRRW�X

������
���� -(Z� PAIRED WITH ������
���� -(Z

n 0UBLISHED )NFORMATION -EMORANDUM AND 
REGULATIONS

n (ELD AUCTION� ONE ROUND OF  SEALED BIDS


n )SSUED �� 7IRELESS 4ELEGRAPHY !CT LICENCES


���
��� -(Z� PAIRED WITH ���
��� -(Z

n 0UBLISHED PROPOSALS FOR THE AWARD

n 0UBLISHED POLICY STATEMENT ON PROPOSED AUCTION


n )SSUED AN )NFORMATION -EMORANDUM
 

n 0UBLISHED DRAFT REGULATIONS
 

����
���� -(Z �.ORTHERN )RELAND	

n 0UBLISHED PROPOSALS FOR THE AWARD BY AUCTION IN 
CONJUNCTION WITH #OM2EG

����
���� -(Z ��� -(Z	

n 0UBLISHED PROPOSALS FOR THE AUCTION

���
��� -(Z BAND PAIRED WITH ���
��� -(Z

n 0UBLISHED PROPOSALS FOR THE AWARD BY AUCTION
 

��� '(Z 

n $ISCUSSIONS AT A %UROPEAN LEVEL 

n !PPOINTED CONSULTANTS TO ASSIST IN ANALYSING 
TECHNICAL AND ECONOMIC ISSUES

�
 !FTER REPORTING PERIOD	
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������ SAW THE lRST INSTANCES OF  SPECTRUM TRADING IN 
THE 5+� 3PECTRUM TRADING ALLOWS THE HOLDER OF  CERTAIN 
CATEGORIES OF  7IRELESS 4ELEGRAPHY !CT LICENCES TO TRANSFER 
ALL OR PART OF  THEIR RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS UNDER A LICENCE 
TO ANOTHER PARTY� )N THE YEAR TO �� -ARCH ����� /FCOM 
AUTHORISED THE TRANSFER OF  RIGHTS TO USE �� LICENCES�

/FCOM ALSO UNDERTOOK FURTHER WORK ON HOW THE TECHNICAL 
CONDITIONS IN SPECTRUM LICENCES COULD BE RElNED TO PROVIDE 
GREATER CERTAINTY� AND AT THE SAME TIME ALLOW GREATER 
mEXIBILITY OF  USE� 4HE PROPOSED 3PECTRUM 5SAGE 2IGHTS 
WOULD GIVE SPECTRUM USERS GREATER FREEDOM TO DECIDE HOW  
TO USE THE SPECTRUM THEY HOLD� WHILE LIMITING THE LEVELS  
OF  INTERFERENCE TO NEIGHBOURING USERS� ! CONSULTATION 
DOCUMENT WAS PUBLISHED AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD�

Afdfq^i ptfq`elsbo
/VER THE LAST THREE YEARS� CONSUMER TAKE
UP OF  DIGITAL 
BROADCASTING IN ALL ITS FORMS HAS INCREASED SUBSTANTIALLY� 
/FCOM�S RESEARCH SHOWS THAT THE 5+ HAS THE HIGHEST DIGITAL 
TELEVISION PENETRATION OF  ANY COUNTRY IN THE WORLD� "Y -ARCH
����� ���� PER CENT OF  TELEVISION HOUSEHOLDS WERE VIEWING 
DIGITAL TELEVISION ACROSS A VARIETY OF  PLATFORMS� DIGITAL  
SATELLITE� DIGITAL CABLE� DIGITAL TERRESTRIAL AND BROADBAND�

4HE 'OVERNMENT ANNOUNCED IN 3EPTEMBER ���� THAT 
ANALOGUE TELEVISION BROADCASTING WOULD BE PHASED OUT 
BETWEEN ���� AND ����� STARTING IN THE "ORDER REGION  
AND ROLLING OUT ACROSS THE 5+� ! NEW ORGANISATION� $IGITAL 
5+� WAS CREATED TO MANAGE THE TRANSITION� 4HESE DECISIONS 
WERE INFORMED IN PART BY RESEARCH AND CONSULTATION CARRIED 
OUT BY /FCOM� /FCOM IS WORKING WITH $IGITAL 5+� THE 
'OVERNMENT� BROADCASTERS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS TO 
IMPLEMENT THE SWITCHOVER PROGRAMME� 

/FCOM ANNOUNCED ITS COVERAGE PLANS IN *UNE ���� FOR 
$IGITAL 4ERRESTRIAL 4ELEVISION �$44	� ! RANGE OF  OPTIONS 
WERE CONSIDERED RELATING TO THE TECHNICAL CONDITIONS FOR $44 
SUCH AS POWER LEVELS� TRANSMISSION MODE AND THE NUMBER 
OF  TRANSMITTERS TO BE USED� /FCOM�S FAVOURED OPTION� WHICH 
WAS ACCEPTED BY THE 'OVERNMENT� WILL REQUIRE THAT THE THREE 
PUBLIC SERVICE MULTIPLEXES WILL PROVIDE $44 COVERAGE TO AT 
LEAST THE SAME PROPORTION OF  HOUSEHOLDS ����� PER CENT	 THAT 

ARE CURRENTLY REACHED BY ANALOGUE PUBLIC SERVICE BROADCASTS� 
4HIS WILL ENSURE THAT� AFTER SWITCHOVER� 5+ HOUSEHOLDS WILL 
HAVE ACCESS TO ""#�� ""#�� )46� AND #HANNEL ��3�# AS 
WELL AS TO NEW CHANNELS ON TERRESTRIAL TELEVISION� /FCOM IS 
ALSO RESEARCHING WAYS TO PROVIDE BETTER ADVICE ON OPTIONS FOR 
DIGITAL TELEVISION RECEPTION TO ALL 5+ HOUSEHOLDS� WORKING IN 
CONJUNCTION WITH $IGITAL 5+� THE $EPARTMENT OF  4RADE AND 
)NDUSTRY AND THE ""#� 

Qeb afdfq^i afsfabka

4HE SWITCHOVER TO DIGITAL WILL DELIVER A SIGNIlCANT SPECTRUM 
DIVIDEND AS FREQUENCIES USED FOR ANALOGUE BROADCASTING ARE 
RELEASED FOR OTHER USES� 4HE lVE TERRESTRIAL ANALOGUE CHANNELS 
CURRENTLY USE JUST OVER ONE
THIRD OF  THE MOST VALUABLE BANDS 
OF  SPECTRUM BELOW � '(Z� $IGITAL BROADCASTING IS SIX TIMES 
MORE EFlCIENT THAN ANALOGUE� OPENING UP THE POTENTIAL TO 
RELEASE UP TO ��� -(Z OF  SPECTRUM IN THE 5(& BAND FOR 
NEW USES�

4HE 5(& BAND IS PRIME SPECTRUM� IT OFFERS A VALUABLE 
BALANCE BETWEEN CAPACITY �BANDWIDTH	 AND RANGE� )T IS 
SOUGHT
AFTER FOR A WIDE RANGE OF  SERVICES LIKELY TO BE USED  
BY MILLIONS OF  PEOPLE EVERY DAY�

)N .OVEMBER� /FCOM ANNOUNCED A $IGITAL $IVIDEND 
2EVIEW TO EXAMINE THE OPPORTUNITIES FOR INNOVATION WHICH 
SWITCHOVER AND THE RELEASE OF  VALUABLE SPECTRUM WILL 
PROVIDE� (ISTORICALLY� ALL USES OF  SPECTRUM WERE DECIDED BY 
THE 'OVERNMENT OR A GOVERNMENT AGENCY� (OWEVER� THIS 
COMMAND
AND
CONTROL APPROACH PROVED INmEXIBLE TO CHANGES 
IN TECHNOLOGY AND MARKETS� 

/FCOM�S STARTING ASSUMPTION FOR THIS RELEASE OF  SPECTRUM WILL 
BE A MARKET
LED APPROACH TO ENSURE THAT THIS RESOURCE GOES 
TO THE PEOPLE AND ORGANISATIONS WHO HAVE THE MOST VALUABLE 
USE FOR IT� (OWEVER� /FCOM WILL ALSO CONSIDER WHETHER THERE 
ARE CIRCUMSTANCES WHERE A MARKET
LED APPROACH MAY NOT 
NECESSARILY LEAD TO AN OPTIMAL OUTCOME FOR THE 5+ AS A 
WHOLE� )F  RELEVANT� /FCOM WILL IDENTIFY APPROPRIATE MEANS 
WHICH MAY BE USED TO RECTIFY ANY MARKET FAILURES REVEALED  
BY THE 2EVIEW�

%FFECTIVE EXPLOITATION OF  THE DIGITAL DIVIDEND COULD ENABLE  
THE LAUNCH OF  A WIDE RANGE OF  DIFFERENT SERVICES� 4HESE  
COULD INCLUDE�   

Pmb`qorj
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s NEW VIDEO AND INTERACTIVE MOBILE SERVICES DELIVERED TO 
HANDHELD DEVICES�

s WIRELESS BROADBAND SERVICES� WITH HIGH
SPEED DATA AND 
VOICE SERVICES�

s WIDER COVERAGE FOR ADVANCED SERVICES IN REMOTE AREAS�

s ADVANCED BUSINESS AND BROADCASTING SERVICES� AND

s NEW TELEVISION CHANNELS� WHICH COULD BE STANDARD OR HIGH 
DElNITION� 

/FCOM WILL LAUNCH A CONSULTATION ON THE $$2 IN THE lNAL 
QUARTER OF  �����

Abobdri^qflk ^ka if`bk`b bubjmqflk

>j^qbro o^afl if`bkpfkd obcloj

7ITH MORE THAN ������ AMATEUR RADIO USERS IN THE 5+� THERE 
IS A SIGNIlCANT ADMINISTRATIVE BURDEN n FOR BOTH LICENSEES  
AND /FCOM n IN RENEWING PAPER
BASED LICENCES EVERY YEAR�  

/FCOM THEREFORE ANNOUNCED PROPOSALS IN -AY ���� TO 
REFORM THE LICENSING SYSTEM BY REPLACING EXISTING LICENCES 
WITH A NEW LOW
COST LICENCE WHICH IS BOTH ELECTRONIC AND 
VALID FOR LIFE�

/FCOM AUGMENTED THE FORMAL CONSULTATION PROCESS BY 
COMMISSIONING -/2) TO CANVASS THE VIEWS OF  AMATEUR  
RADIO LICENCE HOLDERS� 7HEN SPECIlCALLY ASKED ABOUT  
/FCOM�S PROPOSALS TO ISSUE LIFETIME LICENCES� �� PER CENT  
OF  RESPONDENTS SUPPORTED THE IDEA�

)N &EBRUARY� /FCOM CONCLUDED THAT IT WOULD�

s ISSUE AMATEUR RADIO LICENCES WHICH WILL REMAIN VALID FOR 
LIFE� AS LONG AS THE LICENCE DETAILS REMAIN CORRECT� OR UNTIL 
THE LICENCE IS REVOKED BY /FCOM OR SURRENDERED BY THE 
LICENSEE� 

s REQUIRE LICENSEES TO CONlRM THEIR LICENCE DETAILS AT LEAST 
ONCE EVERY lVE YEARS� 

s PROVIDE AN ONLINE LICENSING SERVICE AS AN ALTERNATIVE TO THE 
POSTAL SERVICE� 

s ISSUE ELECTRONIC LICENCES TO USERS OF  THE ONLINE LICENSING 
SERVICE� AND 

s CONTINUE TO MAKE PAPER LICENCES AVAILABLE� SUBJECT TO AN 
ADMINISTRATIVE CHARGE� 

PefmpÑ o^afl if`bkpfkd pfjmifÚba 

)N $ECEMBER ����� /FCOM ANNOUNCED A SIMPLER AND 
MODERNISED APPROACH TO THE LICENSING OF  SHIPS� RADIO�  
WHICH IS USED FOR SAFE NAVIGATION AND DISTRESS CALLS IN 
EMERGENCIES� ,ICENCES WOULD BE GRANTED FOR THE LIFETIME  
OF  A PARTICULAR VESSEL UNDER THE SAME OWNER AND WOULD 
BE ISSUED ONLINE FREE OF  CHARGE� WITH A POSTAL OPTION ALSO 
AVAILABLE� ,ICENSEES WILL ALSO BE ASKED TO CONlRM THEIR  
DETAILS AT LEAST ONCE EVERY TEN YEARS�

/FCOM BELIEVES THAT THIS WILL REDUCE THE ADMINISTRATIVE 
BURDEN ON THE 5+�S ������ MARITIME LICENSEES�

"OTH SHIPS� RADIO AND AMATEUR RADIO LICENCES ARE CURRENTLY 
PROCESSED BY THE 2ADIO ,ICENSING #ENTRE� A WHOLLY
OWNED 
SUBSIDIARY OF  2OYAL -AIL 'ROUP� $URING ������� /FCOM 
GAVE NOTICE THAT IT INTENDS TO ADMINISTER THIS FUNCTION DIRECTLY 
IN THE FUTURE� LED BY THE /FCOM ,ICENSING #ENTRE �/,#	�

&OR INFORMATION ON THE NUMBER AND TYPE OF  SPECTRUM 
LICENCES ISSUED� SEE PAGES ��
�� OF  3ECTION #� FOR DETAILS  
OF  LICENSING KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS� SEE PAGE �� OF
3ECTION #� &OR INFORMATION ABOUT SPECTRUM LICENSING CASES 
AND COMPLAINTS HANDLED BY THE /FCOM #ONTACT #ENTRE�
SEE PAGE �� OF  THIS SECTION�

O^afl Cobnrbk`v FabkqfÚ`^qflk

2ADIO &REQUENCY )DENTIlCATION �2&)$	 IS A GENERIC TERM 
FOR TECHNOLOGIES THAT USE RADIO WAVES TO IDENTIFY OBJECTS� 
5NLIKE BARCODES OR MAGNETIC STRIPS� THEY DO NOT NEED TO 
BE IN THE LINE OF  SIGHT OF  A READER� MAKING THEM IDEAL FOR 
APPLICATIONS AS DIVERSE AS LAUNDRY TAGS� TOLL ROAD PAYMENT 
SYSTEMS AND THEFT PROTECTION IN SHOPS� !DVANCED USES ARE ALSO 
IN PROSPECT� IN SUPPLY CHAINS� FOR EXAMPLE� GREATER EFlCIENCIES
THROUGH 2&)$ TAGS COULD MEAN LOWER COSTS FOR INDUSTRY 
AND CONSUMERS� 2&)$ CAN ALSO BE USED TO CARRY PERSONAL 
OWNERSHIP INFORMATION AND DETER THEFT�    

4HE %UROPEAN #ONFERENCE OF  0OSTAL AND 
4ELECOMMUNICATIONS !DMINISTRATIONS �#%04	 RESPONDED TO 
THIS GROWING USE OF  2&)$ TECHNOLOGIES BY RECOMMENDING 
THAT MORE SPECTRUM BE MADE AVAILABLE AT ���
��� -(Z� 
)N !UGUST ����� /FCOM PROPOSED TO IMPLEMENT THE 
RECOMMENDATION AND� IN LINE WITH ITS STATUTORY DUTIES� 
EXEMPT 2&)$ EQUIPMENT FROM 7IRELESS 4ELEGRAPHY !CT 
LICENSING SINCE IT WAS UNLIKELY TO INTERFERE WITH OTHER USERS 
OF  THE SPECTRUM�   
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/FCOM ANNOUNCED IN .OVEMBER REGULATIONS GOVERNING 
POWER LEVELS� FREQUENCY BANDS AND ANTENNA THAT WOULD MAKE 
INTERFERENCE UNLIKELY� !N IMPACT ASSESSMENT ALSO SUGGESTED 
THAT POTENTIAL NET BENElTS TO BUSINESSES AND CONSUMERS COULD 
RANGE BETWEEN a���M AND a���M OVER TEN YEARS� 4HE 
2&)$ %XEMPTION 2EGULATIONS CAME INTO FORCE ON �� *ANUARY 
����� ALLOWING 2&)$ TAGS TO BE USED WITHOUT A LICENCE� 

Pmb`qorj bkclo`bjbkq

Fiibd^i _ol^a`^pqfkd

)LLEGAL BROADCASTING CAUSES SERIOUS SAFETY ISSUES DUE TO 
INTERFERENCE WITH THE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS USED BY SAFETY

OF
LIFE SERVICES SUCH AS THE lRE BRIGADE AND AIR TRAFlC CONTROL� 
4HE PROBLEM IS MOST ACUTE IN LARGE TOWNS AND CITIES� MORE 
THAN �� PER CENT OF  THE ESTIMATED ��� ILLEGAL BROADCASTERS 
�SO
CALLED @PIRATE� RADIO STATIONS	 ARE LOCATED IN ,ONDON� 

$URING ������ /FCOM CARRIED OUT TWO MAJOR OPERATIONS 
AGAINST THE ILLEGAL BROADCASTERS�

)N .OVEMBER� /FCOM ANNOUNCED THE RESULTS OF  AN OPERATION 
IN 'REATER ,ONDON TO TAKE ILLEGAL BROADCASTERS OFF
AIR� 
3OME �� ILLEGAL TRANSMITTERS WERE SEIZED� �� TRANSMITTERS 
AND AERIALS DISABLED� AND �� ILLEGAL BROADCASTERS CEASED 
TRANSMITTING� 4HE OPERATION INVOLVED �� /FCOM lELD 
OPERATIONS COLLEAGUES WORKING WITH �� -ETROPOLITAN  
0OLICE OFlCERS�   

)N $ECEMBER� /FCOM ANNOUNCED A SIMILAR OPERATION IN THE 
7EST -IDLANDS� 3IX STUDIOS USED BY ILLEGAL BROADCASTERS WERE 
RAIDED AND EQUIPMENT SEIZED� TEN TRANSMITTERS WERE REMOVED 
AND THREE PEOPLE WERE ARRESTED� 4HE OPERATION INVOLVED  
�� /FCOM lELD OPERATIONS COLLEAGUES WORKING WITH SEVEN 
7EST -IDLANDS 0OLICE OFlCERS�

)N THE YEAR TO �� -ARCH ����� /FCOM CONDUCTED  
��� SEPARATE OPERATIONS AGAINST ��� ILLEGAL BROADCASTERS  
IN THE 5+� /FCOM INVESTIGATIONS LED TO THE PROSECUTION  
OF  �� PEOPLE� 

Fiibd^i bnrfmjbkq

/FCOM IS RESPONSIBLE FOR TAKING ACTION AGAINST THE SALE 
AND MANUFACTURE OF  EQUIPMENT THAT IS NOT COMPLIANT WITH 
THE %UROPEAN 2ADIO AND 4ELECOMMUNICATIONS 4ERMINAL 
%QUIPMENT $IRECTIVE� OR THE 7IRELESS 4ELEGRAPHY !CT ����� 
.ON
COMPLIANT EQUIPMENT CAN CAUSE INTERFERENCE AND 
NUISANCE TO LEGITIMATE RADIO USERS�

$URING ������ /FCOM CARRIED OUR RAIDS AND SEIZURES  
OF  ILLEGAL EQUIPMENT INCLUDING MOBILE PHONE AND  
##46 JAMMING DEVICES� AND BUGGING EQUIPMENT� 

&OR DETAILS OF  /FCOM�S 3PECTRUM /PERATIONS WORK 
PROGRAMME AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS�
SEE PAGE �� OF  3ECTION #�

Pmb`qorj
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?ol^a`^pqfkd @lab
!UDIENCES RIGHTLY DEMAND HIGH STANDARDS FROM TELEVISION 
AND RADIO BROADCASTERS LICENSED BY /FCOM� (ISTORICALLY� 
THE BROADCASTING RULES WERE COVERED IN SIX SEPARATE CODES 
SET BY THE PREVIOUS REGULATORS� (OWEVER� THE CODES WERE 
OUT OF  STEP WITH CHANGES IN MODERN SOCIETY� TOO COMPLEX 
FOR BROADCASTERS AND THE PUBLIC TO USE� AND� IN MANY CASES� 
RENDERED OBSOLETE BY CHANGES IN LEGISLATION�

3ECTION ��� OF  THE #OMMUNICATIONS !CT ���� AND 3ECTIONS 
��� AND ��� OF  THE "ROADCASTING !CT ���� REQUIRE /FCOM 
TO CREATE A #ODE TO SET STANDARDS FOR BROADCASTERS TO OBSERVE�
4HIS #ODE SHOULD COVER AREAS SUCH AS HARM AND OFFENCE� 
ACCURACY AND IMPARTIALITY AND FAIRNESS AND PRIVACY� 

)N -AY ����� /FCOM PUBLISHED ITS "ROADCASTING #ODE 
n A SINGLE� SIMPLIlED FRAMEWORK OF  RULES AND PRINCIPLES 
FOR BROADCASTERS� 4HE #ODE WAS DEVELOPED AT A TIME OF
CHANGE IN THE DISTRIBUTION OF  CONTENT� THE MAJORITY OF
HOUSEHOLDS NOW HAVE ACCESS TO DIGITAL TELEVISION AND RADIO� 
AND PROGRAMMING IS INCREASINGLY BEING DELIVERED OVER THE 
INTERNET� 4HESE DEVELOPMENTS� CHANGING PATTERNS OF  USE AND 
WIDER DEVELOPMENTS IN SOCIAL ATTITUDES TO BROADCASTING HAVE
CHANGED AUDIENCE EXPECTATIONS� 

7HILE AUDIENCES MAY WELCOME CHALLENGING AND CREATIVE 
CONTENT� THEY ALSO WANT STANDARDS TO BE MAINTAINED AND� IN 
PARTICULAR� CHILDREN TO BE PROTECTED FROM UNSUITABLE MATERIAL� 
/FCOM�S DUTY IS TO PROTECT THE UNDER
��S� A RESPONSIBILITY 
THAT IS SHARED WITH PARENTS� THOSE WHO LOOK AFTER CHILDREN  
AND YOUNG PEOPLE� AND THE BROADCASTERS�

4HE KEY POINTS OF  THE NEW #ODE� WHICH CAME INTO EFFECT  
ON �� *ULY ����� INCLUDE� 
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s (ARM AND OFFENCE� 4HE CONCEPT OF  TASTE AND DECENCY 
HAS BEEN REPLACED BY @HARM AND OFFENCE�� 4HE #ODE ALLOWS 
BROADCASTERS TO TRANSMIT CHALLENGING MATERIAL� EVEN IF  IT 
IS SEEN BY SOME AS OFFENSIVE� (OWEVER� THE MATERIAL MUST 
BE JUSTIlED BY THE CONTEXT AND THE AUDIENCE MUST BE GIVEN 
APPROPRIATE INFORMATION TO HELP AVOID OR MINIMISE OFFENCE� 
#HILDREN SHOULD BE PROTECTED BY APPROPRIATE SCHEDULING� 
&OR THE lRST TIME IN A BROADCASTING CODE� THE IMPORTANCE 
OF  CONTEXT WAS HIGHLIGHTED�

s #OMMERCIAL REFERENCES� /FCOM HAS DEREGULATED 
SIGNIlCANTLY IN THE AREA OF  SPONSORSHIP AND COMMERCIAL 
REFERENCES� WHILE MAINTAINING THE OVERRIDING PRINCIPLE OF
EDITORIAL INDEPENDENCE� 0RODUCT PLACEMENT ON TELEVISION 
CONTINUES TO BE PROHIBITED� ALTHOUGH /FCOM ACKNOWLEDGES 
THE PRESSURE ON BROADCAST ADVERTISING AS A KEY SOURCE OF
FUNDING FOR BROADCASTERS� 4HIS IS SUBJECT TO CONSULTATION 
AND IS COVERED IN THE 4ELEVISION SECTION OF  THIS REPORT�

s 0ROTECTING THE YOUNG� ! NEW SECTION PUTS GREATER 
EMPHASIS ON SAFEGUARDING THIS GROUP� AND IN PARTICULAR 
CHILDREN �DElNED AS UNDER
��S	 WHO MUST BE PROTECTED BY 
APPROPRIATE SCHEDULING� /THER MEANS OF  PROTECTION INCLUDE 
MANDATORY 0).
ACCESSED PROGRAMMING� WHICH /FCOM 
BELIEVES CAN ALLOW MORE VIEWER CHOICE n FOR EXAMPLE� 
��
CERTIlCATE lLMS CAN NOW BE BROADCAST �� HOURS A DAY 
n WHILE PROTECTING CHILDREN� (OWEVER� WITH EVIDENCE THAT 
SOME CHILDREN ACCESS THEIR PARENTS� OR CARERS� 0). NUMBERS 
WITHOUT THEIR KNOWLEDGE� THE #ODE DOES NOT ALLOW 2�� 
MATERIAL �@HARD
CORE� PORNOGRAPHY	 TO BE BROADCAST� 

&OR DETAILS ON PROGRAMME COMPLAINTS� FAIRNESS AND PRIVACY� 
AND CONTENT AND STANDARDS CASES� SEE PAGE �� OF  3ECTION #� 
&OR CASES AND COMPLAINTS HANDLED BY THE /FCOM #ONTACT 
#ENTRE� SEE PAGE �� OF  THIS SECTION�

Jbaf^ ifqbo^`v
4HE #OMMUNICATIONS !CT ���� REQUIRES /FCOM TO PROMOTE 
MEDIA LITERACY� WHICH /FCOM DElNES AS @THE ABILITY TO ACCESS� 
UNDERSTAND AND CREATE COMMUNICATIONS IN A VARIETY OF
CONTEXTS� AND IT IS SPECIlCALLY REFERENCED IN THE NEW /FCOM 
"ROADCASTING #ODE�

)N ������ /FCOM PUBLISHED ITS PLANS FOR MEETING THIS DUTY� 
WITH A MEDIA LITERACY AUDIT AS A KEY PRIORITY� )N -ARCH ����� 
/FCOM PUBLISHED RESULTS OF  THIS RESEARCH� WHICH SOUGHT THE 
VIEWS OF  ����� PEOPLE FROM ACROSS THE 5+� FOCUSING ON THE 
FOUR MAIN DIGITAL PLATFORMS �AND� WHERE RELEVANT� ANALOGUE 
46 AND RADIO	� 

4HE AUDIT IDENTIlED A NUMBER OF  THEMES� INCLUDING CONCERN 
ABOUT CONTENT ON DIFFERENT PLATFORMS� DIFFERENT AGE GROUPS� 
ABILITY TO ACCESS MEDIA AND COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES� AND 
AWARENESS OF  DIGITAL SERVICES�

3PECIlC REPORTS ON MEDIA LITERACY AMONG CHILDREN� MINORITY 
ETHNIC GROUPS� OLDER PEOPLE� PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES AND 
THOSE IN THE DEVOLVED .ATIONS AND THE %NGLISH REGIONS WERE 
PUBLISHED BETWEEN -ARCH AND -AY �����
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3PONSORSHIP OF  COMMERCIAL TELEVISION AND RADIO PROGRAMMES 
IS NOW A FAMILIAR PART OF  THE BROADCASTING LANDSCAPE� HAVING 
BEEN PERMITTED FOR MORE THAN �� YEARS� )N &EBRUARY ����� 
/FCOM CONSULTED ON PROPOSALS TO ALLOW SPONSORSHIP OF
COMMERCIAL TELEVISION CHANNELS AND RADIO STATIONS� 4HE 
CONSULTATION PROPOSED THAT CHANNEL AND STATION SPONSORSHIP 
BE PERMITTED SUBJECT TO THE FOLLOWING RESTRICTIONS�

s NO TELEVISION CHANNEL OR RADIO STATION THAT CARRIES NEWS 
�AND FOR TELEVISION� CURRENT AFFAIRS	 MAY BE SPONSORED�

s NO ORGANISATION PREVENTED FROM SPONSORING PROGRAMMES 
n FOR EXAMPLE� A TOBACCO COMPANY n MAY SPONSOR A 
CHANNEL OR STATION�  

s NO ORGANISATION EXCLUDED FROM SPONSORING A PROGRAMME 
TYPE MAY SPONSOR A CHANNEL OR STATION THAT CARRIES THAT 
PARTICULAR KIND OF  PROGRAMMING� 

s NEITHER THE SPONSOR OF  A CHANNEL OR STATION� NOR ITS 
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES� MAY BE GIVEN UNDUE PROMINENCE  
ON THAT CHANNEL OR STATION� AND 

s A SPONSOR�S NAME SHOULD NOT BE INCORPORATED INTO THE 
CHANNEL OR STATION NAME�

4HE CONSULTATION CLOSED IN !PRIL �����
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4HE #OMMUNICATIONS !CT REQUIRES /FCOM TO PROMOTE 
TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT ACROSS THE BROADCASTING INDUSTRY� 
AND IN -AY ���� /FCOM APPOINTED 2ALPH 4ABBERER�  
#HIEF  %XECUTIVE OF  THE 4EACHER 4RAINING !GENCY� AS THE  
lRST #HAIRMAN OF  THE "ROADCASTING 4RAINING AND 3KILLS 
2EGULATOR �"432	� 

4HE "432 IS A NEW JOINT INITIATIVE BETWEEN /FCOM AND 
3KILLSET �THE 3ECTOR 3KILLS #OUNCIL FOR THE !UDIO 6ISUAL 
)NDUSTRIES	 TO CREATE A CO
REGULATORY SYSTEM FOR TRAINING  
AND DEVELOPMENT� 

)N *ULY� SIX NEW MEMBERS OF  THE "432 WERE ANNOUNCED� 
TO SERVE ALONGSIDE 2ALPH 4ABBERER AND BRING EXPERIENCE 
IN TRAINING� BUSINESS� EDUCATION� PUBLIC SERVICE AND VARIOUS 
BROADCASTING SECTORS� 

4HE "432 HAS�

s STARTED WORK TO DEVELOP A NEW METHOD OF  ASSESSING TRAINING 
PROVISION IN THE INDUSTRY� WITH AN EMPHASIS ON ESTABLISHING 
HOW TRAINING CAN BENElT BROADCASTERS�

s REACHED AN AGREEMENT WITH TELEVISION BROADCASTERS 
ON A NEW METHOD OF  FUNDING THE TRAINING OF  FREELANCE 
PROFESSIONALS� AND

s STARTED WORK ON RESEARCHING THE SKILLS GAPS AND TRAINING 
NEEDS IN THE COMMERCIAL RADIO SECTOR�

/FCOM ALSO PUBLISHED ITS EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES @TOOLKIT� FOR 
BROADCASTERS� )T CONTAINS PRACTICAL ADVICE� EXAMPLES OF  BEST 
PRACTICE AND OTHER SUGGESTIONS DESIGNED TO HELP BROADCASTERS 
BENElT FROM THE EXPERIENCES OF OTHERS� 4HE #OMMUNICATIONS 
!CT REQUIRES /FCOM TO PROMOTE THE IMPORTANCE OF  EQUAL 
OPPORTUNITIES AND ENSURE THAT EVERY LICENSED BROADCASTING 
ORGANISATION HAS FORMAL ARRANGEMENTS IN PLACE�
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/FCOM COMPLETED ITS REVIEW OF  PUBLIC SERVICE BROADCASTING 
�03"	 IN ������� )T CONCLUDED THAT THERE WERE THREE 
OVERARCHING THEMES OF  03"� A COMPETITIVE MARKETPLACE�  
A PLURALITY OF  03" COMMISSIONING AND PRODUCTION� AND  
A SUFlCIENTLY mEXIBLE SYSTEM FOR THE PROVISION OF  03" TO 
CHANGE OVER TIME AS THE NEEDS OF  CITIZENS EVOLVE�

4HE REVIEW SAID THAT THE ""# SHOULD REMAIN AT THE HEART OF
03"� FUNDED BY THE LICENCE FEE MODEL� )T SHOULD ALSO HAVE A 
SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY TO INVEST IN DISTINCTIVE CONTENT WHICH 
STRIVES TO MEET PUBLIC SERVICE PURPOSES AND CHARACTERISTICS�

)N *UNE ����� /FCOM ALSO PUBLISHED ITS RESPONSE TO THE 
'OVERNMENT�S 'REEN 0APER ON THE 2EVIEW OF  THE ""# 2OYAL 
#HARTER� 4HE SUBMISSION SAID THAT THE 'OVERNMENT SHOULD 
ASSURE THE FUTURE OF  03"� WITH THE ""# AS THE CORNERSTONE 
OF  THE SYSTEM� BUT WITH A RANGE OF  OTHER COMPETING SUPPLIERS 
OF  PROGRAMMING AND CONTENT ABLE TO PROSPER THROUGH THE 
TRANSITION TO DIGITAL TELEVISION� /FCOM SAID THAT IT IS ESSENTIAL 
THAT THE ""# IS NOT ALLOWED TO BECOME ISOLATED IN A GROWING 
n AND EXCLUSIVELY COMMERCIALLY
FOCUSED n SECTOR� 

/FCOM ALSO RECOMMENDED THAT THE 'OVERNMENT SHOULD� 

s EXAMINE POTENTIAL SOURCES OF  FUNDING n AND NEW MODELS 
OF  ACCOUNTABILITY n TO lNANCE PUBLIC SERVICE PROGRAMMING 
AND CONTENT BEYOND THAT OF  THE ""#� AND

s ENSURE ITS REVIEW OF  PUBLIC SERVICE FUNDING IS BROUGHT 
FORWARD� TO BE COMPLETED BY ����� TWO YEARS AHEAD 
OF  THE COMPLETED DIGITAL SWITCHOVER�

)N -ARCH ����� THE 'OVERNMENT PUBLISHED ITS 7HITE 
0APER ON THE FUTURE OF  THE ""#� )T SAID THAT THE ""# 
WILL BE OVERSEEN BY A NEW 4RUST� SEPARATE FROM THE ""# 
MANAGEMENT� 4HE 7HITE PAPER ALSO SAID THAT�

s NEW ""# SERVICES n AND SIGNIlCANT CHANGES TO EXISTING 
""# SERVICES n WILL BE SUBJECT TO A NEW PUBLIC VALUE TEST� 
4HIS TEST WILL INCLUDE A MARKET IMPACT ASSESSMENT TO BE 
CARRIED OUT BY /FCOM� AND 

s A NEW APPROACH TO COMPETITION REGULATION OF  THE ""# 
SHOULD BE ESTABLISHED� )N CONSULTATION WITH /FCOM� THE 
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4RUST WILL BE REQUIRED TO DRAW UP AND OPERATE A NEW 
SYSTEM OF  CODES IN SPECIlC AREAS �FOR EXAMPLE� CROSS 
PROMOTION	 WHICH RAISE POTENTIAL COMPETITION CONCERNS�

/FCOM HAS STARTED WORK WITH THE ""# 'OVERNANCE 5NIT  
ON THE PRACTICAL IMPLEMENTATION OF  THE NEW ARRANGEMENTS� 

4HE 7HITE 0APER ALSO EXPRESSED SUPPORT FOR CONTINUED 
PLURALITY IN THE PROVISION OF  03" TO AND THROUGH DIGITAL 
SWITCHOVER� AND COMMITTED THE 'OVERNMENT TO A REVIEW 
WITHIN THE NEXT #HARTER PERIOD OF  THE WIDER USE OF  PUBLIC 
MONEY n INCLUDING LICENCE FEE MONEY n TO SUPPORT 03" 
BEYOND THE ""#� )N ADDITION� THE 7HITE 0APER WELCOMED 
/FCOM�S FURTHER WORK IN THIS AREA n NAMELY� MORE DETAILED 
WORK ON THE 0UBLIC 3ERVICE 0UBLISHER AND THE lNANCIAL 
REVIEW OF  #HANNEL �� /FCOM COMMITTED TO FURTHER WORK 
ON THESE ISSUES IN ITS !NNUAL 0LAN FOR ������� 4HE WORK 
WILL SEEK TO DElNE HOW THE 0UBLIC 3ERVICE 0UBLISHER COULD 
OPERATE IN PRACTICE� AND ON THE FUTURE PROSPECTS FOR  
#HANNEL � AS A 03"� 

Qbibsfpflk molar`qflk

4HE 5+ HAS SOME OF  THE HIGHEST LEVELS OF  @HOME
GROWN� 
TELEVISION IN THE WORLD� 5+ TELEVISION PRODUCERS MADE 
MORE THAN ������ HOURS OF  PROGRAMMES DURING ����� WITH 
BROADCASTERS SPENDING MORE THAN a��� BN �EXCLUDING NEWS	 
ON PROGRAMMING SPECIlCALLY CREATED AND BROADCAST BY THEM� 

5NDER THE #OMMUNICATIONS !CT� /FCOM IS REQUIRED TO 
ENSURE A DIVERSITY OF  PROGRAMME SUPPLY AND A BROAD 
REPRESENTATION OF  THE COMMUNITIES AND CULTURES OF  THE 5+� 

)N *ANUARY ����� /FCOM PUBLISHED A REVIEW OF  THE 5+�S 
TELEVISION PRODUCTION SECTOR� )TS MAIN PROPOSALS WERE TO�

s RETAIN THE �� PER CENT QUOTA FOR INDEPENDENT PRODUCTION 
n AN IMPORTANT SOURCE OF  CERTAINTY FOR THE SECTOR n FOR AT 
LEAST THE NEXT lVE YEARS�

s SUPPORT THE ""#�S 7INDOW OF  #REATIVE #OMPETITION�  
4HIS IS CRITICAL TO THE FUTURE OF  THE EXTERNAL PRODUCTION 
SECTOR� WITH INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL PRODUCERS COMPETING 
FOR ""# COMMISSIONS OVER AND ABOVE THE INDEPENDENT 
PRODUCTION QUOTA�

s RETAIN THE QUOTAS FOR PRODUCTION OUTSIDE ,ONDON� AND THAT 
THE ""# SHOULD AIM FOR �� PER CENT OF  NETWORK PRODUCTION 
TO BE SOURCED THERE�

s REMAIN OPEN TO CHANGES IN HOW TO DElNE A QUALIFYING 
@INDEPENDENT PRODUCER�� ALTHOUGH NO PREFERABLE DElNITION 
HAD BEEN ADVANCED� AND

s ESTABLISH A NEW APPROACH TO NEW
MEDIA RIGHTS� WITH A 
@PRIMARY� WINDOW IN WHICH RIGHTS ACQUIRED BY A PUBLIC 
SERVICE BROADCASTER APPLY ACROSS ANY DISTRIBUTION PLATFORM� 
! SUBSEQUENT LIMITED @HOLDBACK� PERIOD WOULD PROTECT 
BROADCASTER EXCLUSIVITY AND BRAND VALUE WHERE NEEDED  
BY ENABLING THE BROADCASTER TO RESTRICT THE EXPLOITATION  
OF  RIGHTS BY THE PRODUCER� 

4HE CONSULTATION CLOSED IN -ARCH ����� 
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4HE #OMMUNICATIONS !CT ALSO REQUIRES /FCOM TO REPORT 
ON THE EFFECTIVENESS OF  THE EXISTING TELEVISION PUBLIC SERVICE 
BROADCASTERS n THE ""#� )46� #HANNEL �� 3�#� &IVE AND 
4ELETEXT n IN THE DELIVERY OF  THEIR 03" OBLIGATIONS� )T ALSO 
REQUIRES /FCOM TO MAKE RECOMMENDATIONS FOR MAINTAINING 
AND STRENGTHENING THE QUALITY OF  03" IN THE FUTURE� 2EGIONAL 
PROGRAMMING IS ONE OF  THE CORE 03" REQUIREMENTS SET OUT  
IN THE !CT�

)N *UNE ����� /FCOM PUBLISHED THE CONCLUSIONS OF  ITS 
CONSULTATION ON THE PROVISION OF  DEDICATED PROGRAMMING  
FOR THE .ATIONS AND 2EGIONS AS PART OF  THE lNAL 0HASE � 
REPORT OF  /FCOM�S 2EVIEW OF  0UBLIC 3ERVICE 4ELEVISION� 

$ECISIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS INCLUDED� 

s A STANDARD MINIMUM WEEKLY REQUIREMENT FOR REGIONAL 
NEWS AND NON
NEWS ACROSS 7ALES� 3COTLAND AND  
.ORTHERN )RELAND�

s A RANGE OF  MEASURES TO BE INTRODUCED BY /FCOM TO SUPPORT 
THESE REQUIREMENTS� INCLUDING EXEMPTING NATIONAL LICENSEES 
FROM PAYING FOR NETWORK PROGRAMMES THEY DO NOT BROADCAST� 
IN ORDER TO MEET REGIONAL LICENCE OBLIGATIONS� AND RELAXING 
GUIDELINES ON CO
PRODUCTIONS� INCLUDING ALLOWING 3COTTISH  
AND 'RAMPIAN 46 TO SHARE ALL NON
NEWS PROGRAMMES�  

s MORE SCHEDULING mEXIBILITY FOR CURRENT AFFAIRS� ALLOWING 
NATIONAL LICENSEES TO BROADCAST REGIONAL CONTENT IN PLACE  
OF  SOME NETWORKED CONTENT� AND

s A FURTHER REDUCTION TO MINIMUM NON
NEWS REQUIREMENTS� 
WHEN THE lRST 5+ REGION ACHIEVES DIGITAL SWITCHOVER�
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2ECOMMENDATIONS FOR INDIGENOUS LANGUAGE BROADCASTING  
IN THE .ATIONS INCLUDED� 

s THE VIEW THAT DEDICATED DIGITAL SERVICES ARE THE MOST 
EFFECTIVE WAY TO SERVE INDIGENOUS SPEAKERS�

s IN 7ALES� THE ""# AND 3�# SHOULD DEVELOP A NEW 
RELATIONSHIP� DRIVEN BY TRANSPARENCY� lNANCIAL COMMITMENT 
AND EDITORIAL CONTROL�

s IN 3COTLAND� SUFlCIENT FUNDING AND IN
KIND SUPPORT FOR A 
'AELIC DIGITAL CHANNEL COULD BE SECURED FROM A NUMBER  
OF  SOURCES� AND

s IN .ORTHERN )RELAND� THE GOAL SHOULD BE A DEDICATED )RISH 
LANGUAGE DIGITAL SERVICE� BUILDING ON THE MAIN )RISH SERVICE 
IN THE 2EPUBLIC OF  )RELAND� 4'��    

Cfk^k`f^i qbojp lc @e^kkbi 0 ^ka @e^kkbi 2 
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)N *UNE ����� /FCOM PUBLISHED ITS CONCLUSIONS AFTER ITS 
REVIEW OF  THE lNANCIAL TERMS OF  THE LICENCES HELD BY  
)46� 3-'� 5LSTER 4ELEVISION AND '-46� AND THE  
#HANNEL � LICENCE� 

4HIS DECISION WAS THE LAST IN A SERIES MADE BY /FCOM 
OVER THE PREVIOUS TWO YEARS� TAKEN TOGETHER� THEY ALLOW 
COMMERCIALLY FUNDED PUBLIC SERVICE BROADCASTERS THE SCOPE  
TO PLAN WITH CERTAINTY FOR ALL
DIGITAL SERVICES ACROSS THE 5+�

!NNUAL PAYMENTS RECEIVED BY (- 4REASURY FOR ALL #HANNEL 
� AND #HANNEL � LICENCES HAVE FALLEN STEADILY� )N ����� UNDER 
EXISTING LICENCE TERMS� THEY TOTALLED APPROXIMATELY a���M� 
)N ����� THE TOTAL WAS a���M� MAINLY DUE TO THE GROWTH 
OF  DIGITAL HOUSEHOLDS� )N ����� WITH FURTHER DIGITAL MULTI

CHANNEL GROWTH� THIS WOULD HAVE AMOUNTED TO a���M UNDER 
EXISTING TERMS� 

4HE NEW TERMS OFFERED TO THE LICENSEES� AND ACCEPTED IN 
*ULY� WERE BACKDATED TO � *ANUARY ���� AND RUN UNTIL �� 
$ECEMBER ����� /FCOM ESTIMATED THAT TOTAL PAYMENTS FOR ALL 
#HANNEL � AND #HANNEL � LICENCES IN ���� WOULD BE a��M�

>``bpp ql QS

4HE #OMMUNICATIONS !CT REQUIRES /FCOM TO ENSURE THAT 
BROADCASTERS CATER FOR PEOPLE WHO ARE DEAF  OR HARD
OF

HEARING� BLIND OR PARTIALLY SIGHTED� OR WHO HAVE A DUAL 

SENSORY IMPAIRMENT� 4HE !CT SAYS THAT /FCOM MUST PUBLISH 
AND REVIEW A CODE SETTING OUT HOW BROADCASTERS SHOULD 
PROMOTE TELEVISION THAT IS ACCESSIBLE AND ENJOYABLE FOR PEOPLE 
WITH THESE NEEDS� 

3INCE THE #ODE ON 4ELEVISION !CCESS 3ERVICES WAS PUBLISHED 
IN *ULY ����� THERE HAS BEEN A SIGNIlCANT INCREASE IN THE 
NUMBER OF  CHANNELS MEETING AND� IN MANY CASES EXCEEDING� 
THEIR OBLIGATIONS TO PROVIDE ACCESS SERVICES�

)N -ARCH ����� /FCOM LAUNCHED A CONSULTATION REVIEWING 
THE #ODE� )T CONCLUDED THAT ALTHOUGH THE BASIC STRUCTURE 
REMAINS APPROPRIATE� FURTHER WORK WAS REQUIRED TO MAKE  
SURE THAT THE PROVISION OF  SIGNING SERVICES MEETS THE NEEDS  
OF  VIEWERS WHO DEPEND ON IT� 

Qbibsfpflk ^asboqfpfkd
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)N ITS !NNUAL 0LAN ������� /FCOM PROPOSED A REVIEW OF
THE 5+ ADVERTISING SALES MARKET� AS ORIGINALLY SUGGESTED BY 
THE #OMPETITION #OMMISSION AT THE TIME OF  THE #ARLTON�
'RANADA MERGER� 

(OWEVER� AFTER A PRELIMINARY ASSESSMENT OF  THE MARKET� 
/FCOM ANNOUNCED IN $ECEMBER ���� THAT IT DID NOT SEE THE 
NEED FOR A FULL REVIEW AT THIS STAGE� /FCOM HAD RECEIVED NO 
COMPLAINTS OVER THE RUNNING OF  THE ADVERTISING SALES MARKET� 
OR CALLS FROM THE ADVERTISING OR BROADCASTING INDUSTRIES  
FOR A REVIEW� THERE WAS NO STRONG EVIDENCE OF  THE MARKET 
WORKING TO THE DETRIMENT OF  CONSUMERS� AND THE #ONTRACTS 
2IGHTS 2ENEWAL REMEDY �#22	 HAD HAD A SIGNIlCANT EFFECT 
ON THE MARKET�

4HE #22 REMEDY� PUT IN PLACE IN ���� IN THE LIGHT OF  THE 
MERGER� IMPOSED CONDITIONS ON )46 INTENDED TO MAKE SURE 
THAT ADVERTISERS AND MEDIA BUYERS WOULD NOT BE WORSE OFF
AFTER THE MERGER THAN BEFORE� 4HE /FlCE OF  &AIR 4RADING IS 
RESPONSIBLE FOR THE #22 REMEDY� AND ANY DECISION TO REVIEW 
THE REMEDY WOULD REST WITH IT� /FCOM WILL� HOWEVER� CONTINUE 
IN ITS ROLE TO MONITOR THE REMEDY n AND THE OPERATION OF  THE 
)NDEPENDENT !DJUDICATOR n TO ASSESS ITS WIDER IMPACT�
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4HERE HAS BEEN GROWING PUBLIC CONCERN ABOUT THE INCREASE 
IN CHILDHOOD OBESITY IN RECENT YEARS� 4HIS INCREASE HAS BEEN 
DRIVEN BY A NUMBER OF  FACTORS INCLUDING CHANGES IN LIFESTYLE 
AND DIET� AND IN THE WAY FOOD IS ADVERTISED AND PROMOTED�

/FCOM WAS ASKED BY THE $EPARTMENT OF  (EALTH AND THE 
$EPARTMENT FOR #ULTURE� -EDIA AND 3PORT TO EXAMINE THE 
CASE n AND THE OPTIONS n FOR RESTRICTING TELEVISION ADVERTISING
OF  FOODS AND DRINKS TO CHILDREN� )N PARTICULAR� THIS FOCUSED  
ON THE OVER
CONSUMPTION OF  @(&33� FOOD AND DRINKS n  
THOSE THAT ARE HIGH IN FAT� SALT OR SUGAR� 

/FCOM lRST PUBLISHED WIDE
RANGING RESEARCH INTO THE 
SUBJECT IN *ULY ����� 4HIS SHOWED THAT ADVERTISING HAD A 
SMALL DIRECT EFFECT ON CHILDREN�S FOOD PREFERENCES� AS WELL AS 
INDIRECT EFFECTS WHICH WERE DIFlCULT TO QUANTIFY BUT LIKELY TO 
BE LARGER� /FCOM CONTINUED TO WORK WITH CONSUMER BODIES� 
BROADCASTERS AND ITS CO
REGULATORY PARTNER THE "ROADCAST 
#OMMITTEE OF  !DVERTISING 0RACTICE� )T ALSO CONSULTED THE 
&OOD 3TANDARDS !GENCY� WHICH PROVIDED A POSSIBLE MODEL 
THAT COULD BE USED TO DIFFERENTIATE BETWEEN DIFFERENT TYPES  
OF  FOOD AND DRINK PRODUCTS� 

)N -ARCH ����� /FCOM CONCLUDED THAT THERE WAS A CASE 
FOR TIGHTENING THE RULES ON ADVERTISING FOOD AND DRINK TO 
CHILDREN� )T SET OUT FOUR ALTERNATIVE PROPOSALS�

�� TIMING RESTRICTIONS ON ADVERTISING SPECIlC FOOD AND  
DRINK PRODUCTS� 

�� TIMING RESTRICTIONS ON ADVERTISING ALL FOOD AND  
DRINK PRODUCTS�

�� A LIMIT TO THE AMOUNT OF  FOOD AND DRINK ADVERTISING  
PER HOUR ALLOWABLE DURING CHILDREN�S AND FAMILY  
VIEWING TIMES� AND 

�� AN OPEN INVITATION TO ADVANCE A NEW PROPOSAL� EITHER 
DRAWING FROM ELEMENTS ABOVE OR SUGGESTING A COMPLETELY 
FRESH APPROACH� 

/FCOM BELIEVES THAT THE PROPOSALS STRIKE A BALANCE BETWEEN 
HAVING A POSITIVE EFFECT ON CHILDREN�S ATTITUDES AND BEHAVIOUR�
WITHOUT DISPROPORTIONATELY AFFECTING THE FUNDING OF
CHILDREN�S PROGRAMMES OR THE LEGITIMATE ACTIVITIES OF  FOOD 
MANUFACTURERS AND RETAILERS�

4HE CONSULTATION RAN UNTIL *UNE ����� 

Crqrob crkafkd lc  
`ljjbo`f^i qbibsfpflk  

Molar`q Mi^`bjbkq

4HE PRINCIPLE OF  SEPARATION BETWEEN ADVERTISING AND 
EDITORIAL MATERIAL ON TELEVISION HAS BEEN PRESENT IN REGULATION
SINCE THE lRST COMMERCIAL APPEARED ON THE 5+�S TELEVISION 
SCREENS IN �����

4HE WAY IN WHICH THE @SEPARATION PRINCIPLE� HAS BEEN 
INTERPRETED AND APPLIED HAS EVOLVED OVER TIME TO KEEP PACE 
WITH COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENTS AND AUDIENCE EXPECTATIONS� 
!DVERTISING IS NO LONGER LIMITED TO SPOT ADVERTISING� 
SPONSORSHIP� FOR EXAMPLE� IS NOW A WELL
REGARDED FEATURE OF
COMMERCIAL TELEVISION� GENERATING REVENUES FOR BROADCASTERS�

4HE SEPARATION PRINCIPLE IS ENSHRINED IN THE %UROPEAN 
#OMMISSION�S 4ELEVISION 7ITHOUT &RONTIERS $IRECTIVE�
WHICH GOVERNS AUDIO
VISUAL CONTENT REGULATION IN %UROPE� 
4HEREFORE� PRODUCT PLACEMENT n WHICH INVOLVES INCLUDING�  
OR REFERRING TO� A PRODUCT OR SERVICE IN RETURN FOR PAYMENT  
OR SOME OTHER VALUABLE CONSIDERATION n IS PROHIBITED�

)N $ECEMBER ����� THE #OMMISSION PUBLISHED A PROPOSED 
DRAFT REVISION TO THE $IRECTIVE WHICH PROPOSED TO LIBERALISE 
THE RULES GOVERNING TELEVISION ADVERTISING WHICH WOULD ALLOW 
CERTAIN FORMS OF  PRODUCT PLACEMENT ON TELEVISION�

/FCOM BELIEVES THAT THERE IS MERIT IN A CAUTIOUS APPROACH 
TO INTRODUCING PRODUCT PLACEMENT IN THE 5+ BECAUSE NEW 
TECHNOLOGIES SUCH AS PERSONAL VIDEO RECORDERS� AS WELL 
AS AUDIENCE FRAGMENTATION AND VIDEO
ON
DEMAND� POSE 
CHALLENGES TO THE VALUE OF  TRADITIONAL SPOT ADVERTISING� 
#OMMERCIAL BROADCASTERS� AND PARTICULARLY FREE
TO
AIR 
BROADCASTERS WITH NO REVENUE FROM SUBSCRIPTION CHANNELS� 
HAVE LEGITIMATE CONCERNS OVER FUTURE PROGRAMME FUNDING�

)N $ECEMBER� /FCOM LAUNCHED A CONSULTATION ON A RESTRICTED 
SET OF  USES FOR PRODUCT PLACEMENT� ! STATEMENT ON PRODUCT 
PLACEMENT WAS PUBLISHED AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD�

@ljjbo`f^i qbibsfpflk ^mmb^ip clo alk^qflkp

4HE /FCOM "ROADCASTING #ODE CURRENTLY PREVENTS 
COMMERCIAL TELEVISION BROADCASTERS FROM APPEALING 
FOR DONATIONS TO HELP MAKE THEIR PROGRAMMES� 2ADIO 
BROADCASTERS ARE NOT SUBJECT TO THE SAME RESTRICTIONS� 
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THEREFORE /FCOM BELIEVES THAT IT IS APPROPRIATE TO CONSIDER 
WHETHER IN FUTURE THERE SHOULD BE A UNIFORM APPROACH TO 
REGULATING THIS FORM OF  FUNDING SO IT IS APPLIED EQUALLY ACROSS 
ALL PLATFORMS�

/FCOM HAS NOT FORMED A VIEW ON WHETHER THE ADVANTAGES  
OF  LIFTING THE CURRENT RESTRICTIONS OUTWEIGH ANY DISADVANTAGES� 
2ESEARCH CARRIED OUT BY /FCOM SUGGESTED THAT VIEWERS ARE 
CONCERNED ABOUT VARIOUS ASPECTS OF  APPEALS ON TELEVISION� 
(OWEVER� IN ������ /FCOM PREPARED A CONSULTATION 
DOCUMENT� PUBLISHED OUTSIDE THE REPORTING PERIOD� WHICH 
SET OUT A NUMBER OF  SAFEGUARDS THAT WOULD NEED TO BE 
CONSIDERED IN THE EVENT THAT THE CURRENT RESTRICTIONS  
WERE LIFTED� 

4HE POTENTIAL SAFEGUARDS INCLUDED� 

s ENSURING THAT THE AUDIENCE IS TOLD THE PURPOSE OF  THE 
DONATION� WHICH MUST BE ACCOUNTED FOR SEPARATELY AND 
LATER USED FOR ITS STATED PURPOSE�

s APPLYING THE CURRENT RULES GOVERNING RELIGIOUS BROADCASTERS 
TO APPEALS MADE BY THEM�

s ENSURING THAT APPEALS DO NOT CREATE UNREALISTIC EXPECTATIONS 
OF  WHAT MIGHT BE ACHIEVED BY DONOR CONTRIBUTIONS� AND

s A BAN ON BROADCASTERS ACCEPTING DONATIONS FROM  
POLITICAL BODIES�

@ljmbqfqflk fpprbp fk 
qbibsfpflk _ol^a`^pqfkd

Qb`ekf`^i mi^qcloj pbosf`bp

3INCE ����� "3KY" HAS BEEN SUBJECT TO REGULATION OVER THE 
AMOUNT IT CHARGES �AND THE TERMS IT OFFERS	 BROADCASTERS AND 
OPERATORS OF  INTERACTIVE TELEVISION WHO WISH TO MAKE THEIR 
CONTENT AVAILABLE ON THE SATELLITE PLATFORM� 4HIS REGULATION 
OF  TECHNICAL PLATFORM SERVICES �403	 WAS ESTABLISHED UNDER 
/FCOM�S PREDECESSOR� /FTEL� 

)N .OVEMBER ����� /FCOM CONSULTED ON PROPOSALS TO 
REVISE THE GUIDELINES� /FCOM BELIEVED THAT THE PREVIOUS 
APPROACH ADOPTED BY /FTEL DID NOT PROVIDE SUFlCIENT CLARITY 
OR CERTAINTY FOR BROADCASTERS� )N THE ABSENCE OF  TRANSPARENT 
GUIDELINES ON 403 CHARGING� IT IS DIFlCULT FOR CUSTOMERS TO 
PLAN FOR THESE CHARGES�

4HE CONSULTATION CLOSED IN &EBRUARY ����� )N !PRIL� /FCOM 
PUBLISHED A DRAFT EXPLANATORY STATEMENT AND REVISED 
GUIDELINES� 4HESE WERE SUBJECT TO FURTHER CONSULTATION�

@olpp*moljlqflk^i ^`qfsfqfbp 

#ROSS
PROMOTION IS THE PRACTICE OF  USING ONE TELEVISION 
CHANNEL TO PROMOTE ANOTHER� FOR EXAMPLE� )46� PROMOTING 
PROGRAMMES FOR )46�� OR #HANNEL � PROMOTING %� AND  
ITS AVAILABILITY ON CABLE� SATELLITE AND &REEVIEW� 

/FCOM INHERITED THE CURRENT RULES FROM THE )NDEPENDENT 
4ELEVISION #OMMISSION AND HAS A DUTY TO REVIEW THEM AND 
MAKE SURE THAT THEY REMAIN RELEVANT AND APPROPRIATE�

)N $ECEMBER� /FCOM PUBLISHED PROPOSALS FOR THE FUTURE 
REGULATION OF  CROSS
PROMOTION� )T PROPOSED TO REMOVE THE 
REQUIREMENT THAT A BROADCASTER MUST HAVE A �� PER CENT 
SHAREHOLDING IN A CHANNEL OR SERVICE IT PROMOTES� AND TO 
REPLACE IT WITH MORE mEXIBLE GUIDANCE� )T ALSO PROPOSED TO  
USE THE "ROADCASTING #ODE WHEREVER APPROPRIATE� RATHER 
THAN SEPARATE DEDICATED RULES� IN RELATION TO THE CONTENT OF
CROSS
PROMOTIONS� (OWEVER� /FCOM PROPOSED TWO RULES� 

s TO LIMIT THE SUBJECT OF  CROSS
PROMOTIONS TO BROADCAST

RELATED SERVICES� AND

s A REQUIREMENT FOR )46�� #HANNEL � AND &IVE TO MAINTAIN 
NEUTRALITY BETWEEN DIGITAL RETAIL TELEVISION SERVICES AND 
DIGITAL PLATFORMS�

! STATEMENT ON CROSS
PROMOTION WAS PUBLISHED AFTER THE 
REPORTING PERIOD�

?ol^a`^pqfkd7 
qbibsfpflk
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O^afl Obsfbt
)N /CTOBER� /FCOM PUBLISHED ITS 2ADIO 2EVIEW CONSULTATION 
DOCUMENT� )TS AIM WAS TO ENHANCE CHOICE� DIVERSITY AND 
INNOVATION FOR CONSUMERS AT 5+� NATIONAL� REGIONAL�  
LOCAL AND COMMUNITY LEVELS� AND ALLOW RADIO TO GROW  
IN A DIGITAL AGE�

4HE 2EVIEW SET OUT PROPOSALS ON THE FUTURE REGULATION OF  5+ 
COMMERCIAL RADIO AND ASKED FOR FURTHER VIEWS ON PLANS TO 
ENCOURAGE THE DEVELOPMENT OF  $!" DIGITAL RADIO� LOCALLY AND 
NATIONALLY� /FCOM PROPOSED THAT $!" WAS THE ONLY PLATFORM 
BRINGING THE BENElTS OF  DIGITAL LISTENING TO BOTH HOME AND 
PORTABLE RADIOS� AND TO GUARANTEE A RANGE OF  FREE
TO
AIR 
SERVICES TO THE MAJORITY OF  THE 5+� 

)N $ECEMBER� /FCOM PUBLISHED TWO MAIN STATEMENTS IN 
RESPONSE TO THE 2ADIO 2EVIEW� &IRST� IT ANNOUNCED THAT IT 
WOULD ALLOCATE�

s THREE BLOCKS OF  6(& "AND ))) SPECTRUM TO lLL THE GAPS IN 
LOCAL MULTIPLEX COVERAGE� GIVING EVERY PART OF  THE 5+ THE 
OPPORTUNITY TO RECEIVE LOCAL $!" DIGITAL RADIO �INCLUDING 
BOTH COMMERCIAL AND ""# LOCAL AND NATIONAL RADIO 
SERVICES	� AND

s ONE BLOCK TO A FURTHER NATIONAL COMMERCIAL MULTIPLEX TO 
PROVIDE ADDITIONAL CHOICE FOR AS MANY LISTENERS AS POSSIBLE�

3ECOND� /FCOM ANNOUNCED A CONSULTATION TO SEEK VIEWS ON 
THE LICENSING PROCESS FOR THIS ADDITIONAL LOCAL AND NATIONAL 
$!" CAPACITY� 

WT yLc`lj >kkr^i Obmloq TRRW�X ttt+lc`lj+lod+rh 
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)N &EBRUARY� /FCOM ANNOUNCED ITS APPROACH TO THE 
REGULATION OF  COMMERCIAL RADIO� INCLUDING� 

s THE PROCEDURE FOR HANDLING FORMAT CHANGE REQUESTS FOR 
ANALOGUE LOCAL COMMERCIAL RADIO SERVICES�

s /FCOM�S APPROACH TO REGULATION OUTPUT� AND THE 
REQUIREMENT FOR STATIONS TO ESTABLISH A 0UBLIC &ILE REPORTING 
THEIR ACTIVITIES� 

s A REQUIREMENT THAT BROADCASTERS FOLLOW @,OCALNESS 
'UIDELINES�� SETTING OUT GUIDANCE ON HOW STATIONS CAN BEST 
DELIVER LOCAL ELEMENTS OF  THEIR OUTPUT� AND

s THE REMOVAL OF  RESTRICTIONS RELATING TO DAYTIME AUTOMATION 
ON STATIONS� NEWS HUB ARRANGEMENTS� AND WHERE STATIONS 
ARE LOCATED WITHIN LICENSED AREAS�

O^afl jbodbop
)N ������� /FCOM UNDERTOOK A STATUTORY ASSESSMENT OF
%MAP�S ACQUISITION OF  3COTTISH 2ADIO (OLDINGS �32(	�

/FCOM CONCLUDED THAT NO CHANGES WOULD BE NEEDED TO ANY 
OF  32(�S �� LOCAL ANALOGUE LICENCES TO PROTECT THE PROVISION 
OF  SERVICES AFTER THE ACQUISITION� (OWEVER� /FCOM ADDED THAT 
IF  THE ACQUISITION WENT AHEAD AS ENVISAGED� IT WOULD BREACH 
CERTAIN RULES GOVERNING OWNERSHIP OF  LOCAL DIGITAL MULTIPLEXES 
AND LOCAL DIGITAL SOUND PROGRAMME SERVICES� 

/FCOM THEREFORE ISSUED A DIRECTION TO %MAP TO ENSURE IT 
COMPLIED WITH THESE RULES� 

CJ ^ka `ljjrkfqv o^afl if`bkpfkd 
)N ������� /FCOM CONTINUED WITH ITS PROGRAMME OF  &- 
COMMERCIAL RADIO LICENSING UNDER A NEW STREAMLINED PROCESS� 
/FCOM ADVERTISED ONE SMALLER �NON
METROPOLITAN	 LICENCE 
EVERY MONTH AND ONE LARGER �METROPOLITAN OR REGIONAL	 
LICENCE EVERY TWO OR THREE MONTHS� 4HE LICENCE AWARDS WERE 
MADE BY THE 2ADIO ,ICENSING #OMMITTEE� A SUB
COMMITTEE 
OF  THE MAIN /FCOM "OARD� )N THE YEAR TO �� -ARCH ����� 
/FCOM AWARDED �� &- COMMERCIAL RADIO LICENCES�

/FCOM COMPLETED THE lRST ROUND OF  COMMUNITY RADIO 
LICENSING FOR NOT
FOR
PROlT SERVICES� FOCUSED ON DELIVERING 
SPECIlC SOCIAL BENElTS� 4HESE LICENCES USE RELATIVELY LOW

POWERED TRANSMITTERS TO COVER A SMALL GEOGRAPHICAL AREA�  
)N THE YEAR TO �� -ARCH ����� /FCOM ISSUED �� COMMUNITY 
RADIO LICENCES �SEE TABLE OVERLEAF	�

)N ������� /FCOM ALSO ANNOUNCED THE MEMBERSHIP OF  ITS 
#OMMUNITY 2ADIO &UND 0ANEL� 4HE THREE
MEMBER PANEL 
WAS ESTABLISHED BY THE 'OVERNMENT TO PROVIDE lNANCIAL 
SUPPORT TO COMMUNITY RADIO BROADCASTERS�
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CJ o^afl if`bk`b ^t^oap TRRW�X

$URHAM
"ANBURY
-ANCHESTER
.ORWICH
"ALLYMENA
4ORBAY
3WINDON
3OLENT
"ARROW
IN
&URNESS
3WANSEA
.ORTHALLERTON
)PSWICH
7ARWICK
3HREWSBURY
0LYMOUTH

@ljjrkfqv o^afl if`bk`b ^t^oap TRRW�X

(AVANT
3TOKE ON 4RENT
0ONTYPRIDD
.EATH AND 0ORT 4ALBOT
#ENTRAL 3OUTHAMPTON
(EDGE %ND� "OTLEY AND 7EST %ND� (AMPSHIRE
0ORTSMOUTH
.EWPORT� )SLE OF  7HITE
'LASGOW �THREE SERVICES	 
#UMBERNAULD
.OTTINGHAM �THREE SERVICES	
.ORMANTON� $ERBY
,EICESTER
-ARKET (ARBOROUGH
6ALE OF  "ELVOIR
"RADFORD
(ALIFAX
!RDWICK� ,ONGSIGHT� ,EVENSHULME� -ANCHESTER 
7YTHENSHAWE
#HORLEY
2OCHDALE
.ORWICH
!BERDEEN
/RKNEY )SLANDS
)SLES OF  3CILLY
,EEDS
/LDHAM
4AMESIDE
3TOCKPORT
3ALFORD
.ORTH
EAST "IRMINGHAM
7INSON 'REEN� "IRMINGHAM
!STON� "IRMINGHAM 
3MALL (EATH� "IRMINGHAM
7EST "ROMWICH
3TOURBRIDGE
7OLVERHAMPTON
"ELFAST �TWO SERVICES	 
,ISBURN
.EWRY
$OWNPATRICK
"ANBRIDGE
!LNWICK

?ol^a`^pqfkd7 o^afl

.EWCASTLE UPON 4YNE
+IRKY ,ONSDALE
7ITHERNSEA
'LOUCESTER
7ORCESTER
0ONTYPOOL
#ENTRAL AND %AST "RIGHTON
#OLCHESTER
0LYMOUTH
7EST (ULL
"ANKSIDE� CENTRAL ,ONDON
(ACKNEY
3OUTHALL
6ERWOOD� %AST $ORSET
"RENTWOOD� %SSEX
(AROLD (ILL� %SSEX
&OREST 'ATE� ,ONDON
3TRATFORD� ,ONDON
-ANOR 0ARK� ,ONDON
"EXLEYHEATH� +ENT
3LOUGH
(AYES� -IDDLESEX
3OUTHALL� -IDDLESEX
(AMMERSMITH� ,ONDON
3TONEBRIDGE� ,ONDON
%DINBURGH
,EITH
$ALKEITH� EAST AND CENTRAL 
-IDLOTHIAN
"ARNARD #ASTLE� #OUNTY $URHAM
7ETHERBY
3HEFlELD
"URNGREAVE� 3HEFlELD
(ARLOW� %SSEX
"RISTOL
#ANTERBURY
"OURNEMOUTH
$EWSBURY
)PSWICH
,INCOLN
,UTON
3ALISBURY 0LAIN �TWO SERVICES	
3T !LBANS
7REXHAM� 7ALES
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Fkqbok^qflk^i

/FCOM�S ACTIVITIES n AND THOSE OF  THE COMPANIES IT REGULATES 
n ARE INCREASINGLY INmUENCED BY INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENTS� 
-UCH OF  TELECOMMUNICATIONS REGULATION� AND AN INCREASING 
PROPORTION OF  OUR ACTIVITIES IN THE SPECTRUM AND BROADCASTING 
AREAS� IS DIRECTLY AFFECTED BY %5 LEGISLATION�

)N ������ /FCOM PLAYED A KEY ROLE IN THE %UROPEAN 
2EGULATORS 'ROUP �%2'	� WHICH SEEKS TO ACHIEVE CONSISTENT 
APPLICATION� IN ALL -EMBER 3TATES� OF  THE PROVISIONS SET OUT IN
THE $IRECTIVES OF  THE NEW REGULATORY FRAMEWORK� )N *ANUARY 
���� /FCOM 3ENIOR 0ARTNER +IP -EEK WAS APPOINTED AS 
CHAIR OF  THE %2' FOR �����

/FCOM IDENTIlED THREE INTERNATIONAL PRIORITIES TO ENGAGE ON�

s THE REVIEW OF  THE %5 2EGULATORY &RAMEWORK FOR 
%LECTRONIC #OMMUNICATIONS�

s %UROPEAN POLICIES ON SPECTRUM MANAGEMENT� AND

s THE REPLACEMENT OF  THE EXISTING 4ELEVISION 7ITHOUT 
&RONTIERS $IRECTIVE WITH A NEW !UDIOVISUAL -EDIA  
3ERVICES $IRECTIVE�

Obdri^qlov Co^jbtloh Clo 
Bib`qolkf` @ljjrkf`^qflkp
/FCOM�S REGULATION OF  THE TELECOMS SECTOR IS MAINLY 
DERIVED FROM THE %UROPEAN #OMMON 2EGULATORY 
&RAMEWORK� 4HIS IMPOSES A RANGE OF  OBLIGATIONS ON THE 
AUTHORISATION OF  SERVICES� GENERAL CONDITIONS WHICH ARE 
APPLIED TO COMMUNICATIONS PROVIDERS� AND THE ANALYSIS 
OF  TELECOMMUNICATIONS MARKETS WHEN IMPOSING SPECIlC 
CONDITIONS ON COMPANIES WITH MARKET POWER� 4HE 
&RAMEWORK ALSO SETS OUT RULES ON THE AUTHORISATION  
OF  RADIO SPECTRUM USE�  

4HE %UROPEAN #OMMISSION ANNOUNCED IN .OVEMBER A 
CONSULTATION ON THE OPERATION OF  THE %UROPEAN &RAMEWORK� 
/FCOM CONTRIBUTED BOTH TO THE %2' AND THE 5+�S RESPONSE 
TO THAT CONSULTATION� ARGUING THAT THE EXISTING &RAMEWORK IS 
ESSENTIALLY SOUND� BUT REQUIRES MORE RIGOROUS IMPLEMENTATION 
IN MANY -EMBER 3TATES� /FCOM ALSO WORKED WITH THE %2' 
AND 5+ 'OVERNMENT TO IDENTIFY SPECIlC IMPROVEMENTS 
TO THE &RAMEWORK WHICH SHOULD BE CONSIDERED DURING THE 
COURSE OF  THE 2EVIEW�  

Pmb`qorj j^k^dbjbkq
3PECTRUM DOES NOT RESPECT NATIONAL BOUNDARIES� SO IN 
MEETING ITS SPECTRUM MANAGEMENT DUTIES� /FCOM TAKES 
AN ACTIVE ROLE ON BEHALF  OF  THE 5+ IN DEBATES ABOUT 
INTERNATIONAL SPECTRUM CO
ORDINATION� POLICY AND LEGISLATION�

)N THE YEAR TO .OVEMBER ����� /FCOM HELD THE 
CHAIRMANSHIP OF  THE %5�S 2ADIO 3PECTRUM 0OLICY 'ROUP 
�230'	� $URING THIS TIME� THE 230' CALLED FOR A MORE 
mEXIBLE APPROACH TO SPECTRUM MANAGEMENT� A SIGNIlCANT STEP 
FORWARD IN DEVELOPING A MARKET
BASED APPROACH TO SPECTRUM 
MANAGEMENT ACROSS THE %5�

$ELIVERING THE 5+�S OBJECTIVES ON DIGITAL SWITCHOVER�
THE DIGITAL DIVIDEND AND THE 2ADIO 2EVIEW ARE DEPENDENT  
ON SECURING INTERNATIONAL AGREEMENT OVER THE USE OF
THE 6(& AND 5(& BROADCASTING SPECTRUM� /FCOM LED 
DISCUSSIONS AT BILATERAL� %UROPEAN AND INTERNATIONAL LEVELS 
AHEAD OF  THE 2EGIONAL 2ADIO #ONFERENCE IN -AY�*UNE  
���� TO CO
ORDINATE INTERNATIONAL DECISIONS ON RADIO 
SPECTRUM MANAGEMENT�  
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>raflsfpr^i Jbaf^ Pbosf`bp Afob`qfsb
4HE EXISTING 4ELEVISION 7ITHOUT &RONTIERS $IRECTIVE SETS 
%5
WIDE RULES FOR TRANS
BORDER BROADCASTING� )T INCLUDES 
RESTRICTIONS ON TELEVISION ADVERTISING� OBLIGATIONS FOR 
BROADCAST CHANNELS TO INCLUDE A CERTAIN PROPORTION OF
%UROPEAN
MADE PRODUCTIONS� AND MINIMUM STANDARDS  
ON PROTECTION OF  MINORS AND INCITEMENT TO HATRED� /FCOM 
IMPLEMENTS AND ENFORCES THE $IRECTIVE IN THE 5+� 

)N 3EPTEMBER� THE %# ANNOUNCED IT WOULD REVISE THE $IRECTIVE�
AND PUBLISHED ITS PROPOSED TEXT FOR A NEW !UDIOVISUAL -EDIA 
3ERVICES DIRECTIVE IN $ECEMBER� 4HE CHANGES INCLUDED A 
PROPOSAL TO EXTEND THE SCOPE OF  STATUTORY REGULATION TO INCLUDE
NON
BROADCAST AUDIO
VISUAL CONTENT ON THE INTERNET n A MOVE
WHICH BOTH /FCOM AND THE 5+ 'OVERNMENT CONSIDER TO BE 
INAPPROPRIATE� 4HROUGHOUT THE PROCESS /FCOM HAS ANALYSED 
AND ADVISED THE #OMMISSION AND THE 5+ 'OVERNMENT ON THE 
POSSIBLE EFFECTS OF  THE PROPOSALS�  

/FCOM AGREED THAT THERE WAS A SOUND CASE FOR REFORMING 
THE EXISTING $IRECTIVE AS IT APPLIED TO BROADCAST SERVICES� 
(OWEVER� /FCOM AND THE 5+ 'OVERNMENT HAVE SIGNIlCANT 
CONCERNS ABOUT EXTENDING THE SCOPE OF  CONTENT REGULATION 
FROM TRADITIONAL TELEVISION BROADCASTING TO AREAS SUCH AS 
ONLINE VIDEO CONTENT� INCLUDING PERSONAL VIDEO BLOGS� 
)T ALSO WARNED THAT THE COSTS OF  EXTENDING THE SCOPE OF
THE $IRECTIVE COULD BE SIGNIlCANT TO THE POINT WHERE THE  
NEW MEDIA INDUSTRY COULD SUFFER DETRIMENT� /FCOM HAS 
CONTINUED TO CONTRIBUTE TECHNICAL ADVICE TO THE 5+ 
'OVERNMENT� INFORMING ITS POSITION IN THE #OUNCIL  
7ORKING 'ROUP NEGOTIATIONS�

/FCOM ALSO PROVIDED THE %# WITH RESEARCH AND EVIDENCE  
AS PART OF  THE #OMMISSION�S INVESTIGATION INTO THE COLLECTIVE 
SALES AGREEMENT OPERATED BY THE &! 0REMIER ,EAGUE�
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Fksbpqfd^qflkp moldo^jjb

Fksbpqfd^qflkp ^ka afpmrqbp
/FCOM HAS A NUMBER OF  ROLES AND DUTIES RELATING TO 
IDENTIFYING AND RESPONDING TO CONDUCT WHICH IS UNLAWFUL OR 
ANTI
COMPETITIVE� AND IN RESOLVING DISPUTES� )N RESPONDING 
TO COMPLAINTS OR DISPUTES lLED BY MARKET PARTICIPANTS n OR� 
IN SOME INSTANCES� BY CONSUMERS n /FCOM�S INVESTIGATIONS 
PROGRAMME ENSURES THAT THE ORGANISATION RESPONDS QUICKLY 
AND lRMLY TO BREACHES OF  REGULATORY RULES OR RELEVANT LAW�
AND IS ABLE TO ACT EFFECTIVELY IN RESOLVING DISPUTES�

!S A SECTORAL REGULATOR UNDER THE #OMMUNICATIONS !CT� /FCOM 
HAS RESPONSIBILITIES TO ENFORCE EX ANTE RULES SUCH AS RULES IMPOSED 
ON PROVIDERS WITH SIGNIlCANT MARKET POWER� AND RULES IMPOSED 
ON ALL PROVIDERS AS GENERAL CONDITIONS� /FCOM ALSO DETERMINES 
DISPUTES BETWEEN PROVIDERS OF  ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS 
NETWORKS AND SERVICES� AND HAS RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER THE 
"ROADCASTING !CT TO ENFORCE EX ANTE POWERS� 

!S A NATIONAL COMPETITION AUTHORITY� /FCOM IS EMPOWERED  
TO ENFORCE COMPETITION LAW CONCURRENTLY WITH THE /FlCE 
OF  &AIR 4RADING �/&4	� AND ACTS AS THE COMPETITION 
ENFORCEMENT AGENCY FOR THE COMMUNICATIONS SECTOR�  
/FCOM�S ROLE UNDER COMPETITION LAW INCLUDES�

s ENFORCING THE #HAPTER ) AND #HAPTER )) PROHIBITIONS  
OF  THE #OMPETITION !CT �����

s ENFORCING !RTICLES �� AND �� OF  THE %# 4REATY� AND

s INVESTIGATING MARKETS AND MAKING REFERENCES UNDER THE 
%NTERPRISE !CT �����

7ITHIN THE INVESTIGATIONS PROGRAMME� /FCOM ALSO CONSIDERS 
CONSUMER COMPLAINTS UNDER THE 5NFAIR 4ERMS IN #ONSUMER 
#ONTRACTS 2EGULATIONS ���� AND UNDER 0ART � OF  THE 
%NTERPRISE !CT ���� FOR THE COMMUNICATIONS SECTOR� 

)N THE PREVIOUS REPORTING PERIOD� /FCOM PUBLISHED GUIDELINES 
SETTING OUT ITS APPROACH WHEN INVESTIGATING COMPETITION 
COMPLAINTS AND RESOLVING DISPUTES BETWEEN COMPANIES�  
4HE GUIDELINES PROVIDE COMPANIES WITH A CLEAR� EASY
TO

FOLLOW TOOLKIT EXPLAINING HOW BOTH SMALL AND LARGE COMPANIES 
SHOULD PREPARE THE EVIDENCE REQUIRED BEFORE /FCOM WILL  
TAKE FORWARD A FORMAL INVESTIGATION� 

3INCE THE GUIDELINES WERE ISSUED� /FCOM HAS CARRIED OUT A FULL 
REVIEW OF  ITS INVESTIGATIONS FUNCTION AND� AS A RESULT� HAS RElNED 
ITS APPROACH� 4HIS LED TO /FCOM ISSUING REVISED GUIDELINES 
FOR CONSULTATION AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD� 4HEY REmECT THE 
OUTCOME OF  THE REVIEW AND /FCOM�S GROWING BODY OF  PRACTICE 
AND ESTABLISHED DECISIONS IN THIS AREA� AND THE DEVELOPING 
JURISPRUDENCE OF  THE #OMPETITION !PPEALS 4RIBUNAL�

/FCOM CONTINUES TO SEEK TO REDUCE THE COSTS TO INDUSTRY OF
ITS WORK� AND TO GAIN THE BEST VALUE FROM LIMITED RESOURCES  
TO DELIVER THE BEST OUTCOMES FOR CONSUMERS� 5NSUBSTANTIATED 
COMPLAINTS� OR THOSE WHICH COULD BE BETTER RESOLVED 
ELSEWHERE� ARE DEALT WITH QUICKLY AND AT AN EARLY STAGE� 
4HIS ALLOWS /FCOM TO FOCUS ON THE MOST SERIOUS ALLEGATIONS 
INHIBITING FAIR AND EFFECTIVE COMPETITION IN THE SECTOR� AND  
THE MOST SERIOUS CASES OF  HARM TO CONSUMERS�

/FCOM HAS CONTINUED TO PUBLISH SIX
MONTHLY REPORTS� SETTING OUT
IN DETAIL THE WORK OF  THE INVESTIGATIONS PROGRAMME� 4HE THIRD 
OF  THESE REPORTS WAS PUBLISHED IN .OVEMBER ���� AND COVERED 
THE PERIOD FROM !PRIL TO THE END OF  3EPTEMBER� !FTER THE 
REPORTING PERIOD /FCOM PUBLISHED ITS FOURTH REPORT� COVERING 
THE PERIOD FROM /CTOBER ���� TO THE END OF  -ARCH �����

Prjj^ov lc `ljmi^fkq ^ka afpmrqb ^`qfsfqv 
arofkd qeb mbofla rkabo obsfbt 

"ETWEEN � !PRIL ���� AND �� -ARCH ����� /FCOM RECEIVED 
��� COMPLAINTS OR DISPUTE REFERRALS� )N ADDITION� /FCOM 
IDENTIlED �� ISSUES FOR POSSIBLE INVESTIGATION ON ITS OWN 
INITIATIVE� )N TOTAL� ��� OF  THESE CASES WERE REJECTED OR 
REDIRECTED �EITHER WITHIN /FCOM OR TO ANOTHER ORGANISATION	 
UPON RECEIPT� /F  THE REMAINING ��� /FCOM MOVED �� INTO 
ITS ENQUIRY PHASE �DURING WHICH /FCOM DECIDES WHETHER TO 
LAUNCH A FULL INVESTIGATION INTO A COMPLAINT OR TO RESOLVE A 
DISPUTE	 AND lVE WERE MOVED DIRECTLY TO A FULL INVESTIGATION� 
/F  THE �� CASES CONSIDERED IN ENQUIRY PHASE� �� RESULTED IN 
FULL INVESTIGATIONS BEING OPENED BY THE END OF  THE REPORTING 
PERIOD� WITH THREE CASES STILL IN THE ENQUIRY PHASE�  

4AKING ALL REQUESTS RECEIVED �INCLUDING ISSUES IDENTIlED 
AT /FCOM�S OWN INITIATIVE	� �� CASES �OR �� PER CENT	 WERE 
FOUND TO WARRANT FULL INVESTIGATION WITH A FURTHER THREE CASES 
AWAITING A DECISION�  
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/FCOM OPENED A FURTHER THREE INVESTIGATIONS DURING THE 
REPORTING PERIOD� 4HESE RESULTED FROM ENQUIRIES THAT HAD 
BEEN OPENED BEFORE THE REPORTING PERIOD BEGAN� 

! TOTAL OF  �� FULL INVESTIGATIONS WERE OPENED DURING THE 
REPORTING PERIOD OF  WHICH �� WERE CLOSED BY �� -ARCH ����� 
/FCOM CLOSED A FURTHER �� INVESTIGATIONS THAT HAD BEEN 
OPENED IN THE PREVIOUS REPORTING PERIOD� &OR DETAILS  
OF  INVESTIGATIONS KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS� SEE PAGE ��  
OF  3ECTION #� 
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Prmmloqfkd pq^hbeliabop

Qbib`ljjrkf`^qflkp

3OME �� PER CENT OF  ALL CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS IN 
TELECOMMUNICATIONS WERE ABOUT�

s @SLAMMING�� WHERE A CUSTOMER HAS BEEN SWITCHED TO A NEW 
SUPPLIER WITHOUT THEIR KNOWLEDGE OR CONSENT� AND MIS

SELLING� WHERE CONSUMERS SIGN UP TO A SERVICE BASED ON 
INFORMATION WHICH THEY LATER lND IS UNTRUE� AND

s @TAG
ON
LINE� WHERE A CUSTOMER�S PHONE LINE IS MARKED� OR 
@TAGGED�� AS BEING USED BY ONE BROADBAND INTERNET SERVICE 
PROVIDER� 4HIS CAN CAUSE DIFlCULTIES WITH THE HANDOVER OF
THE CONNECTION TO A DIFFERENT PROVIDER�

/THER CUSTOMER COMPLAINTS IN TELECOMMUNICATIONS INCLUDED�

s CONSUMERS BEING CHARGED FOR CANCELLED SERVICES�

s INADEQUATE CUSTOMER SERVICE BY SERVICE PROVIDERS�

s PROBLEMS SWITCHING TELEPHONE SERVICE PROVIDER�

s THE TIME TAKEN� OR FAILURE� TO REPAIR A SERVICE�

s PROBLEMS WITH LOSS OF  SERVICE� AND

s ISSUES RELATING TO CONTRACT TERMS�

7HERE APPROPRIATE� THE /## MEETS WITH COMPANIES 
TO DISCUSS WAYS IN WHICH THEIR SERVICE TO CUSTOMERS CAN 
BE IMPROVED� $ETAILS OF  COMPANIES WHICH DEMONSTRATE 
PERSISTENT PROBLEMS ARE PASSED TO COLLEAGUES IN /FCOM�S 
#OMPETITION 'ROUP FOR POTENTIAL FORMAL INVESTIGATION�

Pmb`qorj

4HE /## SPECTRUM LICENSING TEAM DEALT WITH MORE 
THAN ������ ENQUIRIES FROM USERS AND PROVIDERS OF
RADIOCOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES� AS WELL AS OTHER MEMBERS  
OF  THE PUBLIC� 4HESE RELATED TO�

s GUIDANCE FOR RADIOCOMMUNICATIONS USERS ON LICENSING 
ISSUES RELATING TO THE 7IRELESS 4ELEGRAPHY !CT�

s 7IRELESS 4ELEGRAPHY !CT LICENCE FEE QUERIES� AND 

s /FCOM�S ONLINE 3ITElNDER SERVICE� WHICH ENABLES THE  
PUBLIC TO IDENTIFY THE LOCATION OF  MOBILE PHONE BASE 
STATIONS BY POSTCODE�

4HE TEAM WAS ALSO RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ISSUING OF  ����� 
LICENCES TO CUSTOMERS�

Qeb Lc`lj @lkq^`q @bkqob
4HE /FCOM #ONTACT #ENTRE �/##	 DEALS WITH QUESTIONS 
AND COMPLAINTS FROM A BROAD RANGE OF  VIEWERS� LISTENERS�
CUSTOMERS OF  TELECOMS COMPANIES AND USERS OF  WIRELESS 
COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES� 

$URING THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW� THE /## ANSWERED MORE 
THAN ������� TELEPHONE ENQUIRIES AND RECEIVED MORE THAN 
������ COMPLETED INTERNET FORMS� EMAILS� LETTERS AND FAXES� 
4HE /## WAS ASKED BY CALLERS OR CORRESPONDENTS TO DEAL 
WITH AROUND ������� SEPARATE CASES AND COMPLAINTS�  
/F  THESE�

s AROUND ������� RELATED TO TELECOMMUNICATIONS  
��� PER CENT	�

s AROUND ������ RELATED TO SPECTRUM LICENSING  
����� PER CENT	�

s AROUND ������ WERE GENERAL ENQUIRIES  
�� PER CENT	� AND

s AROUND ������ RELATED TO BROADCASTS  
���� PER CENT	�

$URING THE REPORTING PERIOD� THE /## FOCUSED ON RECORDING 
CONSUMER COMPLAINTS AND ENQUIRIES IN MORE DETAIL� IN ORDER 
TO IMPROVE /FCOM�S ABILITY TO MONITOR AND INVESTIGATE THE 
ISSUES THEY RAISED� 4HE OVERALL NUMBER OF  COMPLAINTS ABOUT 
BROADCASTING REDUCED SIGNIlCANTLY AS A RESULT OF  FEWER SINGLE 
PROGRAMMES GENERATING HIGH VOLUMES OF  COMPLAINTS FROM 
VIEWERS AND LISTENERS�

4HE /## USES AN INTERACTIVE VOICE RESPONSE SYSTEM TO OFFER 
RECORDED ADVICE� WHICH CAN DIRECT CALLERS TO THE HELP THEY 
NEED WITHOUT HOLDING ON TO SPEAK TO /FCOM STAFF� 3OME 
������ CALLERS LISTENED TO THIS RECORDED ADVICE�

#OLLEAGUES WITHIN THE /## RESOLVED �� PER CENT OF  ALL CALLS� 
INTERNET FORMS� EMAILS� LETTERS AND FAXES WITHOUT ESCALATING 
THE ISSUE TO OTHER PARTS OF  /FCOM� 4HE REMAINING � PER CENT 
WERE RESOLVED WITHIN OTHER FUNCTIONS ACROSS /FCOM� WITH 
THESE CASES BEING TRACKED BY THE /## THROUGH TO AN  
ULTIMATE RESOLUTION�
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?ol^a`^pqfkd

4HE /## BROADCASTING TEAM LOGGED ������ COMPLAINTS 
FROM THE PUBLIC� !NY COMPLAINTS NOT RESOLVED BY THE TEAM 
WERE PASSED TO THE #ONTENT AND 3TANDARDS 'ROUP FOR FURTHER 
INVESTIGATION� 

4HE GREATEST CAUSE FOR COMPLAINT ABOUT TELEVISION AND RADIO 
PROGRAMMES WAS MATERIAL WHICH VIEWERS AND LISTENERS 
BELIEVED WAS HARMFUL OR OFFENSIVE� INCLUDING STRONG LANGUAGE� 
SEXUAL PORTRAYAL AND RELIGIOUS OFFENCE�   

0ROGRAMMES GENERATING THE MOST COMPLAINTS WERE�

s "IG "ROTHER �� AND #ELEBRITY "IG "ROTHER�

s #ORONATION 3TREET�

s %MMERDALE� AND

s COVERAGE OF  VARIOUS NEWS ITEMS THROUGHOUT THE YEAR�

! NUMBER OF  COMPLAINTS WERE ALSO RECEIVED ABOUT THE 
AMOUNT OF  ADVERTISING ON SOME CHANNELS�

&OR /## KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS� SEE PAGE ��  
OF  3ECTION #�

Mlifqf`^i) k^qflk^i ^ka obdflk^i 
bkd^dbjbkq
/FCOM IS COMMITTED TO ENSURING ITS POLICY DEVELOPMENT AND 
REGULATORY ACTIONS ARE INFORMED BY THE VIEWS OF  EVERYONE 
WITH AN INTEREST IN THE OUTCOME� 4O ACHIEVE THIS� THERE ARE 
/FCOM OFlCES IN 7ALES� .ORTHERN )RELAND� 3COTLAND AND THE 
%NGLISH REGIONS� A NUMBER OF  ADVISORY BODIES� AND A TEAM 
RESPONSIBLE FOR THE MANAGEMENT OF  PUBLIC AND POLITICAL 
RELATIONSHIPS THROUGHOUT THE 5+ AND ABROAD�

K^qflkp ^ka Obdflkp

/FCOM HAS THREE NATIONAL OFlCES� LED BY A SENIOR DIRECTOR IN 
'LASGOW� #ARDIFF  AND "ELFAST� AS WELL AS OTHER REGIONAL OFlCES 
FOR ITS SPECTRUM MANAGEMENT &IELD /PERATIONS TEAMS�

4OGETHER WITH THE %NGLAND $IRECTORATE �BASED IN 2IVERSIDE 
(OUSE IN ,ONDON	� THE .ATIONAL AND 2EGIONAL FUNCTIONS HELP 
ENSURE SUFlCIENT ATTENTION IS GIVEN TO IMPORTANT LOCALISED 
ISSUES� 4HESE INCLUDE THE AVAILABILITY OF  BROADBAND AND 
DIGITAL TELEVISION IN REGIONAL AND REMOTE COMMUNITIES� AND 
ISSUES CONCERNING TELECOMMUNICATIONS AND SPECTRUM USE�

>asfplov _lafbp

$ETAILS OF  THE WORK OF  THE #ONSUMER 0ANEL ARE GIVEN ON 
PAGE ����

$ETAILS OF  THE WORK OF  THE /FCOM 3PECTRUM !DVISORY "OARD 
ARE GIVEN ON PAGE ����

$ETAILS OF  THE WORK OF  THE !DVISORY #OMMITTEE FOR /LDER 
AND $ISABLED 0EOPLE ARE GIVEN ON PAGE ����

$ETAILS OF  THE WORK OF  THE #OMMITTEES FOR THE .ATIONS AND 
2EGIONS ARE GIVEN ON PAGE ����

Mr_if` ^ka mlifqf`^i obi^qflkp 

/FCOM IS A STATUTORY ORGANISATION� INDEPENDENT OF
'OVERNMENT BUT ACCOUNTABLE TO 0ARLIAMENT� 4O ENSURE 
0ARLIAMENT IS KEPT FULLY INFORMED ABOUT /FCOM�S WORK� 
THE 0UBLIC AND 0OLITICAL 2ELATIONS TEAM ACTS AS AN INTERFACE 
BETWEEN PARLIAMENTARIANS AND /FCOM�S REGULATORY 
ANNOUNCEMENTS AND DECISIONS� 

4HE TEAM ALSO LINKS� AS APPROPRIATE� WITH /FCOM�S $IRECTORS 
IN THE .ATIONS AND CO
ORDINATES /FCOM�S %UROPEAN AND 
INTERNATIONAL RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED ACTIVITIES� 4HIS WORK 
EXTENDS TO %UROPEAN AND INTERNATIONAL STAKEHOLDER RELATIONS�
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S >_boabbk
T ?^ial`h
U ?bic^pq
V ?fojfkde^j
W ?ofpqli
X ?rov Pq Bajrkap
Y @^oafcc
Z @^qboe^j
[ @ebperkq
SR @^kqbo_rov
SS @libo^fkb
ST C^ihfoh
SU C^ijlrqe
SV Di^pdlt
SW E^val`h
SX Ibbap
SY Ilkalk
SZ Klqqfkde^j
S[ Mbqbo_lolrde
TR Qlonr^v
TS Tfk`ebpqbo

Lc`lj K^qflk^i ^ka Obdflk^i LcÚ`bp
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Prmmloq pbosf̀ bp

Prmmloqfkd Lc`lj
/FCOM�S WORK DEPENDS ON THE SUPPORT OF  COLLEAGUES FROM  
A RANGE OF  PROFESSIONAL FUNCTIONS AND DISCIPLINES�

Cfk^k`b

4HE &INANCE 'ROUP IS REQUIRED TO IDENTIFY THE lNANCIAL 
RESOURCES NEEDED FOR EACH ASPECT OF  /FCOM�S ACTIVITIES AND 
ENSURE THE ORGANISATION HAS THE FUNDING REQUIRED� )TS ROLE 
INCLUDES�

s MANAGEMENT OF  /FCOM�S lNANCES AND ASSOCIATED DUE 
DILIGENCE� 

s MANAGEMENT OF  THE STATEMENT OF  CHARGING PRINCIPLES  
FOR THE COMING lNANCIAL YEAR� 

s IMPLEMENTATION OF  THE STATEMENT AND COLLECTION OF  LICENCES 
AND ADMINISTRATION FEES�   

s COLLECTION OF  LICENCE FEES FOR SPECTRUM AND ADDITIONAL 
PAYMENTS FOR BROADCASTING ON BEHALF  OF  (- 4REASURY� 

s PREPARATION OF  /FCOM�S ANNUAL ACCOUNTS�

s ENSURING PROMPT PAYMENT OF  SUPPLIERS� 

s SAFEGUARDING /FCOM�S ASSETS� AND

s ENSURING VALUE FOR MONEY THROUGH ITS PROCUREMENT STRATEGY�

Pb`obq^of^q 

4HE 3ECRETARIAT PROVIDES ADMINISTRATIVE AND GOVERNANCE 
SUPPORT TO THE ORGANISATION� LED BY THE 3ECRETARY TO THE 
#ORPORATION� )TS ROLE INCLUDES�

s SUPPORT FOR THE /FCOM "OARD� #ONTENT "OARD� 3PECTRUM 
!DVISORY "OARD �/3!"	 AND OTHER /FCOM !DVISORY 
#OMMITTEES�

s SUPPORT FOR THE %XECUTIVE #OMMITTEE AND A NUMBER  
OF  OTHER INTERNAL DECISION
MAKING GROUPS� 

s PROVISION OF  INTERNAL ADVICE ON ADMINISTRATIVE LAW�
DUE PROCESS AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES�

s RESPONSIBILITY FOR RECORDS MANAGEMENT AND COMPLIANCE 
WITH THE $ATA 0ROTECTION !CT AND &REEDOM OF  )NFORMATION 
!CT� AND

s MAINTENANCE OF  THE 2EGISTER OF  )NTERESTS AND 2EGISTER  
OF  'IFTS AND (OSPITALITY�

Erj^k Obplro`bp

4HE (UMAN 2ESOURCES TEAM PROVIDES SPECIALIST ADVICE 
AND SUPPORT TO THE ORGANISATION ON A RANGE OF  PEOPLE

MANAGEMENT MATTERS� )TS ROLE INCLUDES�

s PROVISION OF  EXPERT ADVICE TO LINE MANAGERS ON SPECIlC 
PEOPLE
MANAGEMENT ISSUES� 

s IMPLEMENTING THE RECRUITMENT STRATEGY� INCLUDING 
DEVELOPMENTS TO SUPPORT /FCOM�S WIDER WORK IN DIVERSITY� 

s DEVELOPMENT OF  LEARNING AND DEVELOPMENT SOLUTIONS TO 
SUPPORT PROFESSIONAL TRAINING AND ENABLE CAREER DEVELOPMENT� 

s TAKING A LEAD ROLE IN ENGAGING WITH THE *OINT #ONSULTATIVE 
'ROUP� CONSISTING OF  THE ELECTED /FCOM #OLLEAGUE &ORUM 
AND THE RECOGNISED TRADES UNIONS� AND 

s DEVELOPMENT AND MAINTENANCE OF  ONLINE BUSINESS 
SUPPORT SYSTEMS TO ALLOW MORE EFFECTIVE LINE MANAGEMENT 
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ROUTINE (2 TASKS SUCH AS RECORDING 
ANNUAL LEAVE� 

@ljjrkf`^qflkp

 4HE #OMMUNICATIONS TEAM IS RESPONSIBLE FOR�

s THE MANAGEMENT OF  /FCOM�S RELATIONSHIPS WITH MEDIA� 
INDUSTRY STAKEHOLDER GROUPS AND ANALYSTS� 

s THE PRODUCTION OF  CORPORATE PUBLICATIONS� SUCH AS THE 
!NNUAL 0LAN AND !NNUAL 2EPORT� 

s THE MANAGEMENT OF  STAKEHOLDER EVENTS� 

s THE MANAGEMENT OF  THE /FCOM WEBSITE� 

s THE PRODUCTION OF  ALL ONLINE AND PRINT PUBLICATIONS� AND 

s INTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS WITHIN THE ORGANISATION�

$URING THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW� /FCOM ISSUED MANY MAJOR 
PUBLICATIONS IN PRINT� AROUND ������ COPIES OF  THESE WERE 
DISTRIBUTED TO INDUSTRY AND MEMBERS OF  THE PUBLIC� !ROUND 
����� /FCOM DOCUMENTS WERE PUBLISHED ON THE WEBSITE  
IN ������� 

2ESEARCH COMMISSIONED FROM INDEPENDENT MEDIA EVALUATION 
ANALYSTS DEMONSTRATED THAT� ON AVERAGE� �� PER CENT OF  5+ 
ADULTS ENCOUNTERED NEWSPAPER OR MAGAZINE REPORTS ON 
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/FCOM�S ACTIVITIES EACH MONTH� !VERAGE MONTHLY EXPOSURES 
PER ADULT WERE ���� /F  THESE ARTICLES� ON AVERAGE �� PER CENT 
WERE IN NATIONAL NEWSPAPERS� �� PER CENT WERE IN 5+ 
REGIONAL AND LOCAL NEWSPAPERS� �� PER CENT WERE IN  
SPECIALIST OR TRADE JOURNALS� �� PER CENT WERE IN NON
INDUSTRY 
SECTOR TRADE JOURNALS AND TWO PER CENT WERE IN CONSUMER�
LEISURE MAGAZINES�

Fkcloj^qflk Pbosf`bp %FP&

4HE /FCOM )3 TEAM AND ITS CONTRACTORS ARE RESPONSIBLE  
FOR MANAGING /FCOM�S NEEDS IN�

s DESKTOP SUPPORT� 

s COMPUTER NETWORK INFRASTRUCTURE� 

s WEBSITE AND INTRANET INFRASTRUCTURE SUPPORT� 

s DESKTOP TELEPHONY�

s MOBILE TELEPHONY� 

s WIRELESS DATA SERVICES� 

s AUDIO
VISUAL PRESENTATION SUPPORT� AND 

s APPLICATIONS DEVELOPMENT AND SUPPORT�

7HEN /FCOM WAS CREATED� IT INHERITED A JOINT VENTURE 
BETWEEN THE 2ADIOCOMMUNICATIONS !GENCY AND 
,OGICA#-' FOR THE PROVISION OF  INFORMATION SERVICES 
SUPPORT� )N 3EPTEMBER� /FCOM BROUGHT THESE DESKTOP AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE SERVICES IN
HOUSE� EXTENDING SUPPORT HOURS�
IMPROVING QUALITY AND REDUCING COSTS�

)N $ECEMBER� /FCOM SELECTED #APGEMINI 5+ AS ITS 
PREFERRED BIDDER FOR AN )3 CONTRACT FOR RUNNING /FCOM 
SYSTEMS AND INTEGRATING OR REPLACING THE ORGANISATION�S
LEGACY SYSTEMS� 4HE SYSTEMS REPLACEMENT PROGRAMME�  
CALLED 0ROJECT 5NIFY� WILL INVOLVE REPLACING AROUND �� 
INDIVIDUAL )4 APPLICATIONS WITH NEW INTEGRATED TECHNOLOGY 
ACROSS THE ORGANISATION IN AREAS SUCH AS LICENSING� lELD 
OPERATIONS� lNANCE� (2� PROJECT MANAGEMENT� DOCUMENT 
CREATION� MANAGEMENT AND PUBLISHING� AND THE /FCOM 
#ONTACT #ENTRE�

Afob`qlo^qb lc Mi^kkfkd ^ka Absbilmjbkq

4HE 0LANNING AND $EVELOPMENT TEAM AIMS TO ENSURE 
/FCOM�S WORKLOAD IS DELIVERED WITHIN RESOURCE AND TIME 
CONSTRAINTS� )TS ROLE INCLUDES�

s THE PROVISION OF  VISIBILITY OF  WORKLOAD AND ANALYSIS  
OF  PRIORITY ISSUES�

s THE TRACKING OF  PROGRESS OF  ALL STRATEGIC PROJECTS�

s WHERE APPROPRIATE� ENHANCING PLANNING SYSTEMS  
AND PROCESSES�

s THE PREPARATION OF  MANAGEMENT INFORMATION FOR  
THE %XECUTIVE #OMMITTEE AND "OARD� AND

s MANAGEMENT OF  A REGULAR RISK REVIEW FOR THE WHOLE  
OF  /FCOM�

C^`fifqfbp

4HE &ACILITIES TEAM IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE OVERALL MANAGEMENT 
OF  /FCOM�S WORKING ENVIRONMENT� INCLUDING�

s ALL /FCOM OFlCES ACROSS THE 5+� 

s THE MANAGEMENT OF  ALL OTHER GENERAL PHYSICAL ASSETS� 

s HEALTH AND SAFETY IN THE WORKPLACE AND IN lELD OPERATIONS� 
AND 

s PHYSICAL SECURITY� 
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Report of the Board 
The Board presents its Report and the audited financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2006. 

Statement of Accounts 
This Statement of Accounts has been prepared in accordance 
with Schedule 1 of the Office of Communications Act 2002 and 
as directed by the Secretaries of State for Trade and Industry 
and for Culture, Media and Sport. The Accounts cover the 
period from 1 April 2005 to 31 March 2006. 

Principal activities 
Ofcom is a statutory corporation without shareholders, 
established under the Office of Communications Act 2002. 

Ofcom is empowered, under the Communications Act 2003, to 
regulate and license television, radio, the use of the radio 
spectrum and telecommunications in accordance with the duties 
imposed upon it under the Act. 

Operating and Financial Review 
The Chairman’s Message on pages 2 to 3, the Chief 
Executive’s Report on pages 4 to 9 and the Operating and 
Financial Review on pages 65 to 87 form part of this Report and 
provide information on the activities of Ofcom during the year. 
The financial statements of Ofcom are set out on pages 126 to 
153

External auditors 
The Comptroller and Auditor General, whose staff is the 
National Audit Office (NAO), is appointed as Ofcom’s external 
auditor under the Office of Communications Act 2002. The cost 
of the statutory audit for 2005/6 was £90,000.  

In so far as the Accountable Officer is aware, there is no 
relevant audit information of which Ofcom’s auditors are 
unaware, and the Accountable Officer has taken all the steps 
that he ought to have taken to make himself aware of any 
relevant audit information and to establish that Ofcom’s auditors 
are aware of that information. 

The Board 
The Board has full responsibility for deciding and operating 
Ofcom’s affairs. The details of the Board Members are set out 
on pages 94 and 95. Details of Members’ remuneration are set 
out on pages 116 to 122. 

Members’ interests 
Ofcom embraces full disclosure of Members’ interests. The 
details of these can be found online at www.ofcom.org.uk.

Post balance sheet events 
There have been no significant post balance sheet events 
between the end of the period under review and the date of 
issue of this Annual Report and Accounts. 

Foreword
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Ofcom mission and values 
Ofcom’s commitment to its mission and values is shared by 
Board Members and Ofcom colleagues. The purpose of the 
shared mission and values is to ensure each Board Member 
and colleague undertakes Ofcom’s work by reference to a clear 
set of core values which include: 

• a commitment to colleagues, including a positive working 
culture and dedication to diversity; 

• a commitment to be dynamic, responsive and commercially 
aware; and 

• a commitment to incisive thinking, rigorous evidence-based 
analysis and engagement with stakeholders. 

Colleague involvement and consultation 
The quality, commitment and effectiveness of Ofcom colleagues 
are crucial to its success. Colleague involvement is actively 
encouraged as part of all Ofcom’s day-to-day processes. 

Ofcom specifically informs and consults its colleagues through: 

• the Ofcom Colleague Forum, an information and 
consultation forum which is made up of representatives of 
colleagues from across Ofcom and which meets regularly 
with senior management at Joint Consultative Group 
meetings;

• the Ofcom intranet, which is available to all colleagues in 
all of Ofcom’s offices; 

• presentations hosted by senior managers during which 
new strategic initiatives are explained to colleagues and 
updates are provided regarding continuing projects; 

• regular inter-group meetings both to listen to colleagues 
and to disseminate information; 

• regular messages from the Chief Executive; and 

• an annual all-colleague event to review progress and the 
year ahead. 

Additionally, Ofcom signed a recognition agreement with 
BECTU and Prospect, who work together as one body – the 
Partner Union. 

Employment policies, performance development 
and public sector duties 
As a public body, Ofcom has a number of statutory duties 
placed upon it relating to social responsibility. These include 
specific duties aimed at promoting equality and diversity and 
general duties which include considering the environmental 
impact of its policies. 

Ofcom is an equal opportunities employer and recruits 
colleagues regardless of age, gender, cultural and ethnic 
background, disability, religion or belief and sexual orientation.  

Ofcom is committed to building an organisation where all 
colleagues are treated fairly, with dignity and respect and has 
developed a range of policies which are consistent with the 
requirements of employment law, and in particular with 
legislation aimed at eliminating discrimination including the 
Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2001, the Disability 
Discrimination Act 1995 and, in relation to activities in Northern 
Ireland, section 75 of the Northern Ireland Act 1998.  

During 2005/6 Ofcom continued to roll out its integrated 
diversity policy, designed to deliver equality of opportunity in all 
areas of employment, including development and promotion. All 
managers and colleagues attended a diversity workshop as part 
of a programme of diversity training designed specifically for 
Ofcom. In May 2005 Ofcom published the final version of its 
Race Equality Scheme which sets out how Ofcom as an 
employer will promote equal opportunities among different racial 
groups and how as a regulator it will ensure its policies do not 
discriminate against any racial group. In September 2005 the 
Equality Commission for Northern Ireland approved Ofcom’s 
Equality Scheme, which requires Ofcom to conduct impact 
assessments in relation to its policies and their potential impact 
on nine designated groups in Northern Ireland.
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Ofcom has also published a Welsh Language Scheme that 
clarifies which of its documents will be made available in Welsh. 

Ofcom has an internal whistle-blowing policy setting out the 
procedure colleagues should follow if they wish to raise a 
concern about malpractice within the organisation.  

Ofcom has a performance management process to ensure 
colleagues agree clear objectives for both performance and 
their ongoing development. The number of development 
activities delivered across the organisation during the period 
exceeded 400. 

Statement on health and safety policy and practice 
Ofcom now has an established health and safety committee 
which reviews health and safety policy. Policy and performance 
are reviewed annually to ensure colleagues are unharmed by 
their work. For example, during the reporting period Ofcom 
implemented postural assessment for all computer users. 
Ofcom has a dedicated Member of the Executive Committee 
(ExCo) specifically responsible for safety, and during the year 
Ofcom appointed an occupational health adviser.  

Colleagues at all levels are involved in prioritised risk 
management, and particularly high-risk activities are reviewed 
internally – for example in Field Operations, substantial 
progress has been made against the top two risks: driving and 
work on dangerous rooftops. 

Data protection 
Ofcom is a Data Controller under the Data Protection Act 1998 
(‘the Act’) and is committed to processing all personal data in a 
manner which meets the requirements of the Act, including the 
data protection principles. Ensuring compliance with the data 
protection standards is not simply an issue of operating within 
the law; it is also about the effective handling of personal data 
and respecting the interests and rights of individuals. It is for 

these reasons that Ofcom has undertaken an internal 
awareness campaign to ensure all colleagues understand their 
responsibilities to comply with good information handling 
practice. Ofcom is also in the process of reviewing policies and 
processes for collecting and holding personal data, to ensure 
that it is fully compliant with the Act and that Ofcom 
communicates these policies and processes effectively with 
those whose data it holds. 

Freedom of Information 
Under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 which established a 
general right of access to all types of recorded information held 
by public authorities, Ofcom has continued via its publication 
scheme to make a wide range of information readily accessible 
on its website. Ofcom received 835 requests for information 
between 1 April 2005 and 31 March 2006 and in keeping with 
the Act’s purpose to foster a culture of openness Ofcom 
provided information requested in 87 per cent of cases.  

Foreword
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Going concern 
Based on normal business planning 
and control procedures, the Board has 
a reasonable expectation that Ofcom 
has adequate resources to continue in 
operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. For this reason, the 
Board continues to adopt the going 
concern basis for preparing the financial 
statements.

David Currie 
Chairman

Stephen A Carter 
Chief Executive 
27 June 2006

Charitable donations 
Ofcom has chosen to play a positive role 
in the London locality of its headquarters. 
Within the Borough of Southwark, Ofcom 
has chosen the St Mungo’s organisation 
for the homeless as its nominated 
voluntary organisation. 

The Ofcom Board has decided that it 
would not be appropriate for executives 
to retain gifts with a value greater than 
£25; instead, organisations wishing to 
make a courtesy gift to an Ofcom 
executive (for example, a speaker’s fee) 
are requested to pay the equivalent as a 
charitable donation to St Mungo’s. 

The relationship with St Mungo’s was 
formalised in December 2003; by the end 
of the period under review Ofcom had 
passed almost £6,500 in charitable 
donations to the organisation. 

“Thanks to Ofcom's continuing 
commitment St Mungo's is able to help 
thousands of homeless men and women 
off the street and hundreds of people 
back into work every year.”

Charles Fraser 
Chief Executive 

St Mungo’s 
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Millie Banerjee CBE (age 60)

Millie Banerjee CBE is a Non-Executive 

Member of Ofcom. She is the Chair 

of Postwatch, the Chair of the 

Carnegie UK Trust and a Member 

of the Advisory Board of the Tanaka 

Imperial College Business School. 

Millie Banerjee is Chairman of the 

Remuneration Committee. 

Stephen A. Carter (age 42)

Stephen Carter is the Chief Executive 

of Ofcom. He is the organisation’s 

Accountable Offi cer and Chair of the 

Executive Committee. Previously he was 

Managing Director and Chief Executive 

at J. Walter Thompson UK Limited and 

MD and Chief Operating Offi cer of NTL 

UK & Ireland. He is a law graduate from 

Aberdeen University and completed the 

Harvard Business School’s Advanced 

Management Programme (A.M.P. 152) 

in 1997. He is the current Chairman of 

the Marketing Group of Great Britain, a 

Non-Executive Director of Travis Perkins 

PLC, a Governor of the Ashridge Business 

School, and a Vice President of UNICEF.

David Currie (age 59) 

David Currie is the Non-Executive Chairman 

of Ofcom. David has been Dean of Cass 

Business School at City University since 

January 2001. He was Professor of Economics 

at London Business School from 1988 to 

2000 and Deputy Dean from 1992 to 1995 

and again in 1999-2000. He is Chairman 

of Independent Audit and a Board member 

of the Dubai Financial Services Authority. 

He sits on the cross-benches in the House 

of Lords as Lord Currie of Marylebone. 

David Currie is a Member of the Audit and 

Remuneration Committees of Ofcom.

Stephanie Liston (age 48)

Stephanie Liston is a Non-Executive Member 

of Ofcom, appointed on 1 September 

2005. She is a Corporate Partner in Howes 

Percival, Norwich. A qualifi ed lawyer in 

the US and the UK, she is co-chairman of 

the Communications Committee of the 

International Bar Association and co-

founder and chair of Women in Telecoms 

and Technology. She has more than 15 

years of experience advising on strategic 

regulatory issues, contractual negotiations 

and commercial transactions in the UK 

and international communications and 

technology sector.

Kip Meek (age 51)

Kip Meek is an Executive Member of Ofcom 

and Chief Policy Partner. Prior to joining 

Ofcom, he was Managing Director of 

Spectrum Strategy Consulting, and one of its 

two founders. His consulting career focused 

on major decisions in the communications 

industry, particularly those that involved 

integration of the media, telecommunications 

and information sectors.

The Ofcom Board
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Phillip Graf CBE (age 59)

Philip Graf was appointed Non-Executive 

Deputy Chairman of Ofcom in November 

2005. Philip Graf joined the Liverpool Daily 

Post and Echo in 1983, which became 

Trinity International Holdings in 1985. He 

subsequently became Chief Executive in 

1993. He became Chief Executive of Trinity 

Mirror Group when the company merged 

with the Mirror Group in 1999 – a position 

he held until February 2003. He is a former 

Chairman of the Press Standards Board of 

Finance and of the Broadband Stakeholder 

Group. He is currently a partner with Praesta 

Partners LLP and a non-executive director 

of Archant Limited. He is Chairman of the 

Content Board and is a Member of the 

Remuneration and Audit Committees.

Sara Nathan (age 50)

Sara Nathan is a Non-Executive Member 

of Ofcom. She is also a member of the 

Judicial Appointments Commission and 

chairs the Animal Procedures Committee 

for the Home Offi ce. She is also on the 

Regulatory Decisions Committee, Financial 

Services Authority and a Member of ICSTIS, 

the premium rate regulator. Sara Nathan is 

a member of the Audit Committee.

Ed Richards (age 40)

Ed Richards is the Chief Operating 

Offi cer for Ofcom and the Senior Partner, 

Strategy and Market Developments. He 

was previously Senior Policy Advisor to 

the Prime Minister for media, telecoms, 

internet and e-government. He has 

been Controller of Corporate Strategy 

at the BBC and worked in consulting 

at London Economics Ltd. He is a Non-

Executive Board Member of the Donmar 

Warehouse Theatre.

Sean Williams (age 43)

Sean Williams is an Executive Member 

of Ofcom and Competition Partner, 

responsible for the development and 

enforcement of Ofcom’s economic 

regulation and competition policies in 

communications markets. He is also a Non-

Executive Director of Williams Lea Holdings 

PLC. Previously he was a partner of LEK 

Consulting, a strategy consulting fi rm, 

from 1997 to 2003, where he advised on 

competition and business strategy issues, 

and a special advisor in the Prime Minister’s 

Policy Unit from 1995 to 1997.

• Stephanie Liston joined the Board 

as a Non-Executive Member 

on 1 September 2005

• Richard Hooper CBE was Non-Executive 

Deputy Chairman of Ofcom and 

Chairman of the Content Board until 

his retirement on 31 December 2005

• Philip Graf joined the Board as 

Non-Executive Deputy Chairman of 

Ofcom and Chairman of the Content 

Board on 1 January 2006

• Sean Williams joined the Board as an 

Executive Member on 1 January 2006 

Ian Hargreaves (age 55)

Ian Hargreaves is a Non-Executive 

Member of Ofcom. Since January 2003, 

he has been Director of Corporate 

and Public Affairs at BAA plc, but has 

retained his position as Professor of 

Journalism at Cardiff University. He 

is a regular contributor to Radio 4. 

Ian Hargreaves is Chairman of the 

Radio Licensing Committee.
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The Combined Code on Corporate Governance, appended to 
the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, is a set of 
principles of good governance and a code of best practice. 

The Combined Code does not apply to Ofcom as Ofcom is an 
independent statutory corporation. However, its principles 
provide a useful benchmark for all bodies wishing to make a 
statement about their corporate governance performance. 
Ofcom has complied with the main principles of the Combined 
Code during the period 1 April 2005 until 31 March 2006; it has 
adopted the principles of the Code where it was either capable 
of doing so, or it was appropriate to do so, given its status as an 
independent statutory corporation. 

Board Members’ remuneration 
Details of Members’ remuneration are set out on pages 116 to 
122.

Board
The Ofcom Board comprises both Executive and Non-Executive 
Members. The Chairman and Non-Executive Members of the 
Ofcom Board are appointed jointly by the Secretaries of State 
for Trade and Industry and for Culture, Media and Sport for a 
period of up to five years. In this capacity the Departments have 
effectively carried out the role of a Nominations Committee for 
the Non-Executive Members of Ofcom. Executive Members to 
the Board are appointed by the Chairman and all of the 
independent Non-Executive Members. Members’ biographical 
details are set out on pages 94 and 95. 

Ofcom has adopted a unitary Board model. The Board consists 
of six Non-Executive Members including the Chairman, who is 
responsible for running the Board, and four Executive Members 
including the Chief Executive. The Board is responsible and 
accountable for the discharge of Ofcom’s statutory functions 
and provides strategic leadership and manages overall control 
of Ofcom’s activities. Members’ duties and responsibilities are 

set out in a Members’ Code of Conduct. A register of Members’ 
interests is available on the Ofcom website. 

For the purposes of compliance with the Combined Code: 

• the Board considers all of the Non-Executive Members to 
be independent of management and free of any business 
or other relationship which could materially interfere with 
the exercise of their judgement; 

• the Board believes that the Members have, between them, 
a wide range of experience which ensures an effective 
Board to lead and control Ofcom; 

• the Non-Executive Members comprise a majority of the 
Board. Millie Banerjee is regarded as being the senior Non-
Executive Member for the purposes of the Combined 
Code;

• on appointment all Members are given a full induction on 
their responsibilities and thereafter receive further 
guidance and briefings as and when required; 

• the Board meets at regular intervals during the year. The 
Board reserves certain matters to itself but otherwise 
delegates specific responsibilities to senior managers and 
committees. The role of executive management is to 
implement Board policies. The work of both the Board and 
Executive is informed by the contributions of a number of 
advisory bodies; 

• the Board is supplied in a timely manner on a regular basis 
with information in a form and of a quality appropriate to 
enable it to discharge its functions; and 

• all Members have access to the Secretary to the 
Corporation, who is responsible to the Board for ensuring 
that correct rules and procedures are followed. All 
Members have access to advice from independent 
professionals at Ofcom’s expense. 

The Board undertook an evaluation of its performance during 
February 2006. 

Corporate Governance
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In general terms, the Chairman manages the Board to ensure 
that:

• Ofcom has appropriate objectives and an effective 
strategy; 

• the Chief Executive’s team is able to implement the 
strategy; 

• there are procedures in place to inform the Board of 
performance against objectives; and 

• Ofcom is operating in accordance with the highest 
standards of corporate governance. 

As a statutory corporation, the principles and provisions of the 
Combined Code in respect of relations with shareholders are 
not directly applicable; however, Ofcom’s Annual Report is sent 
to the Department of Trade and Industry which lays copies of it 
before each House of Parliament, to which Ofcom is 
accountable. 
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In the exercise of its powers under the Office of 
Communications Act 2002, the Board delegates 
certain of its responsibilities to the executives 
within Ofcom and certain responsibilities to Board 
Committees with clearly defined authority and 
terms of reference. The composition and main 
functions of these Committees are described 
below.

The Executive Committee 
The Executive Committee (‘ExCo’) was established in April 
2004 and is the senior management team responsible for 
running Ofcom. It is responsible for the management of the 
overall direction and strategy of the organisation, including the 
setting of internal organisational priorities, the management of 
Ofcom’s operational resources and activity and the review of 
major projects. ExCo meets weekly. The members of ExCo 
during the year were: 

• Stephen A Carter (Chairman) 
• Rona Chester 
• Robin Foster (resigned 31/07/05) 
• Graham Howell 
• Peter Ingram 
• Sandra Jenner (resigned 31/01/06) 
• Kip Meek 
• Dominic Morris CBE 
• Peter Phillips (appointed 13/03/06) 
• Ed Richards 
• Philip Rutnam 
• Tony Stoller CBE (retired 31/01/06) 
• Tim Suter 
• Sean Williams 

Other senior Ofcom colleagues are invited to attend meetings of 
ExCo on an ad-hoc basis.

The Content Board
The role and remit of the Content Board is set out in the report 
from the Chairman of the Content Board on pages 10 to 13. The 
Content Board meets monthly and held 12 meetings during the 
year. The Members of the Content Board during the year were: 

• Richard Hooper CBE (Chairman, resigned 31/12/05) 
• Philip Graf CBE (Chairman, appointed 01/01/06) 
• Sara Nathan (Deputy Chairman) 
• Sue Balsom 
• Floella Benjamin OBE 
• Kevin Carey 
• Jonathan Edwards CBE (resigned 28/02/06) 
• Pam Giddy 
• Rosemary Kelly (resigned 28/02/06) 
• Matthew MacIver 
• Kip Meek 
• Adam Singer 
• Tim Suter 
• Kath Worrall 

Non-Executive Members of the Content Board were appointed 
for an initial extended period of three years and two months 
until June 2006. A recruitment and re-application process for 
the appointment of Members to the Content Board concluded in 
July 2006. Kip Meek and Tim Suter are the only Executive 
Members of the Content Board. 

Board Committees
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The Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee comprises three Non-Executive Members 
of the Ofcom Board and an independent external non-executive 
Chair. The members of the Audit Committee during the year 
were:

• Anne Bulford (Chairman, resigned 30/06/05) 
• Peter Teague (Chairman, appointed 18/10/05) 
• David Currie 
• Richard Hooper CBE (resigned 31/12/05) 
• Philip Graf CBE (appointed 1/1/06) 
• Sara Nathan 

Peter Teague, the external independent Chair, is a qualified 
chartered accountant and satisfies the requirement under the 
Combined Code that one Member of the Committee has 
relevant financial experience. The additional requirements of 
the Combined Code are met to the extent that three Members 
of the Committee are independent Non-Executive Members of 
the Ofcom Board. 

The Chief Executive, Chief Operating Officer and Finance 
Director are invited to attend Committee meetings, as are the 
internal and external auditors. The Chairman of the Audit 
Committee reports the outcome of Audit Committee meetings to 
the Ofcom Board through the Chairman of Ofcom, David Currie. 

The main duties of the Audit Committee are to: 

• review and direct the internal audit function and the 
appointment of the internal auditors; 

• review the nature and scope of the external audit and the 
findings of the external auditors; 

• to monitor and review, on behalf of the Board, the 
effectiveness of the systems of internal control and risk 
management;

• to monitor and review, on behalf of the Board, the integrity, 
quality and reliability of the financial statements, Annual 
Plan and Accounts; 

• to continually review the scope and results of both internal 
and external audits; and 

• to approve the financial authority framework. 

The internal audit function is carried out independently from 
Ofcom by KPMG. The Audit Committee believes it is 
appropriate for the internal auditors, in addition, to provide 
Ofcom with specific advice on internal risks. The provision of 
other services by KPMG to Ofcom is decided on a case-by-case 
basis. The external audit function is carried out by the National 
Audit Office. 

Meetings are held not less than three times a year. The terms of 
reference are available on the Ofcom website. 

Peter Teague is paid £5,000 per annum for the provision of his 
services as Chair of the Audit Committee. However, as Peter 
was appointed during the year, he was actually paid £2,276 for 
the period. 

The Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee consists of three Non-Executive 
Members of the Ofcom Board. The members of the 
Remuneration Committee during the year were: 

• Millie Banerjee CBE (Chairman) 
• David Currie 
• Richard Hooper CBE (resigned 31/12/05) 
• Philip Graf CBE (appointed 01/01/06) 

The Chief Executive and the HR Director attend meetings at the 
invitation of the Remuneration Committee. 

The Committee advises Ofcom on the remuneration and terms 
and conditions of service for the Chief Executive, other 
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Executive Members of the Board and Members of the Executive 
Committee. The Committee also advises Ofcom on the terms 
and conditions of the Non-Executive members of the Content 
Board, the Consumer Panel, the Advisory Committee for Older 
and Disabled Persons and the four Advisory Committees for the 
Nations and Regions.  

The Committee oversees the process for determining the terms 
and conditions of all other Ofcom colleagues. The Committee 
also oversees and decides upon issues relating to the pension 
arrangements established by Ofcom for all Ofcom colleagues. 

The Remuneration Committee meets as and when required. 
During the period the Committee met seven times. The 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee reports the outcome 
of the Remuneration Committee meetings to the Board. 

The remuneration of Non-Executive Members of the Ofcom 
Board (excluding the Chairman whose remuneration is decided 
upon by his employers, the City Business School, details of 
which are provided in the Remuneration Report) is determined 
by the Secretaries of State and is set out in detail in note 4 to 
the Remuneration Report. Should it be necessary for Ofcom to 
consider any aspect of Non-Executive Member remuneration a 
Non-Executive Member Remuneration Committee has been 
established consisting of the Chairman, Stephen A. Carter and 
other executive colleagues, which will meet and report directly 
to the Secretaries of State. Consequently, no Board Member is 
involved in the setting of his or her own remuneration. 

The Remuneration Report on pages 116 to 122 sets out 
Ofcom’s application of the relevant principles of the Combined 
Code.

Fairness and Privacy Committee and Content 
Sanctions Committee 
Both these committees are made up of members of the Content 
Board. On occasions, the Content Sanctions Committee has the 
addition of members of the Ofcom Board. 

Both Committees have a permanent Chair who, during the 
period, was Sara Nathan for the Fairness and Privacy 
Committee and Richard Hooper CBE and then Philip Graf CBE 
for the Content Sanctions Committee.

The Committees meet as and when required and details of their 
activities can be found on pages 85 and 86.

Radio Licensing Committee 
Ian Hargreaves, Non-Executive Member of the Ofcom Board, 
chairs this committee. Its membership consists of two 
permanent Non-Executive Members of the Content Board 
(Matthew MacIver and Pam Giddy) and four Ofcom colleagues. 
It meets monthly and details of its activities can be found on 
page 53.

Board Committees
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The Consumer Panel 
Section 16 of the Communications Act 2003 requires Ofcom to 
establish a Consumer Panel. 

Independent of Ofcom and operating at arm’s length from it, the 
Panel exists to advise Ofcom on consumer interests in the 
markets it regulates. During the year the Members of the 
Consumer Panel were: 

• Colette Bowe (Chairman) 
• Ruth Evans (Deputy Chairman) 
• Azeem Azhar 
• Fiona Ballantyne 
• Nainish Bapna (resigned 30/6/05) 
• Roger Darlington 
• Simon Gibson OBE 
• Graham Mather 
• Kevin McLaughlin 
• Jeremy Mitchell (appointed 2/2/06) 
• Kate O’Rourke 
• Bob Twitchin 
• Allan Williams (appointed 2/2/06) 

While Ofcom provides the Consumer Panel with operational 
support, the Panel holds its own budget and sets its own 
priorities on the basis of its statutory remit. 

Ofcom and the Consumer Panel have jointly agreed a 
Memorandum of Understanding. This memorandum establishes 
the principles that both bodies agree to adopt in their relations 
and dealings with each other and affirms the independence of 
the Panel from Ofcom. 

The Consumer Panel engaged in four major areas of work 
during the year: tracker research, consumer-focused regulation, 
digital switchover and the Strategic Review of 
Telecommunications.  

The Consumer Panel made representations to Ofcom during 
the year on the following subjects: 

• Consumer interest toolkit;

• Ofcom's Annual Plan; 

• Ofcom’s Consumer Policy Review; 

• Digital switchover; 

• Ofcom’s Strategic Review of Telecommunications;

• BT Group plc Undertakings; 

• Publication of BT financial reports;

• Impact assessment;

• Local Loop Unbundling;  

• Next Generation Networks; 

• Ofcom’s duty to encourage availability of easily usable 
apparatus;  

• Number Translation Services; 

• Public body use of revenue sharing services; 

• Mis-selling of fixed-line telecoms services;

• Wholesale Broadband Access;  

• Alternative Dispute Resolution schemes; and 

• Universal Service Obligations. 

The Consumer Panel published its 2005/6 Annual Report on its 
activities on 8 June 2006. The Report and further details of the 
Panel’s work can be found online at 
www.ofcomconsumerpanel.org.uk.

Non-Board Committees
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The Ofcom Spectrum Advisory Board 
The Ofcom Spectrum Advisory Board (OSAB) was established 
on 19 May 2004 to provide independent advice to Ofcom on 
strategic spectrum management issues. OSAB meets five to six 
times a year. During the year the Members of OSAB were: 

• Sir David Brown (Chairman) 
• Bob Barron (appointed 25/7/05, resigned 12/9/05) 
• Professor Martin Cave 
• Dr David Cleevely 
• Professor Leela Damodaran 
• Professor Barry Evans 
• Debbie Gillatt (appointed 12/9/05) 
• Mike Hibberd (resigned 1/2/06) 
• Stephen Lowe
• Phillipa Marks 
• Professor Mike Short 
• Andrew Sleigh 
• Stephen Speed (resigned 24/7/05) 
• Professor Will Stewart 
• Stephen Temple CBE 
• Dr Gary Tonge 
• Dr Walter Tuttlebee 

OSAB has advised Ofcom this year on a number of strategic 
spectrum issues including: 

• the role of Ofcom in promoting innovation, particularly in 
the wireless sector; 

• the content and direction of Ofcom’s research and 
development work; 

• digital divide issues and the role that spectrum might play 
in addressing them; 

• a detailed and wide-ranging assessment of Ofcom’s 
trading and liberalisation proposals and the difficulties and 

improvements that might be made in implementing them; 
and

• the type of metrics that might be useful in measuring the 
impact of Ofcom’s spectrum initiatives. 

In addition, OSAB provided substantial input and advice into the 
Cave Audit of Government spectrum holdings which was 
completed during the year. 

OSAB’s Annual Report, covering its activities during its second 
year, was published on 8 May 2006 and can be found on the 
OSAB website at www.osab.org.uk

The Advisory Committee for Older and Disabled 
Persons
Section 21(1) of the Communications Act 2003 requires Ofcom 
to establish a Committee to advise Ofcom on issues in the 
communications sector that particularly impact on older and 
disabled people. The Committee meets at least four times a 
year. During the year the Members of the Committee were: 

• Mike Whitlam CBE (Chairman) 
• Lydia Thomas (Deputy Chairman) 
• Professor Janet Askham 
• Rt Hon Lord Carter 
• Simon Cramp 
• Gareth Davies 
• Caroline Ellis 
• Baroness Greengross OBE 
• Fred Heddell 
• Jonathan Kaye 
• Suneel Shivdasani (appointed 1/1/06) 

• Ross Trotter 
• John Welsman (appointed 1/1/06)
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Throughout the period, the Committee has advised Ofcom on 
proposed Ofcom policy as it may impact older and disabled 
people: 

• the review of the Universal Service Obligation in 
telecoms;

the implications of the development of Voice over 
IP (VoIP) services; 

• Television Access Services – particularly audio description, 
signing and subtitling, and especially the preparations for 
digital switchover; 

• digital switchover and its impact on older and disabled 
consumers; and 

• Ofcom’s research function to ensure that a comprehensive 
body of evidence is developed on the communications 
interests of older and disabled people. 

The Committee has joined the Government and Digital UK’s 
Consumer Expert Group, which advises on accessible digital 
equipment and how to ensure older and disabled people 
receive appropriate and timely advice and support during the 
switchover process. 

The Advisory Committees for the Nations and 
Regions
Section 20 of the Communications Act 2003 requires Ofcom to 
establish Advisory Committees for the different Nations in the 
United Kingdom. The function of each Committee is to provide 
advice to Ofcom about the interests and opinions, in relation to 
communications matters, of people living in the part of the UK 
for which the Committee has been established. Committees 
were established for the English Regions, Northern Ireland, 
Scotland and Wales during the early part of 2004. 

Each Committee meets at least four times a year and they have 
each advised Ofcom on proposed Ofcom policy as it may 
impact on the Nations and Regions: 

• the finalisation of the review of public service broadcasting, 
in particular the importance of quality and localness in 

regional programming and the value of regional news and 
current affairs; 

• the developing 'digital divide' between the UK’s main urban 
and rural areas relating principally to access to digital 
television, affordable broadband access and mobile phone 
reception;

• the future of the Universal Service Obligations (particularly 
public call boxes), the availability of mobile phone services, 
number portability and service bundling; 

• the impact of digital switchover on each Nation and the 
English regions; 

• the television production sector review; 

• the proposals to improve media literacy;  

• the review of number translation services; and  

• implications for the Nations and Regions of Ofcom’s review 
of radio. 

Non-Board Committees
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The membership of each Committee is as follows: 

All Members of Ofcom’s Non-Board Committees (with the exception of the Ofcom Spectrum Advisory Group) are remunerated for the 
provision of their services, based on a daily variable rate. 

English Regions 
• Suzy Brain England (Chairman) 
• Gita Conn OBE JP 
• Sue Farrington 
• John Hooper CBE 
• Derek Inman 
• Don Jayasuriya 
• Azam Mamujee (appointed 1/9/05) 
• Jessica Mann 
• Andrew Norton 
• Anne Scorer (appointed 1/9/05) 
• Alan Wright 

Scotland
• Joyce Taylor (Chairman) 
• James Hunter 
• Fiona McLeod (resigned 20/03/06) 
• Andrew Muir 
• Susan Neal 
• Thomas Prag 
• Selma Rahman 
• Julie Ramage 
• Martin Robertson  
• Professor Philip Schlesinger 

Northern Ireland 
• Professor R. Wallace Ewart OBE (Chairman) 
• Sinead Boyle 
• Carol Burrows 
• Brian Collins 
• Mags Connolly 
• Dr David Elliott 
• Michael McKernan 
• Jane Morrice 
• Una Murphy 
• Dr Leslie Orr 
• Professor Gerard Parr 
• Glyn Roberts 

Wales
• Evan Jones (Chairman, resigned 31/03/06) 
• Nick Bennett 
• Ian Clarke 
• Michael Clarke 
• Professor Tony Davies (Chairman, with effect 01/04/06) 
• Dr Kevin Fitzpatrick 
• Julie James 
• Christine Hall (resigned 31/3/06) 
• Elizabeth Williams 
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Ofcom is accountable to 
Parliament and is also 
committed to transparency 
and full public disclosure 
wherever possible within the 
bounds of commercial 
confidentiality.
The following lists the 
Parliamentary and public 
appearances of the Ofcom 
Chairman, Chairman of the 
Content Board and Ofcom 
Chief Executive during the 
period under review. The lists 
below are not a complete 
summary of all Parliamentary 
and public appearances. 

David Currie 
Briefings to Parliament April 2005 – 
March 2006 

April 2005 

 House of Lords BBC Charter Review 
Select Committee 

December 2005 

 House of Lords BBC Charter Review 
Select Committee 

Various meetings with Parliamentarians 

Key public speeches April 2005 – 
March 2006 

April 2005 

 The Development Group lunch 

 Wincott Foundation lunch 

May 2005 

 Newspaper Society annual lunch 

September 2005 

 DTI i2010 Conference 

 CRI Lecture 

 DCMS Audiovisual Conference –  
chairing 

October 2005 

 Chatham House/IIC Conference on 
Communications

 Communications Network annual 
dinner

Public and Parliamentary Accountability
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Richard Hooper CBE
Key public speeches April 2005 – 
March 2006 

April 2005 

 ECTA Conference – chairing 

 Telecommunications Executive 
Network – chairing 

June 2005 

 IEA Future of Broadcasting 
conference

August 2005 

 Hong Kong Broadcasting Authority 
Seminar

October 2005 

 IIC International Regulators Forum 
– chairing 

November 2005 

 Canberra Conference 

 Impact of TWF at ISPA

Stephen A Carter 
Briefings to Parliament April 2005 – 
March 2006 

April 2005 

 House of Lords BBC Charter Review 
Select Committee 

December 2005 

 House of Commons Culture, Media 
and Sport Select Committee hearing 
into Analogue Switch-off 

Various meetings with Parliamentarians 

Key public speeches April 2005– 
March 2006 

April 2005 

 RTS Dinner 

May 2005 

 FT Mobile Communications 
Conference

June 2005 

 OECD Convergence Seminar 

July 2005 

Guardian Media Lecture, Radio 
Academy Festival 

 Westminster Media Forum 
Telecoms Seminar 

September 2005 

 GMG Radio Board lunch 

November 2005 

Economist European Telecoms 
Conference

 Next Generation Regulation: 
Delivering Competition 
Communications Conference 

 VLV Autumn Conference 

 IRG/ERG Plenary 

December 2005 

 ECTA Annual Regulation 
Conference

January 2006 

 RTS dinner 

February 2006 

 CMA Conference 

March 2006  

 Smith Barney/Citigroup Conference
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Ofcom has duties under Section 7 of the Communications Act 
to carry out impact assessments for important proposals, and to 
list all assessments carried out, and decisions relating to them, 
in its Annual Report. The following tables list for 2005/6: 

• the Ofcom statements published in which the earlier 
consultation document contained an impact assessment; 
and

• other consultation documents which contained an impact 
assessment, but where no statement was published within 
the year. 

Ofcom statements published in 2005/6 in which the earlier consultation included an impact assessment 
• Protecting citizens and consumers from mis-selling of fixed-line telecommunications services: Notification of Modification to a

General Condition – Introduction of mandatory Codes of Practice for sales and marketing in fixed-line telecoms services 
• Final decision review of the broadcasting transmission services market 
• The final strategy on the management and administration of the new Community Radio Fund  
• The Wireless Telegraphy (Licence Charges) Regulations 2005  
• The Ofcom Broadcasting Code 
• Statement on Planning Options for Digital Switchover 
• PSB review – Phase 3 – Competition for quality Statement on Programming for the Nations and Regions 
• Review of ITV Networking Arrangements  
• Ofcom’s decision to exempt the use of automotive short-range equipment in the 24 GHz band from Wireless Telegraphy 

licensing : Statement 
• Implementation of geographic number conservation measures – A statement issued by the Office of Communications 
• An assessment of alternative solutions for UK number portability – Policy statement 
• Spectrum Framework Review Statement 
• Notification of approval of an emergency code amendment to the ICSTIS Code of Practice 
• Valuing BT's copper access network 
• Ofcom’s approach to risk in the assessment of the cost of capital  
• Explanatory Statement on BT’s SMP status and charge controls in narrowband wholesale markets 
• Per-provider and per-customer line costs and charges for Carrier Pre-selection 
• Charges between Communications Providers: Number Translation Services Retail Uplift charge control and Premium Rate 

Services bad debt surcharge 
• A statement on proposals for applying RSA to Radio Astronomy 
• Ofcom's decision to exempt the use of radio frequency identification equipment in the 865-868 MHz band from Wireless 

Telegraphy licensing 
• Award of available spectrum: 1781.7-1785 MHz paired with 1876.7-1880 MHz 
• Local loop unbundling: setting the fully unbundled rental charge ceiling and minor amendment to SMP conditions FA6 and FB6 
• Ships' Radio Licensing 
• Statement and notification extending the charge controls  
• Radio – Licensing Policy for VHF Band III, Sub-band 3 
• Wholesale Line Rental: Reviewing and setting charge ceilings for WLR services 
• Amateur radio licensing  
• Statement on the making of regulations in connection with the award of 1781.7-1785 MHz paired with 1876.7-1880 MHz 
• Radio – Preparing for the Future (Phase 2) 
• Statement of policy on the persistent misuse of an electronic communications network or electronic communications service 
• National Single Non-Emergency Number Designating number “101” 
• Review of the Universal Service Obligation  
• Wholesale Mobile Voice Call Termination charge controls – request for consent 
• Number portability and technology neutrality: Modification to the Number Portability General Condition and the National 

Telephone Numbering Plan 

Impact Assessments Undertaken
1 April 2005 – 31 March 2006
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Ofcom consultations published in 2005/6, which included an impact assessment and where no 
statement has yet been published 
• Notice of Ofcom’s proposal to make regulations to inspect and restrict the use of certain Wireless Telegraphy licence- 

exempt apparatus 
• Regulation of business retail markets 
• Number Translation Services: A way forward 
• Providing citizens and consumers with improved information about Number Translation Services and Premium Rate 

Services
• Award of available spectrum: 412-414 MHz paired with 422-424 MHz 
• Pay TV channels on multiplexes B, C and D 
• Proposed guidance as to how Ofcom may interpret the meaning of “fair, reasonable and non-discriminatory” and other 

regulatory conditions when assessing charges and terms offered by regulated providers of Technical Platform Services 
• Conditions regulating Premium Rate Services 
• Review of the Ofcom Metering and Billing Approval Scheme 
• Review of the cross-promotion rules 
• Award of Available Spectrum – 1785-1805 MHz 
• Product Placement – A consultation on issues related to product placement 
• The Future Licensing of DAB digital radio 
• Television production sector: a review 
• Channel Sponsorship – A consultation on the sponsorship of television channels and radio stations 
• Migrations, switching and mis-selling 
• Regulation of VoIP Services 
• Telephone Numbering: Safeguarding the future of numbers 
• Retail Price Controls: Explanatory Statement and Proposals 
• Television access services review 
• Television advertising of food and drink products to children – Options for new restrictions 
• Mobile Call Termination Market Review 
• Award of available spectrum: 1452-1492 MHz 
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The Board’s responsibilities 
Under the terms of the Office of Communications Act 2002, the 
Board is required to prepare a Statement of Accounts for each 
financial year. This conforms with the Accounts Direction issued 
by the Secretaries of State for Trade and Industry and for 
Culture, Media and Sport. The Board is also responsible for 
sending a copy of the Statement of Accounts to the Comptroller 
and Auditor General. 

This Statement of Accounts is prepared, in so far as applicable, 
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and the United 
Kingdom accounting standards. The Statement of Accounts is 
prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of Ofcom as at the end of the 
financial year and of its income and expenditure, recognised 
gains and losses and cash flows for the financial year. 

The Board confirms that in preparing this Statement of 
Accounts it has observed the relevant accounting and 
disclosure requirements, applied suitable accounting policies on 
a consistent basis, made judgements and estimates on a 
reasonable basis, followed applicable accounting standards and 
prepared the statement of accounts on a going-concern basis. 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that proper records are 
maintained which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time 
the financial position of Ofcom and enable it to ensure that the 
Statement of Accounts complies with the Companies Act 1985. 
In addition, the Board is responsible for safeguarding Ofcom’s 
assets and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

Chief Executive’s responsibilities 
The Chief Executive is appointed by the Board who delegate to 
him responsibility for the day-to-day management of Ofcom. 
The Secretaries of State for Trade and Industry and for Culture, 
Media and Sport have designated the Chief Executive as 
Ofcom’s Accountable Officer. He is not formally appointed as 

the Accounting Officer in Government terms, however the 
appointment carries with it duties of responsibility in respect of 
regularity, propriety, value for money and good financial 
management and the safeguarding of public funds. 

The Chief Executive has specific responsibilities for ensuring 
compliance with the terms of the Financial Memorandum issued 
by the Secretaries of State. He must also ensure proper 
accounting records are maintained and must sign the accounts. 

As a Member of the Board, the Chief Executive has to ensure 
that his accountability responsibilities do not conflict with those 
as a Board Member. The Chief Executive may also be called 
upon by the Committee of Public Accounts and other 
Parliamentary committees to give evidence on the discharge of 
his duties. 

Statement of Responsibilities
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Scope of responsibility 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a 
sound system of internal control that supports the achievement 
of Ofcom’s policies, aims and objectives, while safeguarding the 
public funds and Ofcom’s assets for which I am personally 
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to 
me in Government Accounting and in the Ofcom Financial 
Memorandum issued to me by the Secretaries of State for 
Trade and Industry and for Culture, Media and Sport. 

I am required to advise the Board if any action would infringe 
upon the requirements of propriety or regularity or upon my 
wider responsibilities for value for money. 

The purpose of the system of internal control 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a 
reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to 
achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
effectiveness.

Ofcom’s system of internal control is based on an ongoing 
process designed to: 

• identify and prioritise risks to the achievement of Ofcom’s 
policies, aims and objectives; 

• evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and 
their impact should they be realised;  

• manage those risks efficiently, effectively and 
economically; and 

• integrate risk management into Ofcom’s wider set of 
management processes. 

The system of internal control based on the above objectives 
has been in place in Ofcom for the year ended 31 March 2006 
and up to the date of approval of the Annual Report and 
Accounts and accords with Treasury guidance. 

Capacity to handle risk 
Ofcom has developed an effective risk management strategy 
around four key principles: 

• clear ownership of roles and responsibilities; 

• establishment of corporate systems to identify, report and 
evaluate risks and their potential impact; 

• ensuring colleagues have the appropriate skills to identify 
and assess the potential for risks to arise in the delivery of 
Ofcom’s remit; and 

• the creation of a culture which supports well-managed risk-
taking where to do so is likely to lead to sustainable 
improvements in service delivery. 

Ofcom recognises, however, that organisational risk tolerance 
will vary dependent on the circumstances. Ofcom remains 
highly risk averse in certain areas of its core operational 
activities but will tolerate, or even encourage, greater risk-taking 
in other, more policy-focused areas in order to achieve 
beneficial changes for citizens and consumers. This acceptance 
of a higher level of risk does not, of course, override the need 
for a full evaluation of such risk before such activities are 
undertaken.

Ofcom has therefore developed appropriate processes for the 
systematic identification, evaluation and control of risk and has 
further enhanced these in 2005/6. 

The risk and control framework 
Under Ofcom’s risk management arrangements the Executive 
Committee has a key role in managing Ofcom’s risk profile and 
considering the main risks which might prevent achievement of 
its policies, aims and objectives. The Committee meets weekly 
and is the most senior internal management committee of 
Ofcom.

Statement on Internal Control
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All members of the Executive Committee are committed to 
undertake regular reviews of the major areas of risk for which 
they are responsible and to work with their teams to ensure that 
all Ofcom colleagues are able to identify and highlight risks 
attached to their areas of activity and to take appropriate action 
to manage such identified risks.

This identification process is intended to establish the priority 
policy and operational risks which could affect Ofcom’s ability to 
deliver its Annual Plan objectives. Actions to address priority 
risks are reviewed by the Executive Committee on a monthly 
basis and, on a quarterly basis, the list of priority risks is 
reviewed to assess its continuing relevance with risks added or 
removed as appropriate. 

In addition, individual risk registers have been maintained, in an 
appropriate form, for each functional area within the 
organisation. Members of the Executive Committee are 
responsible for managing the risks in their areas. They must do 
so in a manner in keeping with Ofcom’s overall tolerance of risk.  

As part of the annual planning process carried out in relation to 
2006/7, all projects have been assigned a risk ranking to help 
prioritise Ofcom’s forthcoming work. Papers to the Board or 
other Ofcom committees highlight risks associated with specific 
projects so that such risks can be taken into consideration when 
decisions are made. All project managers are required to 
identify risks attached to their projects and to put in place 
measures to manage such identified risks.

The Directorate of Planning and Development (DPD), reporting 
to the Chief Operating Officer, is responsible for the overall co-
ordination of the risk identification and assessment process and 
works with the Executive Committee and the project teams on 
risk identification and management.

Ofcom’s profile of prioritised risks is reviewed annually following 
the business planning cycle. 

Actions identified, implemented and embedded into Ofcom 
include: 

• a weekly report by the Communications Director and 
Director of the Chief Executive’s office of current concerns 
in terms of stakeholder relations; 

• a monthly Management Information report circulated to all 
members of the Executive Committee which incorporates: 

• the register of priority risks updated by the Executive 
Committee risk owners. Each month this is reviewed 
by the Executive Committee to help monitor risks at a 
corporate level; and 

• exception-based reporting of other high and medium 
level risk status projects across the organisation, 
litigation risks, financial and other operational risks. 

• an annual risk review undertaken with external consultancy 
input to analyse the adequacy of the risk identification and 
monitoring process, based on the Government’s Risk 
Management Assessment Framework; 

• a review at each meeting of the Audit Committee of 
Ofcom’s operational and policy risks, in particular litigation 
risks and security. The Committee annually reviews 
Ofcom’s financial statements and committee members 
regularly receive  Ofcom’s monthly management 
information pack; 

• an annual review and discussion of internal controls by the 
Board with the Chairman of the Audit Committee; 

• the carrying out of impact assessments (as required by the 
Communications Act 2003) designed to identify, inter alia,
the risks attached to proposed policies to be introduced by 
Ofcom;

• setting up a project management system for policy projects 
incorporating a risk management recording facility to 
provide a common basis for capturing risk and recording 
risk management;
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• the establishment of project management governance 
arrangements which require project managers to identify, 
report on and manage project-level risks; 

• development of a risk management policy document to 
provide guidance to Ofcom colleagues on Ofcom’s 
approach, the role of colleagues and the wider risk 
management context within Ofcom;   

• enhancement of capacity to handle risk by training policy 
project managers and directors in the use of a new project 
management system to record, on a monthly basis, overall 
risk status on projects and actions taken to mitigate risks;

• appropriate risk awareness and management within project 
teams has also been enhanced by the continuing focus of 
management review boards on what could prevent delivery 
of planned outputs or achievement of policy outcomes;  

• development of treasury management policy and 
procedures aligned with the risk management policy;  

• appropriate controls on the delegated authorities from the 
Board to colleagues both to agree policy decisions and to 
commit to expenditure; 

• an internal audit plan agreed annually between the Audit 
Committee and the internal auditors; 

• regular reviews by the internal auditors of the 
appropriateness of Ofcom’s system of internal controls 
together with recommendations for improvement; 

• the maintenance of a ‘whistle-blowing’ or ‘protected 
disclosure’ policy to enable Ofcom colleagues to 
communicate concerns to an independent member of the 
Executive Committee; and 

• the operation of a security policy dealing with all aspects of 
security including personal, document and IT. 

Review of effectiveness 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the system of internal control. 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control 
is informed by the work of the internal auditors and the 
executive managers within Ofcom who have responsibility for 
the development and maintenance of the internal control 
framework and comments made by the external auditors in their 
management letter and other reports. 

The process that has been applied in maintaining and reviewing 
the effectiveness of the system of internal control is as follows: 

The Board 

The Board has overall responsibility for monitoring the 
effectiveness of Ofcom’s system of internal controls and
receives regular reports from the Audit Committee. 

The Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee plays an important role in managing risk 
within Ofcom. It is constituted in line with Treasury guidance, 
with Non-Executive Members of the Ofcom Board on the 
Committee and an independent Non-Executive in the Chair with 
direct access to the Chairman of Ofcom. The Audit Committee 
reviews the effectiveness of the risk management process. It 
meets not less than three times each year. 

I am not a member of the Committee but attend most of its 
meetings, as do our internal auditors and our external auditors, 
the National Audit Office. The Committee’s terms of reference 
incorporate a right of access to the Chair for both the internal 
and external auditors. 

Internal Audit 

The internal audit function, which was outsourced to KPMG in 
November 2003, carries out its work in accordance with the 
Internal Audit plan that is approved by the Audit Committee and 
which is designed to allow internal audit to make a statement on 

Statement on Internal Control

125190 section D.indd   114125190 section D.indd   114 7/7/06   12:32:117/7/06   12:32:11



www.ofcom.org.uk  Ofcom Annual Report 2005/6 | 115

Statement of Accounts and Corporate Governance |   Section D

the adequacy and effectiveness of Ofcom’s risk management, 
governance and control processes for the year. 

The Audit Committee receives regular reports from internal 
audit; these reports concluded in the year under review that, 
based on the work undertaken, Ofcom has a satisfactory 
system of risk management, governance and control.

Other assurance mechanisms 

A number of financial control processes have been maintained. 
The Finance department produces monthly management 
accounts which are reviewed by budget holders, the Executive 
Committee and Board on a monthly basis to identify departures 
from the original budget.

Ofcom re-forecasts its expenditure and outputs (primarily 
planned consultation documents and policy statements) on a 
quarterly basis to take into account changes in the work 
required to meet its strategic objectives and ensure that it 
operates within the financial targets of the Annual Plan.

The Annual Plan is prepared following consultation with 
stakeholders and a rigorous internal approach involving project 
managers, the Executive Committee and final approval by the 
Board.  

Capital expenditure projects are approved on an individual 
basis through presentation of a business justification, risk 
assessment and discounted cash flow forecast to the 
Operations Board, and where they meet certain expenditure 
thresholds, the Executive Committee and the Board.  

Ofcom’s major IS renewal programme started in 2005/6, is 
subject to review at a number of levels, including an 
independent assurance check provided by an external 
consultant with regards to the scoping, governance and 
implementation of the programme. Risks identified by this 
review are being managed through the project management 
office and steering committee. 

Executive Committee members now provide to the Accountable 
Officer a signed annual assurance statement in relation to their 

operation of internal controls for the major areas of risk they are 
responsible for. 

I have been advised on the implications of the result of my 
review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control by 
the Board and the Audit Committee and a plan to address 
weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system 
is in place. It is my belief that there are satisfactory processes in 
place for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant 
risks faced by Ofcom. 

Stephen A Carter 

Chief Executive 

27 June 2006 
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The Board presents its Remuneration Report. In 
preparing this Report and establishing its policy 
the Board has given consideration to, and follows 
the provisions of, the Combined Code, where 
appropriate and applicable. 
Ofcom is not required to comply with the 
Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 
but has prepared this report to be compliant so far 
as is practicable and appropriate. 

Constitution of the Remuneration Committee 
The constitution of the Remuneration Committee is set out on 
page 99. 

Advisers
The Remuneration Committee takes advice and/or obtains 
services from the following external entities, all of whom were 
appointed by the Committee: 

• Towers Perrin, on executive remuneration; and 

• Eversheds LLP, on employment contracts and associated 
legal issues. 

Towers Perrin also provides advice and services to Ofcom in 
respect of pensions, pension trustee and administration support 
and other organisational issues. 

The Committee also takes advice from Ofcom’s HR Director. 

The Chief Executive is normally invited by the Remuneration 
Committee to attend meetings of the Committee. 

No individual is present for any discussion about his or her own 
remuneration. 

General policy 
In setting Ofcom’s remuneration policy the Remuneration 
Committee believes that Ofcom should, within the constraints of 
a public corporation, provide rewards which will attract and 
retain the high-calibre management necessary to enable Ofcom 
to fulfil its statutory remit and responsibilities. The overall policy 
approach is not expected to change in the coming year. 

It is Ofcom policy that no Executive Member of the Ofcom 
Board or any other Ofcom colleague should have a fixed-term 
service contract or notice period exceeding one year. All current 
service agreements comply with this policy. 

Components of remuneration 
The main components of the Executive Members’ remuneration 
are:

Salary and flexible benefits 
The basic salary for each Executive Member or senior manager 
is determined by taking into account each colleague’s 
responsibilities, performance and experience together with 
market trends. In addition, a flexible benefits allowance is made 
available to each Executive Member or senior manager (with 
the exception of Philip Rutnam as set out below). 

Benefits in kind 
Each Executive Member or senior manager receives certain 
standard benefits which are detailed later in this section (with 
the exception of Philip Rutnam as set out below). 

Annual bonus 
Each Executive Member or senior manager participates in a 
bonus scheme which is calculated as a percentage of salary 
based on the individual’s performance up to a maximum of 20-
25 per cent of salary depending upon the individual concerned. 
No element of bonus is pensionable.

Remuneration Report
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Pension arrangements 
Executive management 

Each Executive Member or senior manager (with the exception 
of Tony Stoller CBE who retired on 31 January 2006 and Philip 
Rutnam as set out below) is provided with an allowance, 
determined as a percentage of base salary, which the individual 
can take as extra salary or invest in a pension scheme of their 
choice. 

Tony Stoller CBE participated in the Ofcom Defined Benefit 
Pension Plan on comparable terms as applied when previously 
Chief Executive of the Radio Authority until his retirement from 
Ofcom on 31 January 2006. This provided salary-related 
pension benefits on a defined benefit basis, with an accrual rate 
of 1/60th of final salary per year of service, subject to the Inland 
Revenue Earnings Cap where appropriate. Tony Stoller CBE 
received additional benefits through the Plan in recognition of 
his earnings in excess of the cap. No benefit is provided 
through unapproved arrangements. 

Philip Rutnam is not employed directly by Ofcom; he is on 
secondment from HM Treasury. Ofcom reimburses on an 
annual basis to HM Treasury the remuneration paid to Philip 
Rutnam by HM Treasury which includes the charge levied by 
HM Treasury for his participation in the Principal Civil Service 
Pension Scheme (of which Philip Rutnam is a member) on 
behalf of Philip Rutnam. 

Non-Executive Members 

The pension costs of David Currie are met by Ofcom as set out 
in the notes below. As Chair of the Radio Authority, Richard 
Hooper CBE was provided with a pension by analogy to the ITC 
Staff Pension Plan (now the Ofcom (former ITC) Pension Plan) 
until his retirement from Ofcom on 31 December 2005. This 
provided salary-related benefits on a defined benefit basis with 
an accrual rate of 1/60th of final salary for each year of service 
subject to the Inland Revenue earnings cap where appropriate. 
The other Non-Executive Members do not receive a pension 
benefit from Ofcom. 

Details of remuneration for the Board, the Content Board and 
the Executive Committee are set out on pages 118 to 119. The 
numbered points against the names of individuals refer to the 
numbered points set out on pages 119 to 121. 

Guidance to the remuneration schedules 
These schedules refer to remuneration during the financial 
year. The schedule reflects remuneration for that part of the 
year during which individuals were either providing services 
to, or employed by, Ofcom. The numbered points against the 
names of individuals refer to the numbered points set on 
pages 119 to 121.
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Ofcom Board Remuneration 2005/6 

Ofcom Content Board Remuneration 2005/6 

Name Role Total
remuneration 

Pension
entitlement/

allowance

Flexible
benefits

allowance

Standard 
benefits

Bonus Salary

£ £ £ £ £ £
Millie Banerjee CBE Non-Executive Member (3-4) 45,719 513 45,206
Stephen Carter Chief Executive (7-10) 440,667 71,250 19,818 7,599 57,000 285,000
David Currie Chairman (1-4) 193,737 27,724 987 165,026
Philip Graf CBE Deputy Chairman (3-4) 25,129 25,129
Ian Hargreaves  Non-Executive Member (3-4) 45,586 380 45,206
Richard Hooper CBE Deputy Chairman (3-4 & 12) 60,869 560 60,309
Stephanie Liston Non-Executive Member (3-4) 23,454 23,454
Kip Meek Chief Policy Partner (7-10) 338,579 44,500 19,782 6,697 45,100 222,500
Sara Nathan Non-Executive Member (3-4) 56,937 537 56,400
Ed Richards Chief Operating Officer (7-10) 308,930 33,725 19,953 6,752 35,500 213,000
Sean Williams Partner, Competition (7-10) 251,186 25,050 20,723 5,013 33,400 167,000
Total 1,790,793 202,249 80,276 29,038 171,000 1,308,230

Name Role Total
remuneration 

Pension
entitlement/

allowance

Flexible
benefits

allowance

Standard 
benefits

Bonus Salary

£ £ £ £ £ £
Sue Balsom Content Board Member (3-4) 20,616 56 20,560
Floella Benjamin Content Board Member (3-4) 20,951 391 20,560
Kevin Carey Content Board Member (3-4) 20,691 131 20,560
Jonathan Edwards Content Board Member (3-4) 19,200 353 18,847
Pam Giddy Content Board Member (3-4) 20,970 410 20,560
Rosemary Kelly Content Board Member (3-4) 18,847 18,847
Matthew MacIver Content Board Member (3-4) 20,911 351 20,560
Adam Singer Content Board Member (3-4) 21,119 559 20,560
Kath Worrall Content Board Member (3-4) 20,885 325 20,560
Tim Suter Partner, Content & 

Standards (7-10) 243,387 24,225 21,435 3,927 32,300 161,500
Total 427,577 24,225 21,435 6,503 32,300 343,114

Remuneration Report
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Ofcom Executive Committee Remuneration 2005/6 

Notes to the remuneration tables 
1. The remuneration of the Chairman is set by the City 

University by whom the Chairman is employed directly, in 
agreement with the DTI and DCMS. Ofcom reimburses the 
City University for two-thirds of the Chairman’s 
remuneration through a secondment agreement. The figure 
for the Chairman’s remuneration is the current reimbursed 
amount by Ofcom to the City University for his services. 
The City University reviews the remuneration paid to the 
Chairman in August each year. In addition, Ofcom 
reimburses the City University for four-fifths of the 
Employer’s National Insurance costs incurred for the 
Chairman for each year of secondment. 

2. The Chairman is a member of the Universities 
Superannuation Scheme (‘the scheme’); Ofcom contributes 

(by way of reimbursement to the City University) on an 
annual basis four-fifths of the contributions made by the 
City University to the scheme for the Chairman.  

 During the financial year an additional £26,793 was 
reimbursed to City University in respect of an undercharge 
of pension contributions for the years 2002/3 and 2003/4. 

3. The Non-Executive Members of the Ofcom Board and the 
Content Board Members receive no additional 
remuneration from Ofcom other than the entitlement to the 
provision of certain standard benefits, which are a digital 
package for domestic and business use and, for the Non-
Executive Members of the Ofcom Board only, the provision 
of IT equipment for home working. Not all Non-Executive 

Name Role Total
remuneration 

Pension
entitlement/

allowance

Flexible
benefits

allowance

Standard 
benefits

Bonus Salary

£ £ £ £ £ £
Rona Chester Finance Director (7-10) 177,639 17,625 15,000 4,014 23,500 117,500
Robin Foster Partner, Strategy and 

Market Developments 
(7-11)

88,487 11,667 6,993 1,910 67,917
Graham Howell Secretary to the 

Corporation
(7-10)

182,668 19,500 15,000 5,168 13,000 130,000
Peter Ingram Chief Technology Officer (7-10) 238,540 30,000 25,000 5,540 28,000 150,000
Sandra Jenner HR Director (7-11) 210,191 22,067 17,031 3,476 29,700 137,917
Dominic Morris CBE Director of the 

CEO’s Office 
(7-11 & 14) 

221,692 25,766 18,329 3,927 26,500 147,170
Peter Phillips Partner, Strategy and 

Market Developments 
(7-11)

12,764 1,514 1,154 10,096
Philip Rutnam Partner, Competition 

and Strategic Resources 
(6)

210,811 36,777 29,200 144,834
Tony Stoller CBE External Relations 

Director
(7-10 & 13) 

182,595 21,472 14,811 3,562 13,000 129,750
Total 1,525,387 186,388 113,318 27,597 162,900 1,035,184
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Members of the Ofcom Board or Content Board Members 
took up the entitlement during the period under review. 

4. The fees for all the Non-Executive Members (with the 
exception of the Chairman) are fixed in agreement with the 
DTI and DCMS for the duration of their appointment. The 
fees for the Content Board are fixed by the Ofcom Board. 
The fees shown represent a full year for the Non-Executive 
Members of the Ofcom Board and the Content Board 
Members, with the exception of Stephanie Liston and Philip 
Graf, who joined the Ofcom Board, respectively, on 1 
September 2005 and 1 January 2006 and Richard Hooper 
CBE who retired from the Ofcom Board on 31 December 
2005.

 With the exception of the Chairman and the Deputy 
Chairman, increases in the basic fees for the Non-
Executive Members were agreed during the year with the 
DTI and the DCMS, so that the basic fee of the Non-
Executive Members (with the exception of the Chairman, 
the Deputy Chairman and Sara Nathan) was £40,206 per 
annum each with effect from 1 April 2005. Sara Nathan’s 
basic fee was increased with effect from 1 April 2005 to 
£51,400 per annum to reflect her extra time commitment to 
Ofcom as a result of her Content Board duties. These fee 
levels, together with the fee levels for the Deputy Chairman 
and the Content Board members, are linked to the 
recommendations of the Senior Salaries Review Body for 
senior civil service pay. As a consequence of such linkage, 
the basic fees for all the Non-Executive Members (with the 
exception of the Chairman) and the members of the 
Content Board were given increases of 2.0 per cent from 1 
April 2006. An additional fee of £5,000 per annum is paid 
to any Non-Executive Member (with the exception of the 
Chairman) who chairs a Board Committee. 

5. Jonathan Edwards and Rosemary Kelly resigned from the 
Content Board on 28 February 2006. 

6. Philip Rutnam is on secondment to Ofcom from HM 
Treasury and his remuneration costs represent the amount 

reimbursed by Ofcom for his services during the period 
under review. 

7. Annual remuneration for the Ofcom executives (Executive 
Members of the Ofcom Board, Executive Members of the 
Content Board and senior managers on the Executive 
Committee) includes base salary together with a cash 
allowance for flexible benefits (with the exception of Philip 
Rutnam) and a percentage pension provision (with the 
exception of Tony Stoller CBE). 

 Sean Williams joined the Ofcom Board as an Executive 
Member as of 1 January 2006. The table shows his salary 
for a full year as he was employed by Ofcom during the 
whole period. 

 Ed Richards attended the Advanced Management 
Programme at Harvard for 10 weeks during the year. 
Consequently his bonus was pro-rated to reflect the period 
he was actually working at Ofcom. 

8. Base salary for all senior executives is reviewed annually 
on 1 April. 

9. Each Ofcom Executive Member of the Ofcom Board or 
senior manager (with the exception of Philip Rutnam) 
receives certain standard benefits which include base-level 
life assurance, private medical insurance and the provision 
of a digital package.

10. All Ofcom colleagues participate in a bonus scheme, 
payment of which is based on individual performance. All 
payments are approved by the Ofcom Remuneration 
Committee and are calculated as a percentage of base 
salary ranging from 0-25 per cent. 

11. Robin Foster resigned from Ofcom on 31 July 2005. 
Sandra Jenner resigned from Ofcom on 31 January 2006. 
Peter Phillips joined Ofcom on 13 March 2006. Dominic 
Morris joined the Executive Committee with effect from 1 
April 2005. 

Remuneration Report
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12. Richard Hooper CBE retired on 31 December 2005. He is 
entitled to pensions benefits provided by analogy to the 
ITC Staff Pension Plan (now the Ofcom (former ITC) 
Pension Plan). A separate disclosure in relation to this plan 
has been made in the table below. 

13. Tony Stoller CBE retired on 31 January 2006. He is a 
member of the Ofcom Defined Benefit Pension Plan. A 
separate disclosure in relation to this plan has been made 
in the table below. 

14. Dominic Morris  was appointed to the Executive Committee 
on 1 April 2005. He is a member of the Defined Benefit 
Pension Plan. A separate disclosure in relation to this plan 
has been made in the table below. 

Executive disclosure for Defined Benefit pensions 
The disclosures for defined benefit pensions for Richard Hooper 
CBE, Tony Stoller CBE and Dominic Morris CBE are shown in 
the table below. 

Both Richard Hooper CBE and Tony Stoller CBE retired during 
the accounting period. The figures shown in the table as at 31 
March 2006 are calculated at their respective dates of 31 
December 2005 and 31 January 2006. Dominic Morris CBE 
was appointed to the Executive Committee during the 
accounting period. The figures shown in the table relate to the 
whole of the accounting period. 

The accrued pensions and transfer values for Tony Stoller CBE 
and Dominic Morris CBE reflect the additional pension arising 
from a transfer-in of his benefits from his previous employer. 
Prior to his retirement, Tony Stoller CBE elected to transfer the 
benefits he had built up during his previous employment into the 
Ofcom Defined Benefit Pension Plan. As a consequence, these 
benefits were linked to his Ofcom remuneration. The transfer 
value shown in the table as at 31 March 2005 has been 
restated to reflect this decision. 

The transfer value of accrued pension represents the estimated 
cost to the pension scheme of providing the pension benefit 
accrued to date (calculated in accordance with Actuarial 
Guidance Note GN11). The value is affected by a number of 
factors, which include age of individual, pensionable salary and 
investment market conditions at the date of calculation. 

Service agreements 
No Executive Member of the Ofcom Board or other Ofcom 
colleague has a service agreement containing a notice period 
exceeding one year. The Chief Executive has a notice period of 
up to 12 months; the other Executive Members of the Ofcom 
Board and members of senior management have notice periods 
not exceeding nine months. The Remuneration Committee has 
considered the notice period and termination arrangements in 
the light of the Combined Code and believes them to be 
appropriate.

The Non-Executive Members are all on fixed-term appointments 
for a set time commitment to Ofcom of up to two days per week 
(with the exception of David Currie, Philip Graf and Sara Nathan 
who currently commit up to four, three and two and a half days 
per week respectively). 

Compensation from early termination 
The arrangements for early termination of a service contract for 
an Executive Member of the Ofcom Board or senior manager 
are decided by the Remuneration Committee and will be made 
in accordance with the service contract of the relevant 
Executive Director or senior manager. Each service contract 
provides for a payment in lieu of notice on early termination at 
Ofcom’s discretion. 

If payments for termination are dealt with in accordance with the 
above provisions, the restrictive covenants contained in each 
Executive Member’s or senior manager’s contract in favour of 
Ofcom will still apply. 
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Non-Executive Members have no entitlement to compensation 
in the event of early termination. 

All Non-Executive Members have restrictions against working 
for a regulated business for up to six months prior to the 
termination or expiry of the appointment (a period of exclusion 
or ‘gardening leave’) and six months after termination (a 
protective covenant). These restrictions reflect those which also 
apply to the Executive Members of the Ofcom Board and are 
designed to protect the independence of Ofcom and the 
professional integrity of each Non-Executive Member. 

Outside directorships 
No Executive Member of the Ofcom Board may accept a non-
executive appointment without the prior approval of the Board to 

ensure that these do not give rise to conflicts of interest.

All appointments accepted by the Non-Executive Members of 
the Ofcom Board must be notified to the Board to ensure that 
no conflict of interest arises; if such conflict is deemed to arise 
then the Non-Executive Member will be required to resign from 
the Member position in question. 

On behalf of Ofcom, 

Millie Banerjee CBE 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee 
27 June 2006

Disclosures for Defined Benefit pensions

Name Accrued pension 
at 31 March 

2006

Increase in 
accrued pension 

over year 

Transfer value of 
accrued pension 

at 31 March 2006 

Transfer value of 
accrued pension at 

31 March 2005 

Increase in transfer 
value less member’s 

contributions
£ £ £ £ £

Richard Hooper CBE 
     (3-4 & 12) 

7,700 1,200 139,000 102,000 33,000

Tony Stoller CBE   (13) 47,500 4,000 1,028,000 720,000 300,000
Dominic Morris CBE (14) 17,500 3,500 223,000 167,000 45,000

Remuneration Report

125190 section D.indd   122125190 section D.indd   122 7/7/06   12:32:197/7/06   12:32:19



www.ofcom.org.uk  Ofcom Annual Report 2005/6 | 123

Statement of Accounts and Corporate Governance |   Section D

125190 section D.indd   123125190 section D.indd   123 7/7/06   12:32:207/7/06   12:32:20



124 |Ofcom Annual Report 2005/6  www.ofcom.org.uk  

Heading
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I certify that I have audited the financial statements of the Office 
of Communications for the year ended 31 March 2006 under 
the Office of Communications Act 2002. These comprise the 
Income and Expenditure Account, the Statement of Total 
Recognised Gains and Losses, the Balance Sheet, the Cash 
Flow Statement and the related notes and the tables of 
emoluments and entitlements and related Notes in the 
Remuneration Report. These financial statements have been 
prepared under the accounting policies set out within them. 

Respective responsibilities of the Board, the Chief 
Executive and Auditor 
The Board and Chief Executive are responsible for the 
preparation of the Annual Report, Remuneration Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with the Office of 
Communications Act 2002 and the Secretaries of State for 
Trade and Industry and for Culture, Media and Sport directions 
made thereunder and for ensuring the regularity of financial 
transactions. These responsibilities are set out in the Statement 
of Responsibilities.

My responsibility is to audit the financial statements in 
accordance with the relevant legal and regularity requirements 
and with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). 

I report to you my opinion as to whether the financial statements 
give a true and fair view and whether the financial statements 
and part of the Remuneration Report to be audited have been 
properly prepared in accordance with the Office of 
Communications Act 2002 and the Secretaries of State for 
Trade and Industry and for Culture, Media and Sport directions 
made thereunder. I also report whether, in all material respects, 
the expenditure and income have been applied to the purposes 
intended by Parliament and the financial transactions conform 
to the authorities which govern them. I also report to you if, in 
my opinion, the Annual Report is not consistent with the 
financial statements, if the Office of Communications has not 
kept proper accounting records, if I have not received all the 
information and explanations I require for my audit, or if the 
information specified by relevant authorities regarding 
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed. 

I review whether the statement on pages 112 to 115 reflects the 
Office of Communication’s compliance with HM Treasury's 
guidance on the Statement on Internal Control, and I report if it 
does not. I am not required to consider whether the 
Accountable Officer’s statements on internal control cover all 
risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Office of Communication’s corporate governance procedures or 
its risk and control procedures.

I read the other information contained in the Annual Report and 
consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial 
statements. This other information comprises only the 
Introduction, Core Areas of Activity, Operating and Financial 
Review, Performance and Evaluation, the Statement of 
Accounts (excluding the Statement on Internal Control) and the 
unaudited part of the Remuneration Report. I consider the 
implications for my report if I become aware of any apparent 
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial 
statements. My responsibilities do not extend to any other 
information.

Certificate and Report of the Comptroller and 
Auditor General to the Houses of Parliament
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Basis of audit opinion 
I conducted my audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing 
Practices Board. My audit includes examination, on a test basis, 
of evidence relevant to the amounts, disclosures and regularity 
of financial transactions included in the financial statements and 
the part of the Remuneration Report to be audited. It also 
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and 
judgements made by the Board and Chief Executive in the 
preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the 
accounting policies are most appropriate to the Office of 
Communication’s circumstances, consistently applied and 
adequately disclosed. 

I planned and performed my audit so as to obtain all the 
information and explanations which I considered necessary in 
order to provide me with sufficient evidence to give reasonable 
assurance that the financial statements and the part of the 
Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by error, or by fraud or other 
irregularity and that, in all material respects, the expenditure 
and income have been applied to the purposes intended by 
Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the 
authorities which govern them. In forming my opinion I also 
evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of 
information in the financial statements and the part of the 
Remuneration Report to be audited. 

Opinion 
In my opinion: 

• The financial statements give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the Office of Communications Act 2002 
and directions made thereunder by the Secretaries of State 

for Trade and Industry and for Culture, Media and Sport, of 
the state of the Office of Communication’s affairs at 31 
March 2006 and of its surplus, total recognised gains and 
losses and cash flows for the period then ended; 

• The financial statements and the part of the Remuneration 
Report to be audited have been properly prepared in 
accordance with the Office of Communications Act 2002 
and directions made thereunder by the Secretaries of State 
for Trade and Industry and for Culture, Media and Sport; 
and

• In all material respects, the expenditure and income have 
been applied to the purposes intended by Parliament and 
the financial transactions conform to the authorities which 
govern them. 

I have no observations to make on these financial statements. 

John Bourn 

Comptroller and Auditor General 

3 July 2006 

National Audit Office 

157-197 Buckingham Palace Road 

Victoria

London

SW1W 9SP
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The accounting policies and notes on pages 132 to 153 form part of these financial statements. 

Notes Year ended 
31 March 

2006
Year ended 

31 March 2005 
£’000 £’000

Income 2,3 156,020 145,405
Operating expenditure 

Staff costs 4 (49,841) (53,900)
Other operating costs 6 (74,565) (69,022)

Operating surplus 31,614 22,483
Exceptional (charge)/credit 

Future costs of vacant properties 7 (14) 3,682
Dividends receivable 8 - 683
Interest receivable 2,067 1,053
Interest payable 9 (1,044) (1,842)
Other finance income 210 -
Other finance costs 19,26 (442) (785)
Notional cost of capital credit 22 1,076 1,117
Surplus on ordinary activities before taxation 33,467 26,391
Taxation on interest receivable 211 (228)
Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation 33,678 26,163
Reversal of notional cost of capital credit 22 (1,076) (1,117)
Surplus for financial year 32,602 25,046

Income and Expenditure Account
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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Notes Year ended 
31 March 2006 

Year ended
31 March 2005 

£’000 £’000

Surplus for year 32,602 25,046

Unrealised surplus on revaluation of freehold land and buildings 20 - 959
Ofcom Defined Benefit Pension Plans 

Actual return less expected return on plan assets 26b 13,660 3,390
Experience (losses)/gains on pension scheme liabilities 26b,c (4,789) 6,430
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of pension scheme liabilities 26b,c (18,570) -

Total recognised gains for year 22,903 35,825

The accounting policies and notes on pages 132 to 153 form part of these financial statements. 

Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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Notes 2006
Restated

2005
£’000 £’000

Fixed assets 
Intangible assets 10a 1,288 1,257
Tangible assets 10b 25,898 28,891

27,186 30,148
Current assets 
Debtors 11 12,958 12,947
Cash at bank and in hand 12 53,782 34,781

66,740 47,728
Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 14 (67,848) (59,184)
Net current liabilities (1,108) (11,456)
Total assets less current liabilities 26,078 18,692
Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year 15 (7,885) (18,612)
Provisions for liabilities and charges 19 (13,037) (18,354)
Net liabilities excluding pension asset and liability 5,156 (18,274)
Pension asset 13 10,200 10,600
Pension liability 13 (921) (794)
Net liabilities including pension asset and liability 20 14,435 (8,468)

Reserves
Income and expenditure account 20 14,435 (9,559)
Revaluation reserve 20 - 1,091

14,435 (8,468)

The accounting policies and notes on pages 132 to 153 form part of these financial statements. 

These financial statements were approved by the Board on 20 June 2006. 

David Currie Stephen A Carter 

Chairman Chief Executive 

Balance Sheet
as at 31 March 2006
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Notes Year ended 
31 March 2006 

Year ended 
31 March 2005 

£’000 £’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 21 40,001 25,993
Dividends received from joint ventures and associates 8 - 683
Taxation
UK corporation tax paid - (101)
Returns on investment and servicing of finance 
Interest received 2,067 1,053
Interest paid 9 (1,044) (1,842)
Net cash outflow for returns on investment and servicing of finance 1,023 (789)
Capital expenditure and financial investment 
Payments to acquire fixed assets (7,705) (4,828)
Proceeds from the disposal of fixed assets 3,492 88
Net cash outflow for capital expenditure and financial investment (4,213) (4,740)

Net cash inflow before financing 36,811 21,046
Financing
Loans repaid 16 (17,810) (17.810)
Net cash outflow from financing (17,810) (17,810)
Increase in net cash in the year 19,001 3,236

Reconciliation of net cash flow to movements in net funds
Increase in cash in the year 19,001 3,236
Decrease in debt in the year 16 17,810 17,810
Opening net funds/(debt) 6,599 (14,447)
Closing net funds 43,410 6,599

The accounting policies and notes on pages 132 to 153 form part of these financial statements. 

Cash Flow Statement 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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1. Accounting policies 
a) Basis of accounting 
These financial statements have been prepared on a going 
concern basis in accordance with the accounts direction from 
the Secretaries of State for Trade and Industry, and for Culture, 
Media and Sport issued on 10 November 2003. 

The financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, modified by the revaluation of certain 
fixed assets and comply with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 1985, except where these are overridden by the 
Office of Communications Act 2002, and with applicable 
accounting standards.

b) Going concern 
The Board, having carefully considered Ofcom’s 2006/7 budget 
and funding needs for 12 months from the signature date of 
these financial statements, are confident that sufficient funding 
will be available to meet Ofcom’s liabilities as they fall due. 

Accordingly, it has been considered appropriate to adopt a 
going concern basis for the preparation of these financial 
statements.

c) Income recognition 
Spectrum management income 

This income comprises grant-in-aid from the DTI to meet the 
costs of spectrum management. This income is matched 
against cash costs incurred within the agreed allocation.  Grant-
in-aid receipts in excess of spectrum management costs are 
included in creditors as payments on account at the balance 
sheet date.

Spectrum Efficiency Scheme income 

This income comprises grant-in-aid from the DTI to meet the 
costs of spectrum efficiency projects. This income is matched 
against cash costs incurred within the agreed allocation. Grant-
in-aid receipts in excess of spectrum efficiency scheme costs 
are included in creditors as payments on account at the balance 
sheet date. 

Programme of spectrum auctions 

This income comprises grant-in-aid from the DTI to meet the 
costs of the programme of spectrum auctions projects. This 
income is matched against cash costs incurred within the 
agreed allocation. Grant-in-aid receipts in excess of spectrum 
auctions programme costs are included in creditors as 
payments on account at the balance sheet date. 

Networks and services administrative fees 

Income which comprises administrative fees invoiced by Ofcom 
is accounted for on an accruals basis. Income in excess of 
Networks and services’ cash costs and share of loan 
repayments is classified as deferred income on the balance 
sheet. Cash costs in excess of Income received are classified 
as a debtor at the balance sheet date. 

Broadcasting licence fees 

Income from Broadcasting licence fees represents the amount 
invoiced to licensees and is accounted for on an accruals basis. 
Television licence fees in excess of £25,000 a year and Radio 
licence fees in excess of £5,000 a year are payable in monthly 
instalments. Television licence fees of less than £25,000 a year 
and Radio licence fees less than £5,000 a year are payable as 
an annual sum on the grant and on the anniversary of the 
licence. Income in excess of Broadcasting’s cash costs and 
share of loan repayments is classified as deferred income on 
the balance sheet. 

Application fees 

One-off Broadcasting and Networks and services application 
fees are non-refundable and accordingly are recorded as 
income on receipt of the stakeholder application. 

Grant-in-aid and other income 

Grant-in-aid is accounted for in the period in which it is 
received. Amounts of grant-in-aid paid over in advance are 
included in creditors as payment on account at the balance 
sheet date.

Other income is accounted for on an accruals basis and is 
matched with the expenditure towards which it contributes.  

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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d) Receipts collected by Ofcom within the scope 
of Section 400 of the Communications Act 2003 

Broadcasting Act Additional Payments and fines levied by 
Ofcom are remitted to the Consolidated Fund in accordance 
with Section 400 of the Communications Act 2003. Additionally, 
licence fees levied by Ofcom, arising from the issue or renewal 
of licences under the Wireless Telegraphy (WT) Acts are 
remitted to the DTI for payment to the Consolidated Fund.

No entries are made in these accounts in respect of Section 
400-related transactions except where payments and fees have 
been collected and are in an Ofcom bank account at the
balance sheet date. These are shown as due to the 
Consolidated Fund within Creditors due within one year. 

Ofcom prepares a separate set of accounts to 31 March each 
year for the purposes of Section 400 of the Communications Act 
2003. These accounts are laid before Parliament.

e) Leases 
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the 
Income and Expenditure account. For properties with initial rent-
free periods, the total rentals payable in the period until the first 
rent review are charged to the Income and Expenditure account 
on a straight-line basis over that period. 

f) Onerous property leases 
Where properties become surplus to requirements, professional 
advice is taken on marketing these properties and provision is 
made for the estimated future liabilities on these leases at 
current prices, and discounted using the Treasury discount rate 
of 2.2 per cent (2005: 3.5 per cent). Future rental income is only 
included in this calculation to the extent that it is reasonably 
certain. 

g) Early retirement and future pensions costs 
The Radiocommunications Agency and Oftel operated an Early 
Retirement Scheme which gave retirement benefits to certain 
qualifying employees. These benefits conform to the rules of the 
Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS). The liability 
of the Agency and Oftel to bear the costs of these benefits 
transferred to Ofcom on 29 December 2003. The liability 
remains until the normal retirement age of the employees 
retired under the Early Retirement Scheme. Provision is made 

for these additional costs, based on the discounted value of the 
annual amounts payable at the balance sheet. The actual 
amounts payable increase annually in accordance with PCSPS 
rules.

h) Settlement of claims 
Provision is made for estimated third party legal costs and 
damages in respect of challenges to regulatory decisions of 
Ofcom and legacy organisations where it is judged probable 
that these will be payable. 

i) Fixed assets  
Fixed assets are valued at cost or estimated replacement cost.   

Intangible assets 

In accordance with FRS 10, expenditure on computer software 
is capitalised to the extent that it is probable the asset will 
generate future economic benefits. The expenditure capitalised 
includes the costs of software applications and related licences 
fees.

Amortisation on capitalised development costs is charged to the 
income statement on a straight-line basis, from the month 
following that in which an asset is brought into service, over the 
estimated useful life of the asset. For capitalised computer 
software, the estimated useful life is three years. 

Tangible assets 

In accordance with FRS 15, where land and buildings are 
revalued, professional valuations are obtained every five years, 
with interim valuations being made every three years. Where 
other fixed assets are revalued, on the grounds of materiality, 
Ofcom uses the Office of National Statistics indices. 

Assets under construction comprise of costs incurred in 
developing computer systems which will replace some of the 
current applications. Expenditure capitalised under this heading 
will be depreciated upon the asset being brought into use. 

Assets, with the exception of freehold land are depreciated 
once the asset is brought into use. Depreciation is provided on 
a straight-line basis, from the month following that in which an 
asset is brought into service, over the estimated useful life of 
the asset, as follows: 
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Buildings 50 years 
Fixtures & Fittings – Leasehold 

Properties 
Period of the 

lease
Fixtures & Fittings – Furniture 7 years 
Office and Field Equipment 4 to 7 years 
Computer Hardware 3 years 
Motor Vehicles 5 years 

j) Research and development 
Research and development expenditure is written off as 
incurred to the Income and Expenditure account. 

k) Pension costs 
Ofcom participates in two defined benefit pension schemes 
which relate to staff that transferred to Ofcom from legacy 
organisations. These schemes are closed to new members.   

The Ofcom Defined Benefit Pension Plan provides benefits that 
are broadly equivalent to the PCSPS. Ofcom jointly participates 
with the Advertising Standards Authority in the scheme. The 
second scheme is the Ofcom (Former ITC) Staff Pension Plan 
where Ofcom is one of four participating employers. The assets 
of this scheme are held in a separately administered trust. FRS 
17 (Accounting for Pension Scheme Liabilities) is followed and 
the net assets of the schemes are included in the balance
sheet. The aggregate of the movement in the net assets of the 
two plans is shown in the Statement of Total Recognised Gains 
and Losses.

Ofcom also has liabilities in respect of pension payments to 
three former chairmen of the Independent Television 
Commission, two former chairmen of the Radio Authority and 
two former Director Generals of Telecommunications. These 
are unfunded schemes and are accounted for under FRS 17 
with a provision included in Ofcom’s balance sheet for the 
actuarial valuation of the liabilities.

New staff may join a stakeholder pension scheme, which is a 
defined contribution scheme. Pension contributions payable to 
defined contribution schemes are expensed as incurred. 

l) Foreign exchange 
Transactions designated in foreign currencies are translated 
into sterling at the rate of exchange prevailing at the transaction 
date. Monetary assets and liabilities designated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the balance 

sheet date with the resulting profit or loss included in the 
Income and Expenditure account for the year.  

m)  Financial instruments and credit risk 
Ofcom had initial loan funding of £52.3m from the Secretary of 
State for Trade and Industry to fund its establishment and 
running costs prior to the vesting of powers to set licence and 
administrative fees under the Communications Act 2003. The 
interest rates for the loans made by the Secretary of State for 
Trade and Industry are fixed for the period of the loan with 
repayments due at six monthly intervals. Ofcom has limited 
powers to borrow money to fund short-term fluctuations in cash 
flow.

Interest is recognised over the period of the loan, calculated in 
accordance with the loan terms. 

Surplus funds generated by Ofcom’s operations are held as 
bank balances or short-term deposits.   

n) Tax 
HM Revenue and Customs has ruled that Ofcom’s regulatory 
functions do not constitute a trading business.  Consequently, 
Ofcom is unable to recover VAT on expenditure which it incurs 
as part of its normal operating activities.

Corporation Tax is assessable on interest received, and in 
respect of surplus property and commercial activities.   

o) Capital charge 
Under the terms of Ofcom’s Financial Memorandum issued by 
the Secretary of State for Trade and Industry and the Secretary 
of State for Culture, Media and Sport, a credit, reflecting the 
return on Ofcom’s capital (in accordance with standard 
Government accounting practice), is made to the surplus before 
taxation. The charge is calculated in accordance with HM 
Treasury guidance at 3.5 per cent (2005 – 3.5 per cent) on the 
carrying amount of all relevant assets less relevant liabilities. 
This is reversed out to determine the retained surplus on 
ordinary activities after taxation. 

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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p) Segmental analysis 
For transparency and to meet with the requirements of the 
Communications Act 2003 to provide information on cost and 
fees, Note 2 to these accounts presents the Income and 
Expenditure account for the year under review by sector. As a 
public corporation, Ofcom is not required to present information 
in accordance with SSAP25, Segmental Reporting.
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2. Sectoral analysis 
The analysis below refers to income by sector for the year ended 31 March 2006, together with attributable costs.   

Spectrum
management

Spectrum
efficiency 

scheme 
Spectrum
auctions

Networks
& services Broadcasting

Other
activities Total

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue

Licence and administration fees - - - 25,163 34,233 - 59,396
Application fees - - - 30 1,376 - 1,406
Grant-in-aid 81,292 7,083 1,285 - - 3,679 93,339
Other income - - - - - 2,605 2,605
Accrued/(Deferred) income (189) (408) (168) 5,018 (4,771) (596) (1,114)
Total revenue 81,103 6,675 1,117 30,211 30,838 5,688 155,632
Rental and other income 220 - - 63 88 17 388
Operating income 81,323  6,675  1,117  30,274  30,926  5,705  156,020 
Interest receivable 1,172 - - 341 469 85 2,067
Total income 82,495 6,675 1,117 30,615 31,395 5,790 158,087
Loan repayments (12,624) - - (2,305) (2,881) - (17,810)
Interest payable (398) - - (287) (359) - (1,044)
Net operating income 69,473 6,675 1,117 28,023 28,155 5,790 139,233
Accrued rental income (136) - - (39) (54) (10) (239)
Cash income 69,337 6,675 1,117 27,984 28,101 5,780 138,994
Operating costs (69,337) (6,675) (1,117) (27,984) (28,101) (5,780) (138,994)
Total costs (69,337) (6,675) (1,117) (27,984) (28,101) (5,780) (138,994)

Surplus on cash cost basis - - - - - - -

Deferred/(Accrued) income 189 408 168 (5,018) 4,771 596 1,114

Under the Communications Act 2003, the regulatory responsibilities of five legacy organisations transferred to Ofcom. In addition, the Act 
gave Ofcom additional duties, some of which are funded directly by government grants. Other activities comprise: 

• grant-in-aid funded competition enquiries; 
• grant-in-aid funded media literacy work; 
• commercial activities including spectrum interference work; and 
• rental income from sub-letting vacant property space. 

In accordance with Ofcom’s accounting policies, as set out at Note 1c) to these accounts, grant-in-aid is accounted for in the period in 
which it is received.

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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2. Sectoral analysis (continued) 
The table on the previous page is prepared on a cash cost basis and thus excludes non-cash charges (primarily depreciation, charges to 
the Income and Expenditure account for rent-free periods, non-cash movements on provisions and the current year utilisation of the
vacant property provision) less capital expenditure. 

Ofcom set licence and administrative fees for 2005/6, in accordance with the Statement of Charging Principles published 8 February
2005. Fees are based on an estimate of its revenue and capital cash costs for 2005/6. Deferred revenue, in the table above, represents a 
£1.1m surplus of income over Ofcom’s actual revenue and capital costs for 2005/6. This surplus will be rebated to Ofcom’s stakeholders 
and therefore is deferred on the balance sheet at 31 March 2006.    

Surpluses of £0.2m, £0.4m and £0.2m are included within the DTI grant-in-aid creditor and classified within Creditors: amounts falling due 
within one year. These amounts will be set off against spectrum management, spectrum efficiency scheme, and programme of spectrum 
auction grant-in-aid claims respectively in 2005/6.

An estimate of the broadcasting surpluses was made in March 2006 and is classified within Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 
in these financial statements. This estimated surplus of £3.5m is being passed back to the broadcasting stakeholders as a reduction in the 
2006/7 licence and administrative fees. The difference between the March 2006 estimate for the purpose of the tariff calculation of surplus 
income, and the actual outturn, totals £1.2m, and will be adjusted for in setting the 2007/8 tariffs and within these financial statements has 
been classified within Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year. With respect to the Network and Services sector, an 
estimate of a £4.1m deficit was made in March 2006 and is classified within Debtors, with the amount being recovered from the relevant 
stakeholders in increased administrative charges in 2006/7. The difference between the March 2006 estimate and the actual outturn, an 
additional £ .0 m deficit, is classified within Debtors and will be recovered from stakeholders. 

Reconciliation of sectoral analysis to surplus after taxation 

Reconciliation from cash operating costs to operating budget out-turn 

Notes 2006
£’000

Surplus on ordinary activities after taxation 33,678
Adjustments in respect of pension asset and liability  (8,958)
Vacant property costs 7,19 (4,855)
Other finance costs 19,26 442
Other finance income  (210)
Cost of capital credit (1,076)
Net adjustments (1,211)

17,810
DTI loan repayable (17,810)
Surplus on cash cost basis after loan repayments -

2006
£’000

Cash operating costs 138,994
Spectrum efficiency costs (6,675)
Programme of spectrum auctions (1,117)
Other income (2,216)
Operating budget outturn 128,986
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3. Income 
2006 2005

£’000 £’000

Grant-in-aid – DTI – Spectrum management 81,103 81,676
Grant-in-aid – DTI – Spectrum efficiency scheme 6,675 3,129
Grant-in-aid – DTI – Programme of spectrum auctions 1,117 -
Grant-in-aid – DTI – Competition law enforcement 3,063 4,177
Grant-in-aid – DCMS – Media literacy 559 559
Total government grant-in-aid 92,517 89,541
Networks & services administrative fees 30,181 21,722
Networks & services application fees 30 62
Networks & services amounts received in relation to legacy organisation - 1,679
Broadcasting Act licence fees 29,995 28,278
Broadcasting Act application fees 843 856
Rental income 354 353
Other income 2,100 2,914
Income 156,020 145,405

4. Staff costs 
2006 2005

£’000 £’000
Staff costs, including fees paid to Board Members, were: 
Salaries & benefits 41,034 39,703
National Insurance costs 4,858 4,553
Pension costs 2,840 4,362
Restructuring costs 1,109 5,282
Total staff costs 49,841 53,900

More detailed information in respect of the remuneration and pension entitlements of the directors and senior executives is shown in the 
remuneration report on pages 116 to 122.

Restructuring costs of £1.1m (2005: 5.3m) have been incurred in streamlining the organisation’s operations and technology functions to 
meet the requirements of all the sectors regulated by Ofcom. 

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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5. Employee numbers 
2006 2005

The average number of employees was 762 768

As at 31 March 2006, Ofcom had 776 employees (2005: 753).  

Non-Executive Members of the Ofcom Board, Content Board and Advisory Committees are excluded from employee numbers. 

Colleagues seconded to Ofcom are excluded from the above figures. 

6. Other operating costs 
2006 2005

£’000 £’000

Auditors remuneration – statutory audit fees 90 100
Professional fees 11,299 7,350
Outsourced services 4,405 5,258
Audience and consumer research 4,765 4,386
Technological research and spectrum efficiency projects 8,686 3,410
Seconded staff 589 3,423
Temporary staff and recruitment 3,087 2,670
Travel and subsistence 1,710 1,645
Information and technology costs 14,283 14,961
Administration and office expenses 10,175 9,658
Premises costs 8,494 8,785
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 17 205
Amortisation 859 -
Depreciation 6,106 7,171
Total other operating costs 74,565 69,022
The costs, above, include: 
Operating leases – land and buildings 4,228 4,583
Operating leases – other 94 699

Total other operating costs include £6.7m for spectrum efficiency projects (2005: £3.1m) and £1.1m of expenditure for the programme of 
spectrum auctions (2005: £nil).
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7. Exceptional (charge)/credit 
2006 2005

£’000 £’000

Future costs of vacant properties (14) 3,682

The vacant property (charge)/credit are in respect of five (2005: 12) leasehold properties not used by Ofcom at 31 March 2006. The 
charge in 2005/6 represents the net adjustment to future liabilities arising as a result of the sub-letting of vacant property during the 
financial year under review and a reduction in the discount rate from 3.5 per cent to 2.2 per cent. The charge has no effect on cash flows 
in the year under review. 

8. Dividends receivable 
2006 2005

£’000 £’000

Dividends receivable  - 683

In September 2004, Ofcom transferred its shareholding in RSI as part of the consideration for the renegotiation of the IS services
agreement between Ofcom and LogicaCMG. No further dividends are due to be received. 

9. Interest payable 
2006 2005

£’000 £’000

On DTI loan 1,044 1,842

 I 

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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10. Fixed assets 
(a) Intangible 

‘Restated’
Computer 

software Total
 I £'000 £'000

COST
At 1 April 2005 2,330 2,330

Additions during year 920 920
Disposals (208) (208)
Cost at 31 March 2006 3,042 3,042

AMORTISATION
At 1 April 2005 1,073 1,073
Charge for the year 859 859
Disposals (178) (178)
Accumulated amortisation at  
31 March 2006 

1,754 1,754

NBV 31 March 2006 1,288 1,288

NBV 31 March 2005 (‘Restated’) 1,257 1,257

Information systems assets were reviewed during the year and where separately identifiable intangible assets relating to application 
software and related licences were reclassified to better reflect the nature of these assets. As a result, assets originally classified as 
information systems are now restated as computer software under intangible assets (note 10a) and computer hardware under tangible
assets (note 10b). 

125190 Section E.indd   141125190 Section E.indd   141 7/7/06   12:44:077/7/06   12:44:07



142 |Ofcom Annual Report 2005/6  www.ofcom.org.uk  

10. Fixed assets (continued)
(b) Tangible 

Land & 
buildings

Fixtures & 
fittings

Office & 
field

equipment

‘Restated’
Computer 
hardware

Motor
vehicles 

Assets  
under

construction Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

COST
At 1 April 2005 3,749 14,686 13,737 2,256 1,540 - 35,968

Additions during year 457 147 245 1,148 - 4,595 6,592

Disposals (2,964) - (1,039) (54) (72) - (4,129)

Cost at 31 March 2006 1,242 14,833 12,943 3,350 1,468 4,595 38,431

DEPRECIATION
At 1 April 2005 135 2,369 3,393 666 514 - 7,077

Charge for the year 132 2,164 2,675 760 375 - 6,106

Disposals (96) - (472) (30) (52) - (650)

Accumulated depreciation at
31 March 2006 

171 4,533 5,596 1,396 837 - 12,533

NBV 31 March 2006 1,071 10,300 7,347 1,954 631 4,595 25,898

NBV 31 March 2005 (‘Restated’) 3,614 12,317 10,344 1,590 1,026 - 28,891

The freehold land and buildings at Whyteleafe were sold for £3.0m on 31 March 2006. Office and field equipment held at Whyteleafe were 
disposed of during the year for £0.4m. Computer hardware assets shown above have been restated. Please refer to note 10a.

11.  Debtors 
2006 2005

£’000 £’000

Trade debtors 4,401 6,736
Other debtors 78 282
Prepayments 2,898 4,560
Staff loans and advances 249 225
Accrued income 5,332 837
VAT - 307

12,958 12,947

Included within accrued income above is £1.2m (2005: £0.1m) of debtors recoverable after more than one year.

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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12.  Cash at bank and in hand 
2006 2005

£’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 53,382 34,781
Spectrum Auction deposits 400 -

53,782 34,781

On the 21 March 2006, Ofcom received £0.4m from companies taking part in an auction of 12 WT Act licences for a total of 6.6 MHz of 
spectrum. These funds were held by Ofcom in a separate bank account in respect of 16 deposits of £25,000 each received from the
respective bidders. Except in certain circumstances specified in the relevant Regulations, these deposits were refundable if licences were 
not granted to the bidders. 

The single-round sealed bid auction took place on 20 April 2006, and the licences awarded were effective immediately on Ofcom’s receipt 
of the balances payable on their bids by the successful companies. Twelve licences were awarded. The deposits of the four unsuccessful
bidders were repaid in May 2006. 

13.  Pension asset and liability 
2006 2005

£’000 £’000

Defined benefit pension plans’ surplus 10,200 10,600

Unfunded pensions liability 921 794

Further detail in respect of Ofcom pension schemes can be found at Note 26 to these accounts.  

14.  Creditors – amounts falling due within one year 
2006 2005

£’000 £’000

Amounts due to Consolidated Fund 3,721 3,428
Trade creditors 5,218 3,708
Corporation tax payable - 211
Other tax and social security 1,433 1,865
Other creditors 792 507
Spectrum Auction deposits held 400 -
VAT 22 -
DTI grant-in-aid 28,428 10,116
Loan funding from DTI 5,186 17,810
Accruals 14,033 13,139
Deferred income 8,615 8,400

67,848 59,184

Amounts due to Consolidated Fund comprise £3.7m (2005: £3.3m) of WT Act licence fees received and £nil (2005: £0.1m) of amounts
owed to the Consolidated Fund by Oftel. Other creditors includes £0.4m of Community Radio Grant funding received from the Department 
of  Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS). All grants monies received were paid to the successful applicants in April 2006. 
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15.  Creditors – amounts falling due after more than one year 
2006 2005

£’000 £’000

Loan funding from DTI 5,186 10,372
Rent free creditor 1,421 4,235
Deferred income 1,278 4,005

7,885 18,612

16.  Analysis of DTI loan movement 
2006 2005

£’000 £’000

At 1 April 2005 28,182 45,992
Repaid in year (17,810) (17,810)
At 31 March 2006 10,372 28,182

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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17.  Schedule of loans 

First repayment Last repayment Original loan 
Repaid to 

date
Loan outstanding 
at 31 March 2006 

Interest
rate

£’000 £’000 £’000

31 March 2003 March 2004 March 2006 4,304 4,304 - 3.7%
8 April 2003 March 2004 March 2006 500 500 - 4.1%
22 April 2003 March 2004 March 2006 2,548 2,548 - 4.0%
17 June 2003 March 2004 March 2006 2,439 2,439 - 3.6%
11 July 2003 March 2004 March 2006 2,206 2,206 - 3.7%
15 August 2003 March 2004 March 2006 2,481 2,481 - 4.4%
22 August 2003 March 2004 March 2006 1,000 1,000 - 4.4%
17 September 2003 March 2004 March 2006 3,372 3,372 - 4.3%
23 September 2003 March 2004 March 2006 2,000 2,000 - 4.4%
15 October 2003 March 2004 March 2006 5,607 5,607 - 4.6%
14 November 2003 March 2004 March 2006 5,102 5,102 - 4.7%
15 December 2003 September 2004 March 2008 11,920 5,960 5,960 4.6%
2 January 2004 September 2004 March 2008 8,825 4,413 4,412 4.5%

52,304 41,932 10,372

The weighted average interest rate at 31 March 2006 is 4.5 per cent (2005: 4.4 per cent). 

In accordance with an agreement dated 14 October 2003, the DTI provided fixed rate loan funding in the periods prior to Ofcom 
generating income. Interest rates were set with reference to the prevailing HM Treasury interest rate at the dates of drawdown.

18.  Maturity of the DTI loan 
2006 2005

£’000 £’000

Less than one year 5,186 17,810
One to two years 5,186 5,186
Two to five years - 5,186

10,372 28,182

There is no difference between the book value and the fair value of the loan at the balance sheet date. 
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19.  Provisions for liabilities and charges 
Early

retirement 
Vacant

property
Other

provisions Total
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2005 2,848 15,236 270 18,354
Restatement of discount factor1 (341) 407 66
Discount unwound in year 55 344 - 399
Utilised in year (821) (4,869) (125) (5,815)
Provision increased/(released) 70 (393) 356 33
At 31 March 2006 1,811 10,725 501 13,037

1Pension provisions have been calculated in accordance with actuarial advice. Provisions have been calculated in accordance with the 
requirements of FRS 12. All provisions, with the exceptions of other provisions, are discounted by 2.2 per cent per annum (2005: 3.5 per 
cent per annum). The restatement of discount factor above reflects the change in the discount rate on 1 April 2005. 

The provision for early retirement £1.8m (2005: £2.8m) is for early retirement costs of former employees of Oftel, the 
Radiocommunications Agency and Ofcom and is payable primarily in the periods to 2014. 

The provision for vacant property includes properties with leases which terminate between 2006 and 2020. This is in respect of properties
previously occupied by legacy organisations, but now surplus to requirements. Professional advice has been taken in marketing vacant
property and future income streams are recognised as and when sub-letting of properties is reasonably certain. The provision is the net 
present value (NPV) of the expected cash outflows arising as a result of lease commitments transferred to Ofcom, net of the discounted
value of future income streams secured from committed and reasonably certain future sub-letting agreements.

Other provisions reflect an assessment of costs relating to challenges to regulatory decisions which are expected to crystallise within one 
to two years, and a provision of £0.4m for future redundancy costs expected to be paid in 2006/7.

20.  Reserves 
Income & 

expenditure 
account Revaluation Total

£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2005 (9,559) 1,091 (8,468)
Disposal of revalued assets 1,091 (1,091) -
Actuarial losses on defined benefit pension plans (9,699) - (9,699)
Surplus for financial year 32,602 - 32,602
At 31 March 2006 14,435 - 14,435

2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Income & expenditure reserve excluding pension asset and liability 5,156 (19,365)
Pension reserve 9,279 9,806

14,435 (9,559)

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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21.  Reconciliation of operating surplus to net cash inflow from operating activities 
2006 2005

£’000 £’000

Operating surplus 31,614 22,483
Amortisation 859 -
Depreciation 6,106 7,171
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 17 205
Taxation 211 -
(Increase) in debtors (11) (1,230)
Increase in creditors 16,107 4,605
(Decrease) in provisions (5,730) (6,434)
(Increase) in pension assets and liabilities (9,172) (807)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 40,001 25,993

22.  Cost of capital
For the DTI loan, the cost of capital is the interest payable in the year. Interest receivable is the financial return on cash balances. 

For all other net assets (except Consolidated Fund creditors, which are excluded in accordance with standard Government accounting
practice), the cost of capital is calculated at 3.5 per cent (2005: 3.5 per cent) per annum in accordance with HM Treasury guidance.

23.  Commitments under operating leases 
Land & 

buildings Other Total
£’000 £’000 £’000

Annual commitments under operating leases expiring: 
within one year 150 17 167
between two and five years 2,794 28 2,822
after five years 6,651 - 6,651
Total 9,595 45 9,640

24.  Subsidiaries 
Broadcast Training and Skills Regulator Limited was incorporated on 6 July 2005. The principal activity of the company is to regulate
training in the broadcast industry. The company is limited by guarantee and Ofcom is its sole member. During the year the company had 
a turnover of £0.3m and an operating profit after taxation of £0.1m. At 31 March 2006, the total receivable by Ofcom from subsidiary
undertakings was £0.1m and due for repayment in June 2006. Due to the size and extent of the subsidiary’s operations during the current 
financial year, the company’s operating results have not been consolidated in this report. 
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25. Gaelic Media Service 
In accordance with Section 210 of the Communications Act 2003 and Section 183 of the Broadcasting Act 1990, the Scottish Ministers
paid £8.5m (2005: £8.5m) to Ofcom. This sum has not been reflected in these accounts but has been paid by Ofcom to the Gaelic 
Broadcasting Fund under the management of the Seirbheis nam Meadhanan Gàidhlig (the Gaelic Media Service). The Gaelic Media 
Service prepares separate reports and accounts to 31 March each year. These are sent by Ofcom to the Secretary of State for Scotland
and Scottish Ministers to be laid before the Scottish Parliament. 

26. Pensions 
a) Stakeholder pension plan 
Ofcom's primary means of providing pension benefits to its colleagues is by contributing to a stakeholder pension plan, which is a defined 
contribution pension plan. Employer contributions (payable at rates between 8 per cent and 25 per cent dependent on staff grade) of 
£2.0m were made in the year ended 31 March 2006 (2005: £2.0m). At 31 March 2006, accruals of £0.2m (2005: £0.2m) were held in 
respect of unpaid employer contributions to the stakeholder pension plan.   

b) Closed pension plans 
Ofcom also operates two closed defined benefit pension plans: 

• the Ofcom Defined Benefit Pension Plan which was established on 29 December 2003. A full actuarial valuation was carried out 
as at 29 December 2003 by a qualified independent actuary. The employer contribution made to the Ofcom Defined Benefit 
Pension Plan for the year ending 31 March 2006 was £7.8m (2005: £2.2m). This included a special contribution of £4m to cover 
the actuarial deficit in the pension plan. This rate will be reviewed following the next actuarial valuation. Ofcom also operates a 
defined contribution section to the plan and made contributions of £0.1m for the year ending 31 March 2006 (2005: £0.1m); and 

• the Ofcom (Former ITC) Pension Plan which Ofcom jointly participates in with three other organisations, S4C, S4C Masnachol 
and the Advertising Standards Authority. A full actuarial valuation for this plan was carried out as at 1 January 2004 and updated 
to 31 March 2006 by a qualified independent actuary. The employer contribution made to the Ofcom (former ITC) Pension Plan 
for the year ending 31 March 2006 was £1.8m (payable in monthly instalments) (2005: £1.0m).   

The projected unit rate was used to derive the service cost for these plans. Under this method the current service cost will increase (when 
measured as a percentage of salary costs) as the members of the plan approach retirement.   

Assumptions
The major assumptions used by the independent actuary for accounting purposes only are: 

2006 2005
% %

Discount rate 5.0 5.5
Rate of increase in salaries 4.5 4.3
Rate of increase in payment of pre-97 excess over GMP pensions 3.0 2.8
Rate of increase in payment of post-97 excess over GMP pensions  3.0 2.8
Inflation assumption 3.0 2.8

These assumptions have led to Ofcom recording an accounting pension asset in accordance with FRS 17. However, the actuarial 
valuations have shown that the Ofcom Pension Plan is in deficit, and Ofcom makes contributions in accordance with the actuary’s
recommendations to fund the deficit. 

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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Balance sheet 
The assets in the plans and the expected rate of return were: 

Long-term rate of 
return expected at 

31 March 2006 

Value at 
31 March 

2006

Long-term
rate of return 
expected at 

31 March 
2005

Value at 
31 March 

2005
% £’000 % £’000

Corporate bonds 5.0 5,700 5.5 1,800
Index-linked bonds 4.0 153,200 4.5 126,500
Equities 7.5 37,600 7.8 39,200
Property N/A - N/A -
Cash 4.5 1,600 4.5 900
Total market value of assets 198,100 168,400
Present value of plan liability (187,900) (157,800)
Net pension asset 10,200 10,600
Analysis of the amount charged to operating surplus 2006 2005

£’000 £’000

Current service cost 2,420 3,000
Curtailment and settlement (1,100) -
Total operating charge 1,320 3,000

Analysis of the amount credited to other finance income 2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Expected return on pension plans’ assets 8,760 8,390
Interest on pension liabilities (8,550) (8,400)
Net return 210 (10)
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26. Pensions (continued)

Analysis of the amount recognised in the Statement of Total Recognised 
Gains and Losses (STRGL) 

2006 2005

£’000 £’000

Actual return less expected return on plans’ assets 13,660 3,390
Experience (losses)/gains arising on the plans’ liabilities (4,740) 6,430
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of pension scheme liabilities (18,500) -
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in STRGL (9,580) 9,820

Movement in surplus during the year 2006 2005
£’000 £’000

Surplus in plans at 1 April 10,600 20
Total current service cost (2,420) (3,000)
Employer's contributions (including those unpaid at measurement date) 10,290 3,770
Curtailment and settlement gain 1,100 -
Other finance income 210 (10)
Actuarial (loss)/gain (9,580) 9,820
Surplus in plans at 31 March 10,200 10,600

History of experience gains and losses 2006 2005
Difference between the expected and actual return on scheme assets: 

Amount (£’000) 13,660 3,390
Percentage of schemes assets 6.9% 2.0%

Experience (losses)/gains on schemes liabilities: 
Amount (£’000) (4,740) 6,430
Percentage of the present value of the schemes liabilities (2.5%) 4.1%

Total amount recognised in statement of total recognised (losses)/gains: 
Amount (£’000) (9,580) 9,820
Percentage of the present value of the schemes liabilities (5.1%) 6.2%

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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c) Unfunded pension liabilities 
The pension provision is in respect of the unfunded pension liabilities which fall to Ofcom for former Chairmen of the Independent
Television Commission and the Radio Authority and former Director Generals of Telecommunications. The pension provision is unfunded,
with the benefits being paid as they fall due and guaranteed by Ofcom. There is no fund, and therefore no surplus or deficit.  Actuarial
advice has been sought to ensure that the provision is set at a realistic level. 

An actuarial valuation was carried out by Towers Perrin as at 31 March 2006. The same bases and assumptions as noted above in 
respect of the defined benefit schemes.  

Analysis of the amount charged to operating surplus/(deficit) 2006
£’000

Current service cost 12
Total operating charge 12

Analysis of the amount debited to other finance costs 2006
£’000

Interest on pension liabilities (43)
Net return (43)

Analysis of the amount recognised in the Statement of Total Recognised 
Gains and Losses (STRGL) 

2006
£’000

Experience losses arising on the plans’ liabilities (49)
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of pension scheme liabilities (70)
Actuarial loss recognised in STRGL (119)

Movement in deficit during the year 2006
£’000

Deficit in plans at 1 April 794
Total current service cost 12
Employer's contributions (including those unpaid at measurement date) (50)
Employee contributions 3
Other finance costs 43
Actuarial loss 119
Deficit in plans at 31 March 921
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27. Related parties 
Ofcom does not consider that its regulatory and licensing role 
creates the relationship of a related party between itself and 
licence holders as defined by Financial Reporting Standard 8, 
''Related Party Transactions''.   

Members of the Board submit an annual declaration confirming 
that they have no interests prejudicial to their function as a 
Member of Ofcom. There were no purchases or sales 
transactions between Ofcom and its Members. 

The following Board Members also held senior positions within 
legacy organisations: 

Sara Nathan – Member of the Radio Authority until December 
2003.

In addition, Richard Hooper, who was an Ofcom Board Member 
until 31 December 2005  – Chairman of the Radio Authority until 
July 2003. 

The Secretaries of State for the Department of Trade and 
Industry (DTI) and the Department for Culture, Media and Sport 
(DCMS) are regarded as the controlling related parties of 
Ofcom under the terms of the Office of Communications Act 
2002.

Details of the loan funding from the DTI are provided at Notes 
16 to 18 of these financial statements. Details of all grant-in-aid 
income from DTI and DCMS are provided at Note 3 and Note 
14 respectively of these financial statements. 

 At 31 March 2006, the following creditors were held in respect 
of grant-in-aid provided by the DTI: 

• spectrum management –  £24.0m (2005: £9.6m); 

• Spectrum Efficiency Scheme – £2.2m (2005: £0.5m); 

• Programme of spectrum auctions – £1.1m (2005: £nil); and 

• competition law enforcement –  £1.1m (2005: £0.1m). 

Ofcom made payments of £0.4m (2005 £2.9m) to DTI in respect 
of the full employment costs of colleagues seconded by the DTI 
to Ofcom in the year.

28. Financial instruments 
Ofcom has no significant exposure to liquidity, interest rate or 
currency risks.  FRS 13, Derivatives and Other Financial 
Instruments, requires disclosure of the role which financial 
instruments have had during the year in creating or changing 
the risks an entity faces in undertaking its activities.  Because of 
the nature of its activities and the way in which Ofcom is 
financed, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced 
by business entities.   

Moreover, financial instruments play a much more limited role in 
creating or changing risk than would be typical of the listed 
companies to which FRS 13 mainly applies. Ofcom has very 
limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds, all debts carry 
fixed interest rates and financial assets and liabilities that are 
generated by day-to-day operational activities do not change 
the risks facing Ofcom in undertaking its activities. 

There is no material difference at the balance sheet date 
between the fair value and the carrying value of financial assets 
and liabilities. 

As permitted by FRS 13, debtors and creditors which mature or 
become payable within 12 months of the balance sheet date 
have been omitted from this assessment. 

Notes to the Accounts 
for the year ended 31 March 2006
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29. Capital commitments 
At 31 March 2006 there were capital commitments of £1.6m 
(2005: £1.0m). 

30. Receipts transferred to the 
Consolidated Fund 

In accordance with Section 400 of the Communications Act 
2003, Ofcom remitted £115.8m (2005: £265.3m) of 
Broadcasting Act Additional Payments and fines to the 
Consolidated Fund and Treasuries. During the year Ofcom  
received a refund of £52.9m from the Consolidated Fund to 
enable it to make refunds to licensees following revisions of 
their licence terms.

£165.5m (2005: £140.4m) of WT Act licence fees was remitted 
to the Department of Trade and Industry for transfer to the 
Consolidated Fund. Details on amounts due to the Consolidated 
Fund at 31 March 2006 are disclosed at Note 14 to these 
financial statements. 

31. Contingent liabilities 
In April 2004, Ofcom entered into a contract with The 
Telephone Preference Service Ltd whereby the contractor may 
recover from Ofcom any loss if the contract is terminated 
through no fault of the contractor (for example, a change in 
Government policy). The contract does not allow for loss of 
profit compensation and the contractor is under duty to mitigate 
loss once termination notice is given. An amount of £0.5m 
(2005: £0.5m) has been identified as a potential liability. 

Additionally, in November 2004, Ofcom entered into a 10-year 
deed to contract out the regulation of broadcast advertising 
content to the Advertising Standards Authority. In the event of 
early termination of this deed, except where there has been a 
material breach of the deed, Ofcom may be liable for 
termination compensation. At 31 March 2006, Ofcom’s 
contingent liability was £2.5m (2005: £2.9m). 

From time to time, Ofcom will be subject to legal challenge and 
judicial review of decisions made in the normal course of its 
business as regulator of the communications sector. Legal 
judgements could give rise to liabilities for legal costs. Provision 
has been made in these financial statements (see note 19) for 
costs which are quantifiable. However, in some cases costs 
cannot be quantified, because the outcome of proceedings is 
unknown, and there is therefore considerable uncertainty as to 
the nature and extent of any subsequent liability. 

32. Whole of government accounts 
At 31 March 2006, £42.5m (2005: £41.7m) was owed by Ofcom 
to central government bodies. There are no balances with local 
authorities, NHS Trusts or public corporations and trading 
funds.
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